# Stem Cells and Their Niches in Angiogenesis:

## Vascular Endothelial Stem Cells, Hematopoietic Progenitors and Hematopoietic Effector Cells

**Shentong Fang** 

Department of Pathology Haartman Institute Faculty of Medicine & Graduate Program in Molecular Biology and Biotechnology University of Helsinki Finland

#### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of University of Helsinki in Lecture Hall 1, Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, on April 29<sup>th</sup> 2014 at 12 noon

Helsinki 2014

#### **Thesis Supervisor**

Petri Salvén, M.D., Ph.D., Docent Department of Pathology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

#### Thesis follow-up committee

Jorma Keski-Oja, M.D., Ph.D., Professor Translational Cancer Biology, Biomedicum Helsinki Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Pentti Tienari, M.D., Ph.D., Docent Research program for molecular neurology, Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

#### **Reviewers appointed by the Faculty**

Juha Partanen, Ph.D., Professor Department of Biosciences University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Klaus Elenius, M.D., Ph.D., Professor Medical biochemistry and genetics University of Turku Turku, Finland

#### **Opponent appointed by the Faculty**

Michele De Palma, Ph.D., Assistant Professor School of Life Sciences - Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Lausanne (EPFL) The Swiss Institute for Experimental Cancer Research (ISREC) Switzerland

ISBN 978-952-10-9436-1 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-9548-1 (PDF) Printed at UNIGRAFIA OY Yliopistopaino, Helsinki, 2014

To my family and friends

## CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	
ABSTRACT	
中文摘要	11
INTRODUCTION	12
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	13
1. BLOOD VASCULATURE	13
1.1 EMBRYONIC VASCULAR DEVELOPMENT	
1.2 PHYSIOLOGICAL ANGIOGENESIS IN ADULTHOOD	15
1.3 TUMOR ANGIOGENESIS	
2. STEM CELLs/PROGENITORs CONTRIBUTING TO ANGIOGENESIS	17
2.1 ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLs (EPC) AND VASCULAR ENDOTHE	LIAL
STEM CELLs (VESC)	18
2.2 HSCs CONTRIBUTE TO ANGIOGENESIS IN A PARACRINE MANNER	
2.2.1 MYELOID DERIVED SUPPRESSOR CELLs (MDSC)	22
2.2.2 MACROPHAGEs AND DENDRITIC CELLS (DC)	
2.2.3 NEUTROPHILS, EOSINOPHILS AND MAST CELLS	
2.2.4 PLATELETS	
<b>3. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-β (TGF-β) AND ANGIOGENESIS</b>	24
4. ADULT STEM CELLS AND THEIR NICHES	26
4.1 THE HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL NICHE IN THE BONE MARROW	
4.1.1 ENDOSTEAL OSTEOBLASTIC NICHE	27
4.1.2 VASCULAR NICHE	
5. ROLE OF C-KIT IN STEM CELLs	28
5.1 C-KIT AND W LOCI	
5.2 FUNCTION OF C-KIT	
6. TARGETING ANGIOGENESIS IN HUMAN DISEASE	30
6.1 ANGIOPREVENTION IN HUMAN CANCER	
6.2 THERAPEUTIC ANGIOGENESIS IN ISCHEMIC DISEASE	
AIMS OF THE STUDY	32
MATERIALS AND METHODS	33
1. MATERIALS	33
2. METHODS USED IN THIS STUDY	36
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	42

1. IDENTIFICATION OF VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL STEM CELLS ON THE BLOOD	D
VESSEL WALL (I)	<b>2</b>
<b>1.1 RARE ENDOTHELIAL COLONY FORMING CELLS WITH HIGH</b>	
PROLIFERATIVE ABILITY IN VITRO EXIST WITHIN ADULT ECs	12
<b>1.2 CFCs ARE ENRICHED WITHIN C-KIT<sup>+</sup> POPULATION4</b>	13
1.3 EC COLONIEs ARE NOT FORMED BY HEMATOPOIETIC CELLs 4	13
1.4 C-KIT <sup>+</sup> ECs RESIDE ON QUIESCENT AND NEO-ANGIOGENIC VASCULAR	
VESSEL WALL4	4
1.5 C-KIT <sup>+</sup> ECs ENCLOSE VESCs	4
1.5.1 FUNCTIONAL BLOOD VESSELS GENERATED FROM A SINGLE C-KIT	
EXPRESSING CELL IN VIVO	14
1.5.2 IN VIVO SELF-RENEWAL	15
1.5.3 IN VIVO BLOOD VESSEL FORMATION OF C-KIT <sup>+</sup> ECs	ł5
1.6 THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF C-KIT IN ECs 4	16
2. MECHANISMs OF TGF-β IN INDUCING ANGIOGENESIS (II)	ŀ7
2.1 ANGIOGENIC EFFECT OF TGF-β IN VIVO	ŀ7
2.2 ANGIOGENIC HEMATOPOIETIC EFFECTORs IN ANGIOGENESIS (II &III) 4	ŀ7
<b>2.3 TGF-β INDUCED ANGIOGENESIS IS MODULATED VIA VEGF4</b>	ł8
2.4 TGF-β INDUCED HEMATOPOIETIC VEGF SECRETION IS REGULATED BY	
p38 AND p44/p42 MAPK PATHWAYs4	18
<b>2.5 DUAL ACTION MECHANISMs OF TGF-β IN INDUCING ANGIOGENESIS</b> 4	18
3. ECTOPIC HEMATOPOIETIC MICROENVIRONMENT IN TUMORS (III)	-9
3.1 PROLIFERATING HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS IN TUMOR	<b>19</b>
<b>3.2 HEMATOPOIETIC PROGENITORs RESIDE IN THE TUMOR</b>	
MICROENVIRONMENT5	50
3.3 HEMATOPOIETIC MICROENVIRONMENT IN TUMOR	52
3.4 IN VIVO EVACUATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS FROM TUMORS BY	
AMD3100	53
CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTIVES5	55
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	57
REFERENCES	59

## **ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS**

This Thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to by their Roman numerals in the text.

**I.** Fang, S., Wei, J., Pentinmikko, N., Leinonen, H., and Salven, P. (2012). Generation of functional blood vessels from a single c-kit+ adult vascular endothelial stem cell. PLoS Biology 10(10): e1001407. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001407

**II. Fang, S.\*,** Pentinmikko, N.\*, Ilmonen, M., and Salven, P. (2012). Dual action of TGF-beta induces vascular growth in vivo through recruitment of angiogenic VEGF-producing hematopoietic effector cells. Angiogenesis 15, 511-519

**III. Fang S.,** Louhimo R., Pentinmikko N., Leinonen H., Virolainen S., Heikkilä P., Hautaniemi S., and Salven P.. Initiation of an ectopic tumor hematopoietic microenvironment supporting angiogenesis and cancer growth. manuscript

The original publications have been reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

APC	antigen presenting cell
ALK	activin receptor-like kinase
Ang	angiopoietin
AGM	aorta-gonad-mesonephros
BEC	blood endothelial cell
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
BM	bone marrow
BMDC	bone marrow derived cell
BMP	bone morphogenetic protein
BMSEC	bone marrow sinusoidal endothelial cell
CFC	colony forming cell
CFU-EPC	EPC colony-forming units
CCL	cysteine-cysteine chemokine ligand
CSF-1	colony stimulating factor-1
CXCL	cysteine-X- cysteine chemokine ligand
CXCR	CXCL-receptor
DC	dendritic cell
Dll4	delta-like ligand 4
EC	endothelial cell
ECFC	endothelial colony forming cell
ECM	extracellular matrix
EF	ejection fraction
EOC	endothelial outgrowth cell
EPC	endothelial progenitor cell
Eph	ephrin
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HAEC	human aortic endothelial cell
HIF-1a	hypoxia induced factor-1α
HPC	hematopoietic progenitor cell
HPP-ECFC	high proliferative potential endothelial colony forming cell
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
HSPC	hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cell
IL	interleukin
INF-γ	interferon-γ
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinases
LLC	Lewis lung carcinoma
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MDSC	myeloid derived suppressor cell
MMP-9	matrix metalloproteinase -9
MNC	mononuclear cell

MS-1	Mile SVEN 1
MSC	mesenchymal stem cell
NG2	neuron-glial antigen 2
Nrp	neurophilin
OB	osteoblast
PBMNC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PDGF	platelet derived growth factor
PDGFR	platelet derived growth factor receptor
PFS	progression free survival
PIGF	placental growth factor
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PPC	pericyte progenitor cell
Sca-1	stem cell antigen-1
SCF	stem cell factor
SCL-1	stem cell leukemia-1
SDF-1	stromal cell derived factor-1
SMC	smooth muscle cell
SMPC	smooth muscle progenitor cell
Sl	steel
TAM	tumor associated macrophage
TAN	tumor associated neutrophil
TEM	Tie-2 expressing monocytes/macrophages
TF	tissue factor
TGF <b>-</b> β	transforming growth factor-β
Th-1	T helper cell type 1
Tie-2	tyrosine kinase with immunoglobulin and EGF homology domains
TKI	tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-α
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
VESC	vascular endothelial stem cell
VCAM	vascular cell adhesion molecule
VE-cadherin	vascular endothelial cadherin
VPC	vascular progenitor cell
vSMC	vascular smooth muscle cell
vWF	von Willebrand factor
Wt	wild type
β-gal	β-galactosidase

### ABSTRACT

Most tissues possess tissue-specific stem cells that allow them to maintain tissue integrity. Stem cell niches provide an ideal regulatory microenvironment to support the maintenance and proliferation of adult stem cells. However, adult stem cells and stem cell niches have not been identified for all tissues.

Adult stem cells that give rise to the vascular endothelium are still unknown. In this thesis work, we identified a rare population of vascular endothelial stem cells (VESC) on the vascular wall by the phenotype lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup>. A single c-kit expressing VESC with highly proliferative capacity generated functional blood vessels in vivo. A genetic defect in endothelial c-kit resulted in an abolished colony-forming ability of VESCs and impaired tumor angiogenesis and tumor growth.

Angiogenesis, the growth of new blood vessels from pre-existing vessels, is actively involved in many physiological and pathological processes such as wound repair, female reproductive cycling, ischemic disease and tumor development. There are two major groups of cells involved in the adult vascular growth, cells that contribute directly by composing the blood vessels, such as vascular endothelial stem cells, and cells that contribute indirectly in a paracrine manner such as infiltrating hematopoietic cells.

Infiltrating hematopoietic cells from the bone marrow contribute to angiogenesis in a paracrine manner by secreting angiogenic factors or by remodeling the extracellular matrix. In this thesis work, we found that transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) recruited a massive amount of hematopoietic cells to local microenvironment. TGF-B stimulated vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression on these hematopoietic effectors and thus induced vascular growth. This stimulation was regulated by p38 and p44/p42 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathways. These results together provided evidence for a dual action mechanism for TGF-β-induced angiogenesis in vivo. In malignant tumors, we found that the tumor expressed osteoblastic and vascular hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) niche molecules and enclosed multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. The proliferating hematopoietic progenitors generated hematopoietic effector cells and supported angiogenesis and tumor growth by secreting matrix metalloprotease 9 (MMP-9) and VEGF. HSPCs were found to be in proximity to tumor vasculature. Tumor microenvironment shared features of HSC niche in the bone marrow. Therapeutic ablation of hematopoietic cells including proliferating hematopoietic cells from tumor using AMD3100 in vivo resulted in inhibited tumor angiogenesis and growth.

In conclusion, we identified and characterized a rare population of c-kit expressing VESCs that give rise to the vascular endothelium in adult. Further purification and detailed characterization of VESCs will provide a better understanding of VESCs and hierarchy of endothelial lineage. Our observations on the in vivo angiogenesis induced by TGF- $\beta$  elucidated the mechanisms of action of TGF- $\beta$  in promoting vascular growth. Together with current findings on the ectopic tumor–hematopoietic microenvironment, the proliferating hematopoietic progenitors and angiogenic hematopoietic effector cells, these results provided potential therapeutic targets to treat cancer and other diseases.

## 中文摘要

在哺乳动物的成体组织中,成体干细胞利用自我更新和其分化能力修复再生身体各组织器 官,从而使组织和器官维持生长和老化衰退的动态平衡。成体干细胞,如上皮干细胞和造血干 细胞,通常位于一个特定的微环境中。这样的干细胞微环境与干细胞相互作用,控制监管并支 持着干细胞的更新,分化和增殖。研究人员已经在多种组织和气管内发现成体干细胞及微环境, 但是还存在一些未知的成体干细胞。

例如,在血管组织中,负责再生血管细胞的成体干细胞仍旧未被研究人员有所定论。在这 篇论文中的工作,我们已经发现在血管壁上表型为lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup>的血管内皮细胞 中有及其少量的血管内皮干细胞(VESC)存在。c-kit<sup>+</sup>血管内皮干细胞的具有高度增殖能力,并且 能在体内生成功能性血管。同时通过研究c-kit在内皮细胞中的功能,我们发现,c-kit的遗传缺 陷可以导致血管内皮干细胞的细胞集落形成能力大大的减弱,并且抑制了肿瘤生长和肿瘤血管 的新生。

血管新生时从已有血管发芽生成新血管的过程。 在成体内,血管新生积极参与了许多生理 和病理过程,如创面修复,女性生殖循环,缺血性疾病和肿瘤的发展。参与血管新生的细胞可 以主要分为两类,一类是直接构成的血管的细胞,如血管内皮干细胞;另一个类是以旁分泌的 方式促进血管新生的细胞,如造血细胞。骨髓造血细胞通过分泌血管生成因子或细胞外基质重 塑以旁分泌的方式参与成体中的血管新生。在本论文工作中,我们发现,转化生长因子-β(TGF -β)吸引了大量的造血效应细胞来到局部微环境中。这些组织浸润的造血效应细胞通过p38和 p44/p42丝裂原活化蛋白激酶(MAPK)信号转导通路分泌血管内皮生长因子(VEGF)从而诱导血管 生长。我们的研究结果阐明了TGF-β在体内诱导血管生成的双重作用机制。而在恶性肿瘤中, 我们发现肿瘤组织不仅表达用于鉴别造血干细胞所处微环境的蛋白分子同时包含了造血干细胞 以及前体细胞。这些肿瘤组织中造血干细胞增殖产生的造血效应细胞通过分泌MMP-9和血管内 皮生长因子促进血管生成和肿瘤生长。我们进一步发现,当肿瘤组织中的造血干细胞被 AMD3100驱除后,肿瘤血管生成和肿瘤生长都受到抑制。

## INTRODUCTION

Vascular development and maintenance are fundamental for life. In adulthood, angiogenesis is transiently switched on in some physiological events, such as female reproductive process, and pathological situations, such as tumorigenesis. Various tissuespecific stem cells and progenitors are actively participating in angiogenesis to generate daughter cells or secrete various angiogenic related factors. There are two major categories of stem cells/progenitors involved in angiogenesis. One category of cells is stem cells and progenitors that generate daughter cells that compose the blood vessels, such as endothelial cells and vascular mural cells. The endothelial lineage hierarchy in adult was previously dominated by studies on circulating endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) (Asahara et al., 1997). Recent studies have provided solid evidence on the existence of resident stem cells on the vascular wall (Goligorsky and Salven, 2013; Purhonen et al., 2008; Rinkevich et al., 2011). However, the identity of the resident vascular endothelial stem cells is still not known. The other category is stem cells and progenitors that generate progeny and participate in angiogenesis indirectly, such as hematopoietic progenitors. Hematopoietic cells contribute to angiogenesis mostly in a paracrine manner (Fang and Salven, 2011; Murdoch et al., 2008).

The emphasis of the current work was to identify the cellular origin of endothelial cells that directly contribute to the newly formed blood vessels in adult and further understand the role of hematopoietic effector cells in angiogenesis. We identified a rare population of VESCs within the c-kit expressing ECs on the vascular wall. The c-kit expressing VESCs were capable of generating millions of daughter cells and undergoing a clonal expansion in vitro. In vivo, VESCs were able to form functional blood vessels and self-renewal. Next, we characterized how the hematopoietic effector cells supported angiogenesis. We elucidated the dual action mechanisms of TGF- $\beta$  in promoting angiogenesis by recruiting hematopoietic cells and inducing them secreting VEGF. On the other hand, malignant tumors initiated an ectopic hematopoietic microenvironment to support proliferating hematopoietic progenitors by generating hematopoietic cells and induce them to secrete VEGF and MMP-9.

## **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### **1. BLOOD VASCULATURE**

The blood vascular system in vertebrates is a closed circulatory network of blood vessels to transport oxygen, carbon dioxide, nutrients and metabolic waste. Blood endothelial cells (BEC) line to form a monolayer on the luminal surface of blood vessels. Tight conjunctions and adherens junctions connect adjacent BECs with each other. BECs have heterogeneous phenotypes and molecular signatures (Aird, 2007a, b; Nolan et al., 2013). There are different gene expression patterns in arterial and venous ECs. For instance, the arterial ECs are preferably expressing ephrin (Eph) B4 whereas EphB2 is highly expressed on venous ECs (reviewed in Swift and Weinstein, 2009). Furthermore, ECs also obtain functional, structural and morphological differences, even organ specific phenotypes (Aird, 2007a, b; Nolan et al., 2013). Structurally, ECs can be categorized into three types, continuous non-fenestrated, continuous fenestrated and discontinuous ECs. In endocrine organs, the vascular endothelium is more fenestrated, while in the bone the vascular endothelium is discontinuous and in the brain and lung it is more non-fenestrated (reviewed in Aird, 2012).

#### 1.1 EMBRYONIC VASCULAR DEVELOPMENT

Both vascular development and its maintenance are very important for life. The cardiovascular system is the primary organ to develop during embryonic development in mammals. Any major defects or disruptions in the vascular development during embryogenesis will lead to embryonic lethality (Adamo and García-Cardeña, 2012; Risau and Flamme, 1995). The yolk sac is the first site of hematopoiesis and blood vessel formation in embryonic development. Vasculogenesis is referred to as a process of the vascular growth from de novo endothelial cells differentiated from precursor cells (Fig. 1A). Hemangioblasts are the precursors of hematopoietic stem cells and angioblasts (Adamo and García-Cardeña, 2012; Auerbach et al., 1997). Angioblasts are a population of endothelial progenitor cells capable of differentiating into endothelial cells in the embryo. In the embryo and yolk sac of mammals, angioblasts are recruited to the site and differentiate to form a primitive vascular labyrinth (reviewed in Risau and Flamme, 1995; Swift and Weinstein, 2009).

Hematopoiesis is tightly associated to vascular development in embryogenesis (Dieterlen-Lievre, 1975). There are two waves of hematopoiesis during development, primitive hematopoiesis and definitive hematopoiesis (reviewed in Orkin and Zon, 2008). The primitive hematopoiesis produces primarily red blood cells in yolk sac, followed by definitive hematopoiesis. Hematopoietic progenitors are first found to be located in the developing aorta in aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region (Godin et al., 1993; Medvinsky et al., 1993). In addition to their spatial association, angioblasts and hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) are considered to originate from hemangioblasts or hemogenic endothelium. VEGFR-2<sup>+</sup> cells first emerged from mesodermal precursors is thought to represent hemangioblasts (Adamo and García-Cardeña, 2012). VEGFR-2 is indispensable for both vascular development and hematopoiesis in embryo. VEGFR-2 knock-out mouse has defects in both hematopoiesis and vascular development (Shalaby et al., 1995). Besides VEGFR-2, ECs and HSCs also share certain other antigenic determinants, such as Tie-2 and CD34 (Adamo and García-Cardeña, 2012). However,

contradictory evidence on hemangioblasts is later provided by clonal analysis in vivo in mice where the investigators show that the contribution of single hemangioblast to both hematopoietic and endothelial lineages is infrequent (Ueno and Weissman, 2006).

The developing vessels during embryonic development are also heterogeneous. In the umbilical arteries, hematopoietic cells are found to be co-localized with endothelial cells whereas umbilical veins do not have hematopoietic potential (Inman and Downs, 2007). A possible hierarchy may exist during definitive hematopoiesis. Studies have shown that during development there are two distinct endothelial lineage, hemogenic and non-hemogenic (Adamo and García-Cardeña, 2012). During definitive hematopoiesis, hemogenic endothelium generates hematopoietic cells. Zovein et al. (2008) have shown that VE-cadherin<sup>+</sup> progenitors from the endothelial cells to produce hematopoietic progeny is Runx1 dependent (Lancrin et al., 2009). Furthermore, recent studies using time-lapse confocal imaging have shown that aortic hemogenic endothelial cells generate de novo HSCs in vivo in zebrafish embryos and mouse aorta explants (Bertrand et al., 2010; Boisset et al., 2010; Kissa and Herbomel, 2010).



**Fig. 1: Vascular blood vessel growth.** (A) Vasculogenesis: vascular network is formed by de novo ECs differentiated from angioblasts. (B) Sprouting angiogenesis: blood vessels sprout from pre-existing vasculature. ECs are specialized into tip cells and stalk cells. Tip ECs sprout out towards growth factors to guide the stalk cells. (C) Arteriogenesis: the nascent vasculature develops distinct morphological identities as arteries, veins and capillaries during vascular development (adapted from Leite de Oliveira et al., 2011).

Subsequently, the new blood vessels sprout from the pre-existing vasculature and form the vascular networks. This sprouting process is termed as angiogenesis (Fig. 1B). The formed primary vascular plexus remodels during development and becomes a mature vasculature under the different pressure of blood circulation (Adams and Alitalo, 2007; Jain, 2003; Torres-Vazquez et al., 2003). Mural cells- pericytes and smooth muscle cells (SMC), as well as the basement membrane, wrap around the nascent EC tubes so that the vessels become mature and stabilize. Vascular mural cells provide physical support to the EC tubes and confer signals from microenvironment to the endothelium. The blood vessels adopt three distinct morphologically distinct identities as arteries, veins and capillaries during vascular development (Fig. 1C) (Adams and Alitalo, 2007; Jain, 2003; Torres-Vazquez et al., 2003). Commonly, vascular SMCs (vSMC) cover larger vessels and arteries while pericytes tend to appear on smaller vessels. Additionally, vSMCs and pericytes are sparser on capillaries than larger vessels (reviewed in Armulik et al., 2005; von Tell et al., 2006). Later on, the vasculature further remodels to meet the requirements of the developing organs by angiogenic sprouting, intussusception, splitting and enlargement (reviewed in Djonov et al., 2000).

The growth of the vascular network, including cell differentiation, proliferation and migration, is tightly coordinated via various signaling pathways (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011; Heinke et al., 2012; Park et al., 2013). VEGF signaling pathway plays a pivotal role in regulating vascular development (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011; Heinke et al., 2012). VEGF-A is one of the most prominent proteins in the VEGF family including VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and PIGF. VEGF-A is the first growth factor that shows an endothelial specific effect (Keck et al., 1989; Leung et al., 1989). Haplodeficiency of VEGF in mice results in embryonic lethality with severe vascular defects (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996). Furthermore, the balance among different VEGF-A isoforms can regulate vascular growth and remodeling (reviewed in Ferrara et al., 2003; Ladomery et al., 2007). For instance, specific knockouts of VEGF<sub>164</sub> and VEGF<sub>188</sub>, isoforms of VEGF, lead to impaired myocardial angiogenesis and decreased vascular density in other organs (Carmeliet and Collen, 1999; Carmeliet et al., 1999). Peripheral nerve-derived VEGF-A in mouse embryonic skin promotes arterial differentiation (Mukouyama et al., 2005). VEGFs bind to three major receptors, VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3. VEGFR-2 is the chief receptor for VEGF-A. In the yolk sac, the expression of VEGFR-2 indicates the developing endothelial lineage in vasculogenesis (Rossant and Howard, 2002; Yamaguchi et al., 1993). VEGFR-2 expression is down regulated in mature blood vessels whereas elevated in adult angiogenesis (Goede et al., 1998; Hanahan and Folkman, 1996). VEGFR-1, a VEGF receptor that binds to VEGF-A and VEGF-B, is specifically expressed on developing vessels (Dumont et al., 1995). Neurophilins (Nrp) are another group of important receptors that bind to VEGF. There are two neuropilins, Nrp1 and Nrp2. Nrp2 is specifically expressed on veins and lymphatic vessels while arterial ECs express Nrp1 (Gu et al., 2003; Yuan et al., 2002). Double knock-outs of Np1 and Np2 in mice cause embryonic lethality and the mutant embryos are avascular (Takashima et al., 2002).

Angiopoietin (Ang) /Tie axis is another key pathway in vascular remodeling during development. Tie-2 mutant embryos are lethal due to major defects in vascular remodeling. Ang/Tie signaling pathway mediates EC cell survival, sprouting, EC/ECM interaction and EC chemotaxis (reviewed in Loughna and Sato, 2001).

Many other signaling pathways, such as Notch and TGF- $\beta$ , also regulate vascular development in the embryo. Mutations in molecules in TGF- $\beta$  pathway in mice result in embryonic lethality caused by severe vascular defects (reviewed in Dunker and Krieglstein, 2000). Endoglin, a type III receptor expressed by ECs, reduces the activation of TGF- $\beta$  signal (Barbara et al., 1999; Letamendía et al., 1998). Studies have also found that knockout mice lacking Notch pathway molecules, such as Notch 1, Notch 4 and Delta-like ligand 4 (Dll4), result in embryonic death with major vascular defects (reviewed in Rossant and Howard, 2002).

#### **1.2 PHYSIOLOGICAL ANGIOGENESIS IN ADULTHOOD**

The vasculature in adult is mostly quiescent. Endothelial cell proliferation in adulthood holds at a very low rate. The cellular turnover of all ECs takes years (Engerman et al., 1967; Hobson and Denekamp, 1984). In a healthy adult, new blood vessels are seldom formed, except in some physiological processes such as female reproductive process and wound healing when the angiogenic stimuli are switched on. Angiogenesis is initiated by a low oxygen microenvironment (Fraisl et al., 2009). Similar to the vascular growth during

embryonic development, VEGF is also important in adult angiogenesis. Under hypoxic conditions, the hypoxia inducible factor- $1\alpha$  (HIF- $1\alpha$ ) is activated and then induces the expression of VEGF which subsequently promotes the vascular growth (Stone et al., 1995). The mechanisms of angiogenesis can be generally divided into two categories, sprouting angiogenesis and non-sprouting angiogenesis (Adams and Alitalo, 2007).

Since 2003, the molecular mechanisms on the formation of new vascular sprouts have been elucidated and extensively studied. Gerhardt et al. (2003) first showed that VEGF gradients induced by hypoxia enroll ECs in a mode called sprouting angiogenesis. ECs in the angiogenic sprouts are specified into two different types, tip cells and stalk cells (Gerhardt et al., 2003). The tip cells lead the growing sprout during angiogenic growth. This selection of ECs is strictly regulated, as an indiscriminate reaction of all ECs in the vessels would cause defects and disintegrated vascular network. Dll4 is expressed in the tip cells. The balance of EC specialization between tip cells and the stalk cells is controlled primarily by Dll4/Notch signaling pathway and is influenced by the gradient level of angiogenic factors, especially VEGF, in the environment (Bentley et al., 2008; Carlier et al., 2012; Carmeliet et al., 2009; De Smet et al., 2009; Gerhardt et al., 2003). VEGF-A could induce Dll4 expression in ECs, whereas VEGFR-2 expression is suppressed by activation of Notch signaling (Williams et al., 2006). Disruptions in Notch signaling lead to increased vascular sprouts and more tip cells (Hellstrom et al., 2007; Stenzel et al., 2011).

During angiogenic sprouting, the basement membrane degrades and pericytes detach from the vascular tube to allow the proliferation and migration of ECs (Adams and Alitalo, 2007). From the observations of angiogenic sprouting in aortic ring culture model, the first cells migrating towards the angiogenic stimuli are fibroblasts and adventitial macrophages (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> and CD68<sup>+</sup> macrophages) (Nicosia, 2009). Adventitial macrophages provide paracrine stimulations for ECs, and fibroblasts direct the vascular sprouts via mechanical forces (Nicosia, 2009). The tip cells follow the migrating fibroblasts and adventitial macrophages, and extend more filopodia towards the angiogenic signals. VEGF<sub>164</sub>, an isoform of mouse VEGF-A, functions as a chemoattractive signal and promotes the polarized extension of tip cell filopodia. In addition to VEGF-A, plateletderived growth factor B (PDGFB) is another important angiogenic gradient during angiogenic sprouting. Pericytes express the receptor for PDGFB. High levels of PDGFB in the growing sprouts induce the recruitment of pericytes and thus stabilize the growing vessels. Further steps of sprouting angiogenesis involve the migration, proliferation and elongation of ECs and establishment of a vascular lumen (Bentley et al., 2008; Bentley et al., 2009; Blanco and Gerhardt, 2013; Gerhardt et al., 2003). The stalk ECs in the base are very proliferative while the tip cells are quiescent (Gelati et al., 2008; Nicosia, 2009; Nicosia et al., 2011).

Intussusception, a non-sprouting angiogenesis process, is another distinct mode of vascular formation and remodeling (Fig. 2A). In intussusceptive angiogenesis, new blood vessels are formed by transcapillary pillars which allow a rapid expansion and increasing in the capillary plexus (Djonov et al., 2000). Different from ECs in sprouting angiogenesis, ECs in intussusceptive angiogenesis undergo an extensive morphological remodeling instead of proliferation (Burri et al., 2004). The molecular mechanisms on intussusceptive angiogenesis are not clear. VEGF is a potential modulator of intussusceptive vascular growth (Hagedorn et al., 2004).

A. Intussusceptive angiogenesis



**Fig. 2** (A) Intussusceptive angiogenesis: a non-sprouting angiogenesis process in which ECs undergo extensive remodeling and form transcapillary pillars. (B) Looping angiogenesis: a vascular growth process during the wound healing where pre-existing vessels translocate into the wound area and form loops (adapted from Leite de Oliveira et al., 2011).

More recently, another distinct mechanism of vascular growth called looping angiogenesis (Fig. 2B) was proposed (Kilarski et al., 2009). This proposed strategy for vascular growth describes the vascular growth in wound healing. Activated fibroblasts or myofibroblasts mediate the translocation of pre-existing vessels into the wound area as vascular loops (Kilarski et al., 2009).

#### **1.3 TUMOR ANGIOGENESIS**

Tumor vasculature has an abnormal structure and function compared to normal healthy blood vessel networks (reviewed in Jain, 2005a; Potente et al., 2011). The tumor blood vessels often lack proper coverage and support from vascular mural cells, resulting in abnormal permeability, disorganized vascular network and defective maturation (reviewed in Armulik et al., 2005). These common abnormal characteristics of the vasculature are often due to defective vascular remodeling. The vascular abnormality leads to insufficient oxygen and nutrients supply, and subsequently the onset of tumor hypoxia (De Bock et al., 2009; Jain, 2005b). Furthermore, tumor-associated ECs have also been found to contain frequent chromosomal abnormalities (Akino et al., 2009).

Tumor angiogenesis is important for tumor growth since the tumor vasculature supports the tumor with oxygen and nutrients (reviewed in Folkman, 1997a, b). The growth of vessels in tumor has emerged as a hallmark of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000, 2011). The tumor microenvironment is composed of a heterogeneous population of cells that together modulate angiogenesis. Once emerging from dormancy, tumor cells exploit their microenvironment by secreting various factors to activate stromal cells and expand. When tumor reaches certain size, the tumor microenvironment suffers from hypoxia and nutrient deprivation. As a consequence, tumor angiogenesis is switched on by various pro-angiogenic factors in order to obtain sufficient blood supply, oxygen and nutrients for growth (Weis and Cheresh, 2011).

#### 2. STEM CELLs/PROGENITORs CONTRIBUTING TO ANGIOGENESIS

Self-renewal, differentiation and homeostatic maintenance are three key characteristics of stem cells. In the stem cell hierarchy, stem cells generate progenitor cells with transient proliferative abilities to produce daughter cells, and progenitor cells are gradually more lineage restricted. Progenitors, unlike stem cells, do not have the capacity of self-renewal. Adult stem cells are fundamental to tissue maintenance and regeneration in adult. Most adult tissues in mammals contain resident stem cells or tissue specific stem cells which allow adult tissues to undergo tissue regenerations or maintenance (Li and Xie, 2005). Hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow, mesenchymal stem cells, and epithelial stem cells in skin and intestine are the most studied adult tissue stem cells (reviewed in Li and Xie, 2005). However, adult stem cells and stem cell niches have not been identified for all tissues.

There are two major categories of cells implicated in angiogenesis: (1.) cells that contribute directly by generating vascular daughter cells, such as vascular smooth muscle cell progenitors, pericyte progenitors and potential vascular endothelial stem cells, (2.) cells that contribute indirectly by acting mostly as modulators (Fig. 3). The role of bone marrow derived cells (BMDC) in angiogenesis has been extensively studied (reviewed in Murdoch et al., 2008). Abundant evidence have been shown that bone marrow derived cells contribute to angiogenesis mostly by secreting angiogenic factors (reviewed in Fang and Salven, 2011).



**Fig. 3: Stem cells and their daughter cells that participate in angiogenesis.** Various tissue infiltrating hematopoietic cells derived from BM are involved in angiogenesis in a paracrine manner. Furthermore, tissue resident stem cells may have a direct contribution to the de novo endothelium by generating endothelial daughter cells (TEM: Tie-2 expressing monocyte; TAM: tumor associated macrophage; MDSC: myeloid derived suppressor cell; DC: dendritic cell) (edited from Fang and Salven, 2011).

#### 2.1 ENDOTHELIAL PROGENITOR CELLS (EPC) AND VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL STEM CELLS (VESC)

The angiogenic sprouting of fully differentiated ECs from pre-existing vessels is not the only mechanism contribute to adult physiological and pathological vascular growth. Similar to vasculogenesis in embryonic development, endothelial progenitor cells were found to contribute to the adult vascular growth and participate in angiogenesis (Asahara et al., 1997). This is the first evidence of progenitors on the endothelial cell hierarchy in adult. The recruitment of EPCs to growing endothelial sprouts may combine vasculogenic and angiogenic mechanisms (Adams and Alitalo, 2007). The paradigm of endothelial stem cells and progenitors in adult was previously dominated by studies on circulating BM-derived EPCs (Asahara et al., 1997). Recent studies have provided solid evidence on the existence of resident stem cells on the vascular wall (Goligorsky and Salven, 2013; Purhonen et al., 2008; Rinkevich et al., 2011).

Asahara et al. (1997) first described a population of putative EPCs from human peripheral blood using CD34, an antigen expressed by HSCs and human endothelial cells. These circulating progenitors express CD45, the leukocyte common antigen. This piece of finding has indicated that putative EPCs are originated from the BM (Asahara et al., 1997). It is further shown by Peichev et al. (2000) that AC133<sup>+</sup>VEGFR-2<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic cells have the ability to differentiate into mature ECs which are AC133<sup>-</sup> and VEGFR-2<sup>+</sup> in vitro. The EPC hypothesis is then further investigated by others (Garcia-Barros et al., 2003; Hur et al., 2004). In 2004, two different EPC populations, early outgrowth EPCs (CFU-EPC) and late outgrowth endothelial cells (EOC), have been described by Hur et al. (2004).

It has been found that peripheral EPCs are derived from circulating monocytes (Rehman et al., 2003). Later, Rohde et al. (2006) have found that circulating monocytes mimic vascular ECs by sharing vascular endothelial surface markers. More importantly, in in vitro models, blood mononuclear cells (MNC) are also capable to generate both types of EPCs, CFU-EPCs and EOCs (Ingram et al., 2005). Yoder and Colleagues later have analyzed the morphology of the two types of EPCs and surface antigen expressions on CFU-EPCs and EOCs in detail. Yoder et al. (2007) have pointed out that CFU-EPCs are hematopoietic derived monocyte/macrophage cell colonies. Accordingly, Rohde et al. (2007; 2006) have also shown that CFU-EPCs possess hematopoietic cell characteristics. Later, Case et al. (2007) have studied the functional properties of isolated circulating CD34<sup>+</sup>VEGFR-2<sup>+</sup>AC133<sup>+</sup> cells. Negative late outgrowth endothelial cell colony forming ability and an enriched hematopoietic progenitor activity have been observed from the isolated circulating CD34<sup>+</sup>VEGFR-2<sup>+</sup>AC133<sup>+</sup> cells (Case et al., 2007). Desai et al. (2009) have analyzed CFU-EPCs using microarray and have found that CFU-EPCs possess a predominant gene expression of T lymphocytes rather than endothelial cells. Various secretory factors are identified from CFU-EPCs, including many proangiogenic factors such as interleukin-8 (IL-8), MMP-9, thymidine phosphorylase (TP) and cathepsins (Pula et al., 2009). Most importantly, although these generated spindle shaped cells in the CFU-EPCs display endothelial lineage features in vitro, such as endothelial antigen expression and endothelial nitric oxide production, they do not form blood vessels in vivo which is an functional evaluation of the endothelial lineage (Yoder et al., 2007). Yoder et al. (2007) have also stated that CFU-Hill or CFU-EPC assays, which are modified from Asahara et al. (1997), do not truly evaluate the cellular potential of giving rise to endothelial lineage. Taken together, the CFU-EPCs described earlier are pro-angiogenic hematopoietic cells (Pula et al., 2009; Rehman et al., 2003). The CFU-EPCs are more likely to participate in neo-vessel formation in a paracrine manner but not incorporate into vessel lumens (Goligorsky and Salven, 2013; Richardson and Yoder, 2011).

Endothelial outgrowth cell colonies are formed later in culture from adherent cells. These later outgrowth cells, called EOCs or endothelial colony forming cells (ECFC), are considered clearly as endothelial cells with endothelial characteristics and vessel forming ability (Yoder et al., 2007). Ingram et al. (2004) have developed a novel method to enumerate ECFCs where they have found ECFCs with high proliferative potential (HPP-ECFC) in human umbilical cord blood. Yoder et al. (2007) have reported that ECFCs from

human umbilical cord blood have a clonogenic expansion ability and display a proliferative hierarchy. Further, the generated ECFCs form chimeric blood vessels in immunocompromised mice (Yoder et al., 2007). Interestingly, Lin et al. (2000) have isolated mononuclear cells from patients who received an sex-mismatched bone marrow transplantation and have found that the endothelial cell colonies that appeared early are host-derived with limited proliferative potential while high proliferative endothelial colonies emerge later and are of donor origin. However, the origin of the EOCs remained to be further studied.

Various in vivo models have been set up to study the angiogenic processes, such as the corneal micropocket, subcutaneous sponge/matrix microbead, subcutaneous Matrigel plug, injuries and various tumor angiogenesis models (Norrby, 2006). Many studies to date have used these models to test whether EPCs have the capacity to home to the injury site, incorporate into pre-existing vessels or form new blood vessels. The ability of in vivo new vessel formation is one of the most important characteristics in defining endothelial progenitors.

Meanwhile, endothelial lineage specific genetic markers combined with bone marrow transplantation or parabiosis are used in order to trace cells of origin in angiogenesis. More importantly, it is now possible to use an EC-specific promoter, such as VE-cadherin-Cre/Rosa26R, to drive gene expression in an endothelium restricted manner. These methods have enabled cellular fate mapping and tracking in a time and spatially controlled way in the vasculature (Eklund et al., 2013).

For instance, Tie-2 is a receptor tyrosine kinase expressed by both endothelial cells and hematopoietic cells (Hamaguchi et al., 1999). In 2003, De Palma and colleagues have performed Tie2p/e-GFP tagged bone marrow transplantation to mice. Numerous Tie-2<sup>+</sup> monocytes (TEM) are recruited in the tumor perivascular area. They hasn't observed any incorporation of bone marrow derived cells into the blood vessel wall in all three tumor models including LLC, B16 melanoma and mammary carcinoma (De Palma et al., 2003). Later, Gothert et al. (2004) have used a transgenic mouse with a tamoxifen-inducible reporter system driven by stem cell leukemia-1 (SCL-1) endothelial enhancer to study the contribution of BMDCs in tumor angiogenesis. No bone marrow derived cells have been found in the newly formed blood vessels (Gothert et al., 2004). Purhonen et al. (2008) also have further studied the question whether BM-derived EPCs is able to incorporate into newly-formed blood vessels in various models including adenoviral VEGF induced angiogenesis, subcutaneous Matrigel plugs, subcutaneous B16 melanomas and APCmin adenomas. To trace the bone marrow derived cells, a non-pathological model of parabiosis which connects the circulation of transgenic mice expressing GFP with wild type mice has been used in the study, as well as the bone marrow reconstitution using transgenic mice expressing GFP or DsRed (Purhonen et al., 2008). Various time points, from one day to six months, have been studied. However, BM-derived ECs have not been identified on the vascular wall (Purhonen et al., 2008). On the other hand, using a parabiosis model, Kim et al. (2009) have shown that CD31<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> monocytes, instead of circulating EPCs, contribute to angiogenesis upon an ischemic recruitment, which are probably first recruited to the angiogenic site to guide the vascular growth. Besides these tumor angiogenic models or neo-angiogenic models, the possible incorporation of BM-EPCs in compensatory lung growth or unilateral femoral artery occlusion models has also been investigated (Voswinckel et al., 2003; Ziegelhoeffer et al., 2004). BM-derived EPCs do not incorporate into the vasculature in either model (Voswinckel et al., 2003;

Ziegelhoeffer et al., 2004). Over the time, using different angiogenic models, time points and detection methods, various researchers have shown an undetectable or negative incorporation of BM-derived cells to blood vascular wall (Ahn and Brown, 2008; Beck et al., 2003; De Palma et al., 2005; De Palma et al., 2003; Dudley et al., 2010; Gothert et al., 2004; Hagensen et al., 2010; Machein et al., 2003; Okuno et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2009; Purhonen et al., 2008; Rajantie et al., 2004; Shinde Patil et al., 2005; Voswinckel et al., 2003; Wickersheim et al., 2009; Ziegelhoeffer et al., 2004).

Collectively, Richardson and Yoder have suggested that the terms already existent for each cell subsets should be used in referring to the circulating cells in angiogenesis and the term of EPC should retire (Richardson and Yoder, 2011).

Although rare circulating endothelial progenitor cells may exist (Bertolini et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2000), they most likely derive from resident blood vessels. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), umbilical cord blood derived EPCs and human aortic endothelial cells (HAEC) are all differentiated ECs derived from vessel wall and are able to be passaged for over 40 population doublings (Bompais et al., 2004; Dernbach et al., 2004; Ingram et al., 2005; Schniedermann et al., 2010). Very interestingly, Ingram et al. (2005) have identified a subset of cultured vessel wall derived ECs with highly proliferative ability and in vivo vessel formation capacity. More recently, Weissman's group has used fate mapping and clonal analysis methods to study tissue of origin that is involved digit tip regeneration (Rinkevich et al., 2011). Rinkevich et al. (2011) have shown that circulating progenitors do not contribute to the vessel wall in digit tip regeneration. From their results, they have concluded that it is local non-circulating tissue resident cells that are responsible for generating new BECs for adult vascular growth.

These accumulating findings hint for a possible existence of tissue resident VESCs that respond to angiogenic stimulus and are capable of generating endothelial cells during vascular growth in adults (Fang and Salven, 2011). New findings have now shifted the paradigm in endothelial cell hierarchy to local stem and progenitor cells (Goligorsky and Salven, 2013; Purhonen et al., 2008; Rinkevich et al., 2011). However, the identification of local stem cells for endothelium is still unknown.

Over the years, much effort has also been endeavored to identify and characterize the cellular origin of ECs using cell surface markers. Identifying EPCs/VESCs from mature ECs or other progenitors based solely on surface antigen expression is challenging because many cell types share the same surface antigens. Originally, Asahara et al. (1997) have postulated the usage of available known antigens expressed on angioblasts and HSCs to identify putative EPCs. On the hunt for the surface marker identities of putative endothelial progenitors, flow cytometry is a very useful and indispensable tool. Cell surface markers that identify stem/progenitor cells and endothelial progenitors from cell sources for further functional analyses (Barber and Iruela-Arispe, 2006). However, this may still include side populations that do not directly contribute to the adult vascular growth. With the limitation of cell surface marker characterization, genetic fate mapping and other lineage tracking techniques are needed for the identification of VESCs (Barber and Iruela-Arispe, 2006). It is very important to demonstrate the putative VESCs have the ability to give rise to mature functional ECs both in vitro and in vivo.

#### 2.2 HSCs CONTRIBUTE TO ANGIOGENESIS IN A PARACRINE MANNER

Pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) are the cellular progenitor pool of all lineages of blood cells. HSCs give rise to myeloid cells and lymphoid cells through lineage-restricted differentiation. Compelling data have shown that bone marrow derived cells are recruited to the local environment and play important roles in local angiogenesis process (Fig. 3).

Studies have supported that BMDCs presumably function as angiogenic effector cells in angiogenesis. BMDCs promote angiogenesis mostly by expressing various cytokines. Currently, TEMs, mast cells, and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) have been extensively studied on their roles in angiogenesis (reviewed in Fang and Salven, 2011; Jain and Duda, 2003; Murdoch et al., 2008).

#### 2.2.1 MYELOID DERIVED SUPPRESSOR CELLs (MDSC)

MDSCs are one heterogeneous cell population, including myeloid precursors and immature myeloid cells, regulating immune response and angiogenesis. These immature myeloid cells from the bone marrow are progenitors of neutrophils, monocytes, granulocytes and dendritic cells (DC). Their activation and proliferation are influenced by factors produced by cells in the microenvironment. MDSCs are characterized by the expression of CD11b, widely expressed by myeloid lineage, and Gr1, markers for neutrophils. In mouse, MDSCs are termed as CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr1<sup>+</sup> cells and are broadly separated into 2 groups which are CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr1<sup>+high</sup> and CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr1<sup>+how</sup> respectively (Yang et al., 2004). MDSCs secrete proangiogenic factors, such as VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), protease such as MMP-9, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and IL-8, and accelerate vessel remodeling (Boelte et al., 2011; Ferrara, 2010; Finke et al., 2011; Fridlender et al., 2012; Guedez et al., 2012).

#### 2.2.2 MACROPHAGEs AND DENDRITIC CELLs (DC)

Infiltrating macrophages are heterogeneous and are able to polarize into two different activation states upon recruitment, M1 and M2 macrophages. M1 macrophages are proinflammatory and promote T-helper 1 (Th1) activation by IFN- $\gamma$ . They are protectors to defend the host from infections and tumors by activating immune responses. M2 macrophages, on the contrary, exhibit an immunosuppressive phenotype and induce T cell destruction (Orlikowsky et al., 1999). Tumor associated macrophages (TAM) have been extensively studied. It has been postulated that M2-TAMs are pro-tumor and proangiogenic, while M1-TAMs are pro-inflammatory and anti-tumor (reviewed in Sica et al., 2008). TAMs provide a plethora of angiogenic factors, such as VEGF, bFGF, IL-1β, ECM-degrading proteases and matrix remodeling enzymes (Baer et al., 2013; Carmi et al., 2009; Coffelt et al., 2009; Giraudo et al., 2004; Lewis et al., 2000; Ribatti et al., 2007). These macrophage-secreted factors can enhance the proliferation and survival of ECs and promote ECM remodeling for vascular sprouts (Bergers et al., 2000; Sierra et al., 2008; Squadrito and De Palma, 2011). Macrophages have also been found to modulate vasculature via direct transfer of exosomes by microvesicles (Simons and Raposo, 2009). Furthermore, macrophages can act as a cellular chaperon by direct cell-cell contacts with ECs to facilitate sprouting angiogenesis. Fantin and co-workers have demonstrated that macrophages facilitate endothelial tip cell fusion by cell-to-cell interaction (Fantin et al., 2010). However, macrophages also negatively regulate the vasculature. In hyaloid vessels, Wnt7b expressing macrophages stimulate ECs to enter into cell cycle via cell-cell contracts which leads to scheduled vascular regression (Lobov et al., 2005). In conclusion, the angiogenic activity of TAMs and their subsets is most likely to rely on their abilities to secrete angiogenic factors, their close contacts to blood vessels and interactions with endothelial cells (Carmi et al., 2009; Coussens et al., 2000; De Palma et al., 2005; Lewis et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2006; Ribatti, 2009).

DCs are an important cell population mediating innate and adaptive immune responses. They are the major representatives of antigen presenting cells (APC) and induce T cell and B cell responses along with immune tolerance (reviewed in Colonna et al., 2004). DCs modulate angiogenic response by secreting vasoactive mediators (Riboldi et al., 2005). Tumor associated plasma cytoid DCs secrete tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) and IL-8 to support angiogenesis (Curiel et al., 2004). Immature DCs have been shown to promote tumor vascularization via  $\beta$ -defensin and VEGF-A (Conejo-Garcia et al., 2004). Furthermore, the ablation of DCs results in an impaired angiogenesis and an inhibited tumor growth in mice (Fainaru et al., 2010). Very recently, CXCR4<sup>+</sup> DCs have been found to be localized in close contact to the decidual vasculature and produce proangiogenic factors (Barrientos et al., 2013).

#### 2.2.3 NEUTROPHILS, EOSINOPHILS AND MAST CELLS

Neutrophils, differentiated from the myeloid progenitor cells in the BM, are the most plentiful leukocytes in the bloodstream (reviewed in Murdoch et al., 2008; Tazzyman et al., 2009). Similar to TAMs, tumor associated neutrophils (TAN) are also categorized into two distinct subpopulations, called N1 and N2 (Fridlender et al., 2009). Increasing infiltrating neutrophils are found in many human tumors including melanomas, gastric and colon cancer (Eck et al., 2003; Mhawech-Fauceglia et al., 2006; Nielsen et al., 1996). Neutrophils are crucial to physiological angiogenesis where they secrete VEGF to regulate vascular proliferation (Mueller et al., 2000). Benelli et al. (2002) have observed that angiogenesis in Matrigel is significantly inhibited when neutrophils are depleted from mice, indicating a positive role of neutrophils in angiogenesis. Further support to elucidate the role of neutrophils in angiogenesis has been provided by other studies (reviewed in Murdoch et al., 2008; Tazzyman et al., 2009). Nozawa et al. (2006) have found that TANs produce an abundant amount of MMP-9 during the neo-vascularization in a pancreatic islet carcinogenesis model. Nozawa and colleagues have depleted neutrophils transiently and have found that the association between VEGF and VEGFR is suppressed (Nozawa et al., 2006). As a result, the frequency of angiogenic switch on-set is also largely reduced during early carcinogenesis process (Nozawa et al., 2006). Later, Ardi et al. (2007) have shown that human TANs release TIMP-free MMP-9 as a catalytic angiogenic stimulator. However, the relationship between infiltrating neutrophils and angiogenesis is a "friend or foe" situation. Data have also shown that neutrophils regulate angiogenesis negatively. Neutrophils could produce proteases and elastase to cleave plasminogen into small antiangiogenic molecules (Scapini et al., 2002).

Eosinophils are a small subpopulation of white blood cells. They constitute only 1-3% of peripheral nucleated cells (Iwasaki et al., 2005). Eosinophils have a crucial role in immune defense and allergic reactions (Legrand et al., 2008; Rothenberg and Hogan, 2006). Eosinophils are most likely to contribute to angiogenesis by a paracrine manner. VEGF is released from eosinophils upon stimulation by GM-CSF or IL-5 (Horiuchi and

Weller, 1997). Furthermore, it has been proposed that eosinophils may induce angiogenesis by secreting tissue factors (TFs) (Moosbauer et al., 2007).

Mast cells are bone marrow derived leukocytes. Mast cells are crucial to many pathological and physiological processes, such as inflammation, angiogenesis and cancer. They are often found in the tumor perivascular area, indicating a potential function in tumor angiogenesis (reviewed in Maltby et al., 2009). An elevated mast cell level is observed in numerous tumors such as breast tumor, myeloma and oral squamous cell carcinoma (Conti et al., 2007; Fisher et al., 1985; Iamaroon et al., 2003; Ribatti et al., 1999; Theoharides and Conti, 2004). During vascular growth, mast cells secrete various angiogenic factors, such as VEGF, bFGF, IL-8, TGF- $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$ , heparin and MMPs (Coussens et al., 1999; Coussens et al., 2000; Grützkau et al., 1998; Halova et al., 2012; Möller et al., 1998; Qu et al., 1998; Walsh et al., 1991).

#### 2.2.4 PLATELETs

The hemostasis on vasculature is important during the lifetime. A normal platelet level in the blood stream is crucial for vascular hemostasis. Platelets originate from megakaryocytes in the BM. Platelets serve as a cellular reservoir of various growth factors, cytokines, chemo-attractants, and many other molecules involved in angiogenesis. There are three types of secretory vesicles in platelets:  $\alpha$ -granules, dense granules and lysosomes, containing different factors and cytokines. Thus, upon activation platelets could release many pro-angiogenic or anti-angiogenic factors (reviewed in Jain and Duda, 2003). In the tumor microenvironment, platelets release many angiogenic regulatory proteins (Klement et al., 2004). Platelets take up angiogenic factors and sequester them in  $\alpha$ -granules (Klement et al., 2009). More recently, Feng et al. (2011) have shown that platelets facilitate the recruitment of proangiogenic cells from BM to local tissues and promote angiogenesis. Besides the secretion of angiogenic regulatory factors, platelets are able to affect angiogenesis by the shedding of microparticles. Platelet microparticles act as a delivery machinery to transport proteins such as angiogenic regulatory factors and other bioactive molecules to other cells (Italiano et al., 2010; Janowska-Wieczorek et al., 2006).

#### **3. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-β (TGF-β) AND** ANGIOGENESIS

TGF- $\beta$  superfamily consists of many cytokines, such as TGF- $\beta$ s and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP). There are three isoforms of the TGF- $\beta$  ligand, TGF- $\beta$ 1, TGF- $\beta$ 2 and TGF- $\beta$ 3. TGF- $\beta$  dimers induce a heteromeric complex formed by type I (activin receptor-like kinases (ALK)) and type II receptors (including activin receptor type IIA (ActRIIA), ActRIIB, BMP type II receptor, TGF- $\beta$  type II receptor and type II anti-Müllerian hormone receptor). Once the heteromeric complex is formed, the type II receptor phosphorylates the type I receptor. Signals then propagate into cells via downstream molecules. There are two TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathways, canonical and noncanonical. The canonical pathway is Smad-dependent. In the non-canonical TGF- $\beta$ pathway, the signals are transmitted through TNF receptor associated factor 4, p38, JUN N-terminal kinase (JNK) or some other factors (reviewed in Akhurst and Hata, 2012; Massagué, 2012).

TGF- $\beta$ s are involved in many vital biological processes including embryonic development. TGF- $\beta$ s serve as an immune-regulatory mediator because of their pro-and anti-inflammatory properties. TGF- $\beta$  and its isoforms are required for hematopoiesis and

endothelial differentiation in the embryonic development (reviewed in Piek et al., 1999). The role of TGF- $\beta$  in angiogenesis, vascular homeostasis and vascular disease has been extensively investigated (Pardali et al., 2010; reviewed in ten Dijke and Arthur, 2007; Walshe, 2010). TGF-Bs have the capability to modulate vascular development and remodeling (Gorden et al., 1997; Mandriota and Pepper, 1997; Pepper et al., 1993). Targeted disruption of TGF-B1 gene in mice results in mortality during mid-gestation or at an age of 3 weeks (Pepper, 1997). The targeted disruption in TGF-B1 causes defects in yolk sac vasculature and hematopoiesis. Thus 50% of TGF-β1<sup>-/-</sup> embryos are mortal during mid-gestation. Others have completed embryogenesis but exhibit dysfunction in their immune system after weaning. One possible explanation is that the maternal TGF-B1 may compensate the lack of TGF- $\beta$ 1 in the offspring (Pepper, 1997). It has also been demonstrated that mutations of proteins in the TGF- $\beta$  pathway in mice result in defective vascular development and thus lead to embryonic lethality (Choi and Ballermann, 1995; Dunker and Krieglstein, 2000). A few decades ago, it has been shown that subcutaneous injection of TGF- $\beta$  in newborn mice evokes a prominent angiogenic response in vivo (Roberts et al., 1986).

Although the importance of TGF- $\beta$  in angiogenesis is apparent, its detailed mechanism is less clear, very complicated and with controversial. Firstly, an inhibitory effect caused by TGFs on the proliferation of cultured endothelial cells has been observed (Baird and Durkin, 1986; Fràter-Schröder et al., 1986). The inhibitory effect of TGF- β is supported by further studies. TGF-β also inhibits angiogenesis and induces EC apoptosis (Lu et al., 2009; Walshe et al., 2009a; Walshe et al., 2009b). However, conflicting reports demonstrate that TGF-B also has a mitogenic and proliferative effect (Iruela-Arispe and Sage, 1993; RayChaudhury and D'Amore, 1991; Sutton et al., 1991). Studies have shown that TGF-β induces tube formation (Gajdusek et al., 1993; Kuzuya and Kinsella, 1994). These controversial results of TGF- $\beta$  regulating angiogenesis indicate a complex mechanism by which TGF-B modulates angiogenesis (Fierlbeck et al., 2003; Pepper et al., 1993). Pepper et al. (1993) have shown that TGF-β stimulates cell proliferation, tube formation and migration at low concentrations (100 pg/ml - 1 ng/ml) but inhibits these processes with a higher concentration (5-10 ng/ml). TGF- $\beta$  induced endothelial cell apoptosis contributes to the formation of glomerular capillary lumen (Fierlbeck et al., 2003). Interestingly, TGF- $\beta$  can activate EC proliferation and migration via TGF- $\beta$ /ALK1 axis, whereas it inhibits the proliferation and migration of ECs through the TGF- $\beta$ /ALK5 pathway (Goumans et al., 2003; reviewed in Lebrin et al., 2005).

In most tissues, including the endothelium, TGF- $\beta$  binds to the type II receptor, then recruits and phosphorylates ALK5 (Franzén et al., 1993). Signals then transduce to Smad proteins (Smad 2, 3 and 4) (Chen et al., 1998; reviewed in Jakobsson and van Meeteren, 2013). Besides ALK5, ECs specifically express ALK1, another type I receptor (Panchenko et al., 1996; Roelen et al., 1997). Upon ligand activation, signals further propagate to Smad 1, 5 and 4 (reviewed in Jakobsson and van Meeteren, 2013). In addition, endoglin, a type III receptor, is also expressed on ECs. It has shown that endoglin can reduce the activation of TGF- $\beta$  signaling (Barbara et al., 1999; Letamendía et al., 1998). An study on ALK1 mutant embryo implies a balance between ALK1 and ALK5 signaling pathway in ECs may be critical to the interplay of TGF- $\beta$  on endothelium (Oh et al., 2000). However, to date, the mechanism of action of TGF- $\beta$  in angiogenesis is still not clear.

In addition to the direct effect on ECs, TGF- $\beta$  has a chemotactic effect on pericytes and fibroblasts (Antonelli-Orlidge et al., 1989; Joseph-Silverstein and Rifkin, 1987;

Postlethwaite et al., 1987). Furthermore, TGF- $\beta$  also affects vascular mural cells and immune cells by its interaction with receptors. TGF- $\beta$  has been shown to affect VSMCs via ALK5/T $\beta$ R-II complex (Carvalho et al., 2007). The downstream signaling then involves Smad2/3 and p38, p42/44 and JNK (Feinberg et al., 2004a; Feinberg et al., 2004b; Hocevar et al., 2005; Seay et al., 2005). It has been speculated that TGF- $\beta$  may serve as a potential vascular smooth muscle differentiating factor (Seay et al., 2005). Wang et al. (2008) have shown that TGF- $\beta$  stimulates MSCs to differentiate into pericytes and thus promotes vascular maturation. Many immune effective cells such as macrophages are responsive to TGF- $\beta$ . The TGF- $\beta$ 1 null mice have a multifocal immune response (Kulkarni et al., 1993; Shull et al., 1992). Similarly, in vivo TGF- $\beta$  deficiency leads to an inhibited inflammatory response (Wang et al., 2010b).

Taken together, the mechanism of TGF- $\beta$  in adult angiogenesis is not very clear. It is not well understood how TGF- $\beta$  affects adult vasculature in vivo and contributes to angiogenesis because of the complex interactions among infiltrating cells, circulating blood cells and resident blood vessels and the complexity that how TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway is transduced.

#### 4. ADULT STEM CELLS AND THEIR NICHES

A stem cell niche is not considered to be simply a physical location or structure, but rather an environment where extrinsic signals interact and integrate to affect the behavior of stem cells. It is an interactive in vivo microenvironment where stem cells reside and are nurtured to maintain tissue homeostasis and generate progenitors in a proper manner (Scadden, 2006; Schofield, 1978). The general niche is composed of resident stem cells and niche cells. Niche cells are cells from heterogeneous cell populations. They provide a supporting environment for stem cells to maintain a proper stem cell capacity and protect stem cells from any challenge from outside stimuli (Crittenden et al., 2002; Kiger et al., 2000; Xie and Spradling, 2000). Within the niche, stem cells maintain the ability to be activated to produce progenitors or transit amplifying cells and self-renew. The stem cell niche has the function to assure a balance of activation and quiescence in stem cells. The niche possesses not only anatomic but also functional dimensions (Scadden, 2006).

The idea that heterologous cell populations compose the niche was first shown in the gonads of Drosophila melanogaster and C. elegans (Kiger et al., 2000; Xie and Spradling, 2000). This idea is then further supported by the identification of osteoblast in the bone marrow (Calvi et al., 2003; Kiel et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2003). In mammals, established adult stem cell niches are found in bone marrow, hair follicle, and intestine (reviewed in Li and Xie, 2005; Moore and Lemischka, 2006).

#### 4.1 THE HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL NICHE IN THE BONE MARROW

The hematopoietic stem cell niche had not been identified for many years. HSCs are not only located in BM but also are found in other tissues including adult liver (Taniguchi et al., 1996). Much effort has been put to investigate HSCs in the BM and their anatomical locations (Calvi et al., 2003; Heissig et al., 2002; Kiel et al., 2007; Kiel et al., 2005; Kimura et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2003). The HSC niche is now identified in the bone as a microenvironment where groups of cells locate in the specific tissue location for stem cell maintenance (Fig. 4). Recent findings has shown that the niche in the bone marrow is perivascular, partly composed by endothelial cells and mesenchymal stromal cells (reviewed in Morrison and Scadden, 2014). The niche expresses a series of molecules important for tissue specific stem cell homing, proliferation, differentiation and selfrenewal (Li and Xie, 2005; Scadden, 2006; Yin and Li, 2006). The niche also signals to control the fate and amount of stem cells (reviewed in Li and Xie, 2005; Moore, 2004; Moore and Lemischka, 2004, 2006). HSC maintenance and hematopoiesis is primarily happened in the bone marrow in adult, whereas in some occasions it is also found in extramedullary sites (Kim, 2010; Morrison and Scadden, 2014).



**Fig. 4. The HSC niche in the bone marrow.** Schematic graph illustrates interactions among HSCs, endosteal osteoblastic niches and vascular niches. HSCs dock to osteoblasts and recruit to the vascular niche close to sinusoidal endothelium (edited from Levesque et al., 2010).

Currently, HSC niche in the bone is composed of two niches, endosteal osteoblastic niche and vascular niche. Osteoblasts (OB) compose the endosteal osteoblastic niche and protect HSCs in the BM (reviewed in Taichman, 2005). In 2002, Heissig et al. (2002) have found that HSCs and hematopoietic cell clusters are recruited to the so-called "vascular zone"-a vascular niche in the BM. Osteoblastic and vascular niches are crucial in HSC maintenance and mobilization. Once HSCs are mobilized, HSCs leave the osteoblastic niche, are recruited to the vascular niche, and then enter the blood vessel (Yin and Li, 2006).

#### 4.1.1 ENDOSTEAL OSTEOBLASTIC NICHE

In the BM, HSCs are identified in close contact with osteoblasts within the endosteal region in steady state or upon homing after BM transplantation (Nilsson et al., 1997; Xie et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2003). It has been reported that osteoblasts' quantity in the BM affects HSC number (Calvi et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003). Later, the osteolineage cells have been proven to be involved in HSC maintenance (Visnjic et al., 2004). Indeed, OBs express many molecules important for HSC maintaining, self-renewal and survival, such as Ang-1 (Arai et al., 2004).

There are several signaling axes important to osteoblastic niche function, such as Ncadherin/β-catenin, Tie-2/Ang-1, osteopontin/β-integrin and stem cell factor (SCF)/c-kit (reviewed in Yin and Li, 2006). N-cadherin and β-catenin are adherens junction molecules. N-cadherin is expressed by osteoblasts. Both molecules could be used as ectopic markers of osteoblastic niche (Zhang et al., 2003). HSC anchorage and quiescence are regulated through Tie-2/Ang-1 signaling (Arai et al., 2004). Enhanced Ang-1/Tie-2 signaling has been shown to improve the long term repopulation capacity in HSCs in vivo (Ikushima et al., 2013). OBs also produce osteopontin, an extracellular matrix molecule. Osteopontin is able to retain HSCs in endosteal region and enhance the primitive HSCs in quiescent status through β1-integrin (Nilsson et al., 1997). Osteopontin expression on the osteoblasts has been found to inhibit HSC proliferation (Stier et al., 2005). SCF, also known as steel (SI) factor or KIT ligand, regulates HSC activity in vivo and self-renewal in vitro (Fleming et al., 1993). The Sl/Sl mice have a defective niche in supporting HSCs; however SCF/c-kit interaction may not be the key element to initiate hematopoiesis and self-renewal of HSCs at least in fetus (Ikuta et al., 1991; Ikuta and Weissman, 1992). Furthermore, significant amount of SCF secretion by OBs can increase the adherence of HSC to stromal cells (reviewed in Yin and Li, 2006). However, OBs are not the only cell type residing in the niche area and affecting the function (Scadden, 2006). Current evidence indicates that the effect of osteoblastic cells on HSCs may be indirect. In vivo imaging studies have shown that very few HSCs are in direct contact with osteoblasts (Kiel et al., 2009; Kiel et al., 2005; Lo Celso et al., 2009; Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013; Sugiyama et al., 2006). Furthermore, genetic modification of primitive osteolineage cells or mature osteoblasts has little effect on HSC proliferation (Raaijmakers et al., 2010). Many other types of cells including stromal cells or perivascular cells may take part in the hematopoietic niche, which requires further study.

#### 4.1.2 VASCULAR NICHE

Investigations have later characterized the existence of the vascular niches, where HSCs reside near sinusoids within the BM (Heissig et al., 2002; Kiel et al., 2005). The vascular niche is believed to promote the proliferation and differentiation of actively cycling or transient HSCs (Heissig et al., 2002; Kiel et al., 2005). Lin<sup>CD41<sup>CD48</sup></sup> CD150<sup>+</sup> HSCs are found largely to be in contact with sinusoidal endothelium (Kiel et al., 2005). The BM sinusoidal endothelial cells (BMSEC) possess distinct phenotypic and morphologic characteristics compared to other vascular ECs (Aird, 2007a, 2012; Nolan et al., 2013). BMSECs express Notch ligands, Jagged-1 and Jagged-2, suggesting a possible interaction of Notch signaling with HSCs (Butler et al., 2010). Furthermore, the deletion of SCF on ECs causes a lower long-term-HSC frequencies and repopulation capacity (Broudy, 1997; Ding et al., 2012).

Besides BM vasculature, cells in close contact with the vasculature also have been considered as cellular niche components. CXCL12 (SDF-1) expressing cells have been found to be adjacent to the sinusoids in the BM. SDF-1 is important for HSC mobilization, homing and engraftment (Lapidot and Kollet, 2002; Sugiyama et al., 2006). In summary, endothelial cells in the vascular niche enhance and maintain the HSC primitive property and are crucial for the maintenance of the HSC pool.

#### 5. ROLE OF C-KIT IN STEM CELLs

#### 5.1 C-KIT AND W LOCI

C-kit, a type III receptor protein-tyrosine kinase, is the receptor for SCF. C-kit is the cellular counterpart of v-kit oncogene, encoded by the W locus in mouse where many mutations are known (Lev et al., 1994). The W locus encoding KIT, also known as the dominant white spotting locus, was first identified in mice with defects in mast cell development and hematopoiesis in the early 90s (Lev et al., 1994). C-kit and its interaction with SCF are crucial for many physiological processes such as hematopoiesis, pigmentation and fertility (Ikuta et al., 1991; Koshimizu et al., 1991; Lennartsson and Rönnstrand, 2012; Parrott and Skinner, 1999). C-kit is widely expressed on hematopoietic stem cells/progenitors as well as many other differentiated cell types including mast cells, melanocytes, endothelial cells, endocrine cells and epithelial cells (Ashman, 1999; Broudy et al., 1994; Lammie et al., 1994; Majumder et al., 1988; Natali et al., 1992; Nocka et al., 1989). Importantly, c-kit mRNA is also found in embryonic brain in mice (Keshet et al., 1991; Qiu et al., 1988).

#### 5.2 FUNCTION OF C-KIT

The KIT-null mutations result in embryonic lethality with severe anemia (Russell, 1979). Some other homozygous KIT mutations, such as W-sash mutation, W41 mutation and Wv mutation are viable but have effects on fertility, pigmentations and mast cells development (Chabot et al., 1988; Duttlinger et al., 1993; Reith et al., 1990).

C-kit expression is detectable on early hematopoietic cells and is lost gradually during differentiation (Broudy, 1997). Thus, c-kit is usually used as a progenitor cell/stem cell surface marker to identify putative progenitors. SCF/c-kit axis is important for the proliferation and survival of HSCs (Fleming et al., 1993; Ikuta et al., 1991; Ikuta and Weissman, 1992). It is also involved in the migration, differentiation as well as proliferation of germ cells and melanoblast lineages (Keshet et al., 1991; Matsui et al., 1991; Orr-Urtreger et al., 1990). Conditional KIT knockout in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC) within the BM in adult mice leads to hematopoietic failures (Kimura et al., 2011).

Besides its role in hematopoiesis, c-kit also has an important role in the cardiovascular systems. C-kit dysfunction results in a defect in cardiac stem cell differentiation (Li et al., 2008). It has been shown that mice with impaired function in c-kit carry cardiac failure after myocardial infarction (Li et al., 2008).

The SCF/c-kit axis is also crucial for many other tissues during development such as lung, heart and nervous system (Bernex et al., 1996). KIT, on the chromosome 5, has been shown to associate with airspace enlargement, which may protect the integrity of lung tissue by regulating the proliferation of local resident progenitors (Lindsey et al., 2011; Reinhard et al., 2005).

In addition, SCF stimulates the survival and the ability of capillary formation in HUVECs indicating a positive role of c-kit/SCF in angiogenesis (Matsui et al., 2004). SCF/c-kit signaling also interacts with VEGF signaling. VEGF expression is suppressed upon KIT inactivation using imatinib mesylate/STI-571, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in human cancer cells (Ebos et al., 2002). The expression of VEGF is mediated by SCF/c-kit signaling via PI3K/Akt pathway (Litz and Krystal, 2006; Matsui et al., 2004). Furthermore,

in a murine tumor models, imatinib mesylate disrupts lymphoma angiogenesis by targeting PDGF- $\beta$ + VSMCs (Ruan et al., 2013).

#### 6. TARGETING ANGIOGENESIS IN HUMAN DISEASE

Blood vessel maintenance and growth regulation are vital for human health. Insufficient angiogenesis or excessive vascular growth is involved in many human diseases, such as coronary artery disease, stroke, ischemic disease, and tumor growth and metastasis.

#### 6.1 ANGIOPREVENTION IN HUMAN CANCER

During cancer growth, angiogenic switch is turned on to promote vascular sprouting. Angiogenesis has long been a therapeutic target in cancer treatment, based on the concept raised by Folkman in the 1970s (Folkman, 1971; Hanahan and Folkman, 1996; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Potente et al., 2011). Preventing vascular ECs from proliferating and migrating upon stimulation is one approach to disrupt angiogenesis. Another possible way is to inhibit angiogenic proteins/molecules in the microenvironment (reviewed in Kerbel and Folkman, 2002). Numerous studies have revealed various growth factors and signaling pathways involved in angiogenesis that provide potential targets for anti-angiogenic therapies (Davis and Yancopoulos, 1999; O'Reilly et al., 1994a; O'Reilly et al., 1994b; Tolsma et al., 1993; Weis and Cheresh, 2011; Zhai et al., 1999a; Zhai et al., 1999b).

Among these various angiogenic growth factors, the VEGF family has been studied with most extensive effort. In preclinical models, tumor growth is inhibited by blocking VEGF (Chung and Ferrara, 2011; Gerber and Ferrara, 2005; Presta et al., 1997; Saharinen et al., 2011; Warren et al., 1995; Wildiers et al., 2003). For instance, bevacizumab inhibits VEGF binding to VEGF receptors, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 (reviewed in Jain, 2005a). Bevacizumab has been approved to treat patients suffering from late stage colon cancer and non-small-cell lung cancer, kidney and brain cancers (Bergers and Hanahan, 2008). Molecule inhibitors of VEGFR tyrosine kinase (TKI) are also developed as anti-angiogenic agents. Sunitinib and sorafenib, small molecular tyrosine kinase inhibitors, have been demonstrated to block the activation of VEGFRs and other kinases and thus to inhibit cancer growth (Demetri et al., 2006; Escudier et al., 2007; Motzer et al., 2007).

Various angiogenesis inhibitors have been shown to suppress tumor growth and metastases, and to improve chemotherapy efficacy in certain combination (Bagri et al., 2010; Gerber and Ferrara, 2005). However, the lengthening of progression-free survival (PFS) of angiogenesis inhibitors in clinics is not always sustained (reviewed in Sennino and McDonald, 2012). The overall survival improvement is modest.

Notably, VEGF signaling inhibitors are also possibly able to promote tumor escape and progression (reviewed in Ebos and Kerbel, 2011). One possible mechanism of the resistance to anti-angiogenic therapies is that alternative pro-angiogenic pathways are activated or up-regulated in the tumor (Bergers and Hanahan, 2008). Many other growth factors, such as Ang-1/2, FGF and PDGF, can compensate the inhibitory effect caused by blocking VEGF signaling and promote angiogenesis (Ebos and Kerbel, 2011). For instance, AMG386, an Ang 1 and 2 neutralizing peptibody, has shown a PFS extension in a randomized phase II trial in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer (Karlan et al., 2012). In addition, some factors are able to recruit myeloid cells and other BMDCs to contribute to angiogenic re-initiation indirectly (reviewed in Ribatti and Crivellato, 2009). More interestingly, imatinib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor of PDGFR- $\beta$ , causes an impaired tumor growth and vascular SMCs proliferation as well as a decreased microvascular density (Ruan et al., 2013).

#### 6.2 THERAPEUTIC ANGIOGENESIS IN ISCHEMIC DISEASE

Tissues suffering from inadequate blood supply can lead to illness and even mortality. Therapeutic angiogenesis aims at inducing neovascular growth to treat ischemic disease. There are at least four therapeutic approaches to induce angiogenesis; increasing the expression of angiogenic genes, supplying extrinsic angiogenic factors, delivery of angiogenic effector cells and delivery of progenitors/stem cells.

Angiogenic gene deliveries by viral vectors or non-viral vectors, especially VEGF delivery, have been developed to induce angiogenesis. However, overexpression of VEGF in the myocardium leads to heart failure and vascular tumorigenesis (Lee et al., 2000). Furthermore, the adenoviral delivery of FGF4 fails to reach a therapeutic efficacy in a Phase III trial to treat chronic angina pectoris (Henry et al., 2007).

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNC) have been isolated and studied in clinical trials to treat patients with limb ischemia and peripheral arterial disease (reviewed in Lawall et al., 2010, 2011; Losordo and Dimmeler, 2004). Meta-analyses of clinical trials on intracoronary autologous BM cells have shown a 3-4% increase in ejection fraction (EF). However, the outcome improvement mostly persists for one year without long-term benefits (reviewed in Rangappa et al., 2010).

Cardiac stem cells, c-kit<sup>+</sup> cells residing within the myocardium, have been isolated and utilized to regenerate myocardium (Beltrami et al., 2001; Urbanek et al., 2005). Human cardiosphere derived stem cells have been shown to have an increase in EF as well as viable myocardium within the infarct zone in acute myocardial infarction models in immunodeficient mice (Messina et al., 2004; Nelson et al., 2009).

In stem cell therapy, sufficient numbers of progenitors and their viability after transplantation are the two most crucial challenges in this application. The long-term clinical benefit failure with cellular therapies indicates that investigations on a more precise stem cell type and interactions of putative stem cells with local environment are needed.

## AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study was undertaken to investigate the role of hematopoietic cells, hematopoietic progenitors and local tissue resident stem cells in angiogenic situations, as well as to elucidate the mechanism of TGF- $\beta$  on regulating angiogenesis in vivo.

The specific aims were:

I: To identify the cellular origin of ECs in adult angiogenesis

II: To elucidate the mechanism of TGF- $\beta$  on modulating angiogenesis in vivo

III: To study how hematopoietic cells and progenitors in the tumor microenvironment support tumor angiogenesis

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

The materials and methods are described in detail the original publications. Lists of materials and methods used in the studies are summarized below.

### **1. MATERIALS**

Mouse Line	Description	Source	Used in
C57bl/6J	Wild type (wt) inbred strain	ScanburAB, Sweden	I, II, III
C57bl/6J- Tg(ACTB- EGFP)1Osb/J	"Enhanced" GFP (EGFP) expressed in all of the tissues, with the exception of erythrocytes and hair, under the control of $\beta$ -actin promoter.	The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME	I, II, III
C57bl/6J- Kdrm1Jrt;lacZ	Transgenic mice carry a $\beta$ -galactosidase ( $\beta$ -gal) reporter gene under the control of the VEGFR-2 promoter	The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME	Ι
FVB/N-Tg(TIE2- lacZ)182Sato/J	Transgenic mice carry a β-galactosidase reporter gene under the control of the murine Tie-2 promoter.	The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME	Ι
C57bl/6J-Kit <sup>w-</sup> <sup>sh</sup> /BsmJ	Transgenic mice carry the Kit <sup>W-sh</sup> mutation is an inversion spanning a 2.8 Mb segment proximal to the KIT locus that disrupts 5' regulatory sequences.	The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME	Ι

#### Table 1. Mouse line used in this study

Cell lines/Primary Cells	Description	Source	Used in
MS-1	Mile SVEN 1, a pancreatic islet endothelial cell line from C57BL/6 mouse	ATCC	Ι
B16-F1	Murine melanoma cell line	ATCC	I, III
Human PBMNC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell from donors separated by density gradient centrifugation	Peripheral blood from healthy donors	П
Mouse primary lung ECs	Primary endothelial cells isolated from adult mouse tissues by FACS or magnetic separation, including CD31 <sup>+</sup> CD105 <sup>+</sup> cells, Lin <sup>-</sup> CD31 <sup>+</sup> CD105 <sup>+</sup> cells, Lin <sup>-</sup> CD31 <sup>+</sup> CD105 <sup>+</sup> Sca- 1 <sup>+</sup> CD117 <sup>+</sup> cells and Lin <sup>-</sup> CD31 <sup>+</sup> CD105 <sup>+</sup> Sca- 1 <sup>+</sup> CD117 <sup>-</sup> cells	Mouse	Ι
Leukocyte (CD45 <sup>+</sup> )	Separated using Magnetic beads from mouse peripheral blood or bone marrow	Mouse	Ι
BM	Isolated mouse bone marrow cells	Mouse	I, II, III

Table 2. Cell lines and Primary Cells used in this study

### Table 3. Antigen used in this study

Antigen	Fluorescent conjugated Antibody	Source	Used
CD31	APC conjugated rat anti mouse CD31	BD	Ι
CD105	PE conjugated rat anti mouse CD105	eBioscience	Ι
Sca-1	V450 conjugated rat anti mouse Sca-1	BD	I, III
CD117	PE-Cy7 conjugated rat anti mouse CD117	eBioscience	I, III
VEGFR-2	Alexa Fluor 700 anti-mouse VEGFR-2	eBioscience	Ι
CD150	PerCP-eFluro 710 anti-mouse CD150	eBioscience	III
CD48	FITC anti-mouse CD48	eBioscience	III
CD45	FITC anti-mouse CD45	eBioscience	I, III
CD115	FITC anti-mouse CD115	eBioscience	Ι
α-smooth muscle	FITC anti-mouse $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin	Abcam	Ι
actin			
CD11b	FITC anti mouse CD11b	BD	Ι
CD34	Alexa Fluor 700 anti-mouse CD34	eBioscience	Ι
CD14	FITC anti-mouse CD14	eBioscience	Ι
CD106	FITC anti-mouse CD106	BD	Ι
VEGFR-1	Alexa Fluor 488 anti-mouse	R&D	Ι
CD184	FITC anti-mouse CD184	BD	Ι
CD144	Alexa Fluor 488 anti-mouse CD144	eBioscience	Ι
CD104	FITC anti mouse CD104	Abcam	Ι

Antigen	Description Clone	Source	Used
CD31	PECAM-1, rat anti-mouse CD31	BD	I, II, III
CD105	Endoglin, rat anti-mouse CD105	BD	Ι
Sca-1	Rat anti-mouse Sca-1	BD	Ι
VEGFR-2	Rat anti-mouse VEGFR-2	BD	Ι
F4/80	Rat anti-mouse F4/80	Abcam	I, III
Actin,a-smooth	Monoclonal anti-actin, α-smooth muscle,	Sigma	I, II
muscle	Cy3 conjugated		
CD34	Rat anti-mouse CD34	BD	Ι
vWF	Rabbit anti-mouse/human von Willebrand	DAKO	I, II, III
	Factor		
VE-Cadherin	Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse VE-cadherin	Abcam	I, III
ZO-1	Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse anti-ZO-1 (N-term)	Invitrogen	Ι
CD117	Goat anti-mouse CD117 & Rat anti mouse	R&D Systems	Ι
	CD117		
CD117	Mouse anti human CD117 Mab (Clone MS-	Neomarkers	Ι
	289-P)		
CD16/CD32	Rat anti-mouse CD16/32	BD	Ι
CD115	FITC conjugated rat anti-mouse CD115	BD	Ι
CD14	FITC conjugated rat anti mouse CD14	BD	Ι
CD45	Monoclonal mouse anti human CD45 (Clone	Dako	III
	2B11+PD7/26),		
CD45	Rat anti-mouse CD45	BD	I, II, III
β-galactosidase	Rabbit polyclonal anti β-galactosidase	Chemicon	Ι
		International	
VEGF	Polyclonal rabbit anti-VEGF Ab-1	NeoMarkers	I, II, III
VEGF	Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse VEGF	Abcam	III
VEGF	Neutralizing anti-VEGF mouse monoclonal	Genentech	II
	IgG (Clone AVA)		
phospho-p38 MAP	Polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse antibodies	Cell Signaling	II
Kinase	against phospho-p38 MAP kinase	Technology	
	(Thr180/Thr182)		
phospho-p44	Phospho-p44/p42 MAP kinase	Cell Signaling	II
	(Thr202/Th204)	Technology	
Ki67	Rat anti-mouse Ki67	Dako	III
Ki67	Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse Ki67 (SP6)	Abcam	I, III
VCAM-1	Mouse monoclonal (6G9) anti-human	Abcam	III
	VCAM-1		
CD45	Rat anti-mouse CD45	BD	I,II, III

Table 4. Primary Antibodies used in this study

Antigen	Description Clone	Source	Used
N-cadherin	Rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse/human N	Abcam	III
	cadherin		
SDF-1	Mouse monoclonal anti-human SDF-1	Abcam	III
	(Clone: MM0211-9N26)		
CD11b	Rat anti-mouse CD11b	BD	I, III
SDF-1	Rabbit anti mouse SDF-1α	Abcam	III
Jagged-1	Rabbit polyclonal anti-human Jagged-1	Abcam	III
β-catenin	Rabbit monoclonal anti-human β-catenin	Abcam	III
	E247		
osteopontin	Rabbit anti-osteopontin	Millipore	III
Angiopoietin-1	Rabbit anti-mouse Angiopoietin-1	Abcam	III
CD150	Rabbit anti-mouse CD150	Abcam	III
MMP-9	Rabbit anti-mouse MMP-9	Abcam	III

#### Table 5. Proteins used in this study

Protein/Peptide	Description	Source	Used in
bFGF	Recombinant mouse bFGF	Invitrogen	Ι
EGF	Recombinant mouse EGF	Invitrogen	Ι
VEGF	Recombinant mouse VEGF	Invitrogen	Ι
VEGF <sub>164</sub>	Recombinant mouse VEGF <sub>164</sub>	R&D systems	II
TGF-β1	Recombinant mouse TGF-β1	R&D systems	II

#### 2. METHODS USED IN THIS STUDY Table 6. Methods used in this study

Methods	Used
Cell Isolation	I, III
Bone marrow transplantation	I, II
Flow Cytometry	I, III
Immunofluorescence	I, II, III
Immunohistochemistry	I, II, III
In vivo animal model	I, II, III
RNA extraction	I, II
Real time-PCR	I, II
Colony assay	I, III
Cell proliferation assay	III
Cell culture	I, II, III
Northern blot	II
Bone marrow transplantation	I, II, III

#### **Cell Isolation**

Mouse lung endothelial cells were isolated from lungs dissected from adult C57BL/6J mice (Scanbur AB), C57BL/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice, C57BL/6J-Kdrtm1Jrt; lacZ mice, FVB/N-Tg(TIE2-lacZ)182Sato/J mice, or C57BL/6J-KitW-sh mice (all from The Jackson Laboratory). Mice were first anesthetized with Rompun vet (Bayer) and Ketaminol vet (Intervet) and were then perfused with 20 ml of PBS. The lung tissue was collected. After removing fat tissue from the lung, the tissue was minced manually and was then digested with DMEM medium (Invitrogen) containing 0.8 U/ml of Dispase II (Roche), 1 mg/ml of Collagenase H (Roche), 100 U/100  $\mu$ g/ml of Pen/Strep (Invitrogen), 2% FCS and 2 mM L-glutamine at 37° C for 1 h. The homogenate was filtered through a 100  $\mu$ m nylon mesh falcon (BD Biosciences), followed by a 30  $\mu$ m nylon mesh falcon (BD Biosciences). Red blood cells were subsequently lysed in the buffer containing 10 mM KHCO<sub>3</sub>, 155 mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, 0.1 mM EDTA (pH 7.5) at room temperature for 2 minutes. The cell pellets were collected by centrifugation at 300g for 6 minutes and resuspended in DMEM medium containing 100 U/100  $\mu$ g/ml of Pen/Strep, 2% FCS, and 2 mM L-glutamine.

For lineage depletion, Mouse Lineage Cell Depletion Kit (Miltenyi Biotec) was used according to manufacturer's instructions. Subsequently, the cells were incubated first with anti-mouse CD16/CD32 blocker (BD Biosciences) for 5 minutes at 4°C and with a cocktail of fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies for 30 minutes at 4°C.

Lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>CD117<sup>+</sup> cells and Lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>CD117<sup>-</sup> cells were sorted using BD FACSAria flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) and collected into 5 ml Falcon tubes continuously or into a 96 multi-well plate at a rate of one cell/well using an automated cell deposition unit. Compensation adjustments were performed with single color positive controls and were calculated automatically with FACSDiva software version 4.1.2 (BD Biosciences). Dead cells and cell debris were excluded by gating according to the forward and side light scatters. The positive cells were gated by comparing to isotype controls (BD Biosciences).

BM cells from adult C57BL/6J mice, C57BL/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice, C57BL/6J-KitW-sh mice and adult wt C57BL/6J mice bearing B16-F1 melanomas were isolated by flushing femurs and tibias of the donor mice with 29-gauge needle using DMEM supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and 100 U/100  $\mu$ g/ml of Pen/Strep. CD45<sup>+</sup> BM, lin<sup>-</sup> BM cells or lin<sup>+</sup> BM cells were then processed using CD45 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) or Mouse Lineage Cell Depletion Kit according to manufacturer's instructions.

Subcutaneous B16-F1 melanoma tumors were dissected from wt C57BL/6J mice and digested with DMEM medium containing 0.8U/ml of Dispase II, 1 mg/ml of Collagenase H, 100 U/100  $\mu$ g/ml of Pen/Strep, 2% FCS and 2 mM L-glutamine at 37° C for 1 h. Red blood cells were subsequently lysed in the buffer containing 10 mM KHCO<sub>3</sub>, 155 mM NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, 0.1 mM EDTA (pH 7.5) at room temperature for 2 minutes. Lin<sup>+</sup> cells were then separated with mouse Mouse Lineage Cell Depletion Kit according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were further separated using using CD45 microbeads.

#### In vitro EC colony assays and hematopoietic cell colony assays

Freshly isolated ECs were plated in duplicate in 1 ml of 0.8% methylcellulose containing 15% FCS, 1% L-glutamine, 1% BSA, 10<sup>-4</sup> mM 2-Mercaptoethanol, 0.2 mg/ml human transferrin, 0.01 mg/ml recombinant human insulin (all from Stemcell Technologies) and 100 ng/ml recombinant murine VEGF (Invitrogen). Colonies

containing 15 or more cells at day 7 were counted manually using an inverted microscope. In preliminary experiments the isolated cell populations were plated at various plating densities and scored at different time points, and an ideal plating density for each population and scoring time point were determined.

Freshly isolated CD45<sup>+</sup> BM cells, lin<sup>-</sup>BM cells, lin<sup>-</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> cells from tumors and lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs were plated in duplicated in 1ml of MethoCult GF M3534 supplemented with 10 ng/ml GM-CSF (Invitrogen) and 10 ng/ml M-CSF (Invitrogen) or M3434 medium (Stemcell technologies). Cell densities ranging from 500 to 100 000 cells per plate were studied.

#### Cell culture

Freshly isolated lung ECs and picked-up EC colonies were cultured on 1% gelatin coated plates or T-75 flasks in IMDM medium containing 15% FCS, 1% L-glutamine, 1% BSA,  $10^{-4}$  mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.01 mg/ml recombinant human insulin, 100 ng/ml recombinant murine VEGF, 100 ng/ml recombinant mouse bFGF, and 100 ng/ml recombinant mouse EGF (all from Invitrogen) and 0.2 mg/ml human transferrin (Sigma-Aldrich) at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.

The B16-F1 melanoma cell line (ATCC no. 6323) was maintained in DMEM supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/100  $\mu$ g/ml of Pen/Strep, and 10% FCS at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.

The MS-1 endothelial cell line (ATCC no.2279) was maintained in DMEM supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/100  $\mu$ g/ml of Pen/Strep, and 5% FCS at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.

#### **FACS** analysis

MS-1 endothelial cell line and cultured passage 1 and 24 lung ECs were first washed with PBS and then treat by 1 mM EDTA at 37 °C for 10 minutes. Cell pellets were subsequently collected by centrifugation and resuspended in DMEM containing 2% FCS. Cells were incubated with anti-mouse CD16/CD32 blocker to reduce Fc $\gamma$  II/III receptor-mediated antibody binding at 4 °C for 5 minutes, followed by 30-minute fluorochrome-conjugated antibody incubation at 4 °C in dark. After antibody incubation, cells were washed twice in PBS and resuspended.

Isolated tumor associated lin<sup>-</sup> hematopoietic cells or lin<sup>-</sup> BM cells were incubated with Anti-biotin-Vioblue (Miltenyi Biotec), APC conjugated anti-mouse CD45, PE conjugated anti-mouse Sca-1 (all from BD), PE-Cy7 conjugated anti-mouse CD117, PerCP-eFluro710 conjugated anti-mouse CD150, and FITC conjugated anti-mouse CD48 (all fromeBioscience).

#### **Total RNA purification**

Total RNA from freshly isolated mouse lung lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs or PBMNCs was extracted using RNeasy Kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instruction.

#### **Real-time quantitative RT-PCR**

The quality of the total RNA from isolated lung ECs was analyzed with Agilent 2100 BioAnalyzer. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR analyses were performed by SABiosciences - QIAGEN using the SYBR Green real-time PCR detection method. The Ct value of the housekeeping gene GAPDH was subtracted from the value of the gene of interest for normalization. The  $2^{(-delta Ct)}$  was used to calculate the normalized relative quantity of the gene of interest.

#### **RNAseq expression data analysis**

RNAseq data (level 3) for 375 skin cutaneous melanoma samples were downloaded from the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGQ) database (Network, 2008). The analysis was limited to samples with less than 100% of tumor cell content in order to capture as much as possible from the gene expression of the host stromal cells within the tumor mass. A total of 54 primary melanoma tumor samples were further analyzed by TCGA with the MapSplice pipeline (MapSpliceRSEM V2) under this criterion (Wang et al., 2010a). The gene-level expression is quantified with RSEM and upper-quartile normalized after alignment (Li et al., 2010). RSEM quantified gene-level gene expression was transformed to base 2 log scale. The RNAseq data were analyzed using the Anduril data analysis framework (Ovaska et al., 2010).

#### In vivo angiogenesis and tumor growth

For transplanting the progeny of a single EC, GFP-tagged lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>ckit<sup>+</sup> ECs were isolated from C57BL/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice, and were plated in adherent endothelial colony forming assays at a frequency of one CFC per plate. The colonies were expanded for twelve days and subsequently studied under Axiovert 200 inverted epifluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss) using both bright field and eGFP channels. The colonies were manually picked up by scraping and pipetting up using a micropipette under Olympus CKX31 inverted microscope (Olympus). The cells were resuspended in PBS, and mixed with 200 µl of Matrigel (Basement Membrane Matrix; BD Bioscience) supplemented with VEGF (100 ng/ml) and bFGF (10 ng/ml), and injected subcutaneously into wt C57BL/6J mice. After 2-3 weeks, the mice were killed and the vasculature of the plugs was analyzed. In some experiments, freshly isolated lin-CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs or lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>-</sup> ECs from transgenic C57BL/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice were injected subcutaneously into wt C57BL/6J mice together with 200 µl of Matrigel supplemented with VEGF (100 ng/ml) and bFGF (10 ng/ml). 10000 to 100000 ECs were transplanted. After 2 weeks, the mice were sacrificed and the vasculature of the plugs was analyzed.

In the serial transplantation experiment, C57BL/6J mice were first inoculated with syngeneic B16-F1 melanoma cells ( $2 \times 10^6$  B16-F1 cells in 200 µl of PBS) mixed with 15 CFUs of GFP-tagged CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs. After two weeks, individual tumor was collected and digested with DMEM medium containing 0.8 U/ml of Dispase II, 1 mg/ml of Collagenase H, 100 U/100 µg/ml of Pen/Strep, 2% FCS and 2 mM L-glutamine at 37° C for 1 h. Mouse Lineage Cell Depletion Kit was used to deplete lineage cells in the single cell suspension according to manufacturer's instructions. The lin<sup>-</sup> cells (containing B16-F1 cells and 10000 GFP-tagged ECs per tumor) were subsequently transplanted subcutaneously to a new wt host. This isolation and re-transplantation procedure was repeated every two weeks. Part of the tumors in each generation was processed for tissue analyses while others were used for re-transplantation.

For TGF- $\beta$  induced angiogenesis, equal volumes of TGF- $\beta$ 1 (60 ng/injection/mouse; R&D Systems), VEGF<sub>164</sub> (60 ng/injection/mouse; R&D Systems) or PBS buffer were injected subcutaneously every other day at the same injection site at the ear of into C57BL/6J mice. After 14 days, the mice were sacrificed and the ears were photographed and processed for tissue analyses.

To study the mechanism of the proangiogenic effect of TGF- $\beta$ 1, equal volumes of 60 ng of TGF- $\beta$ 1 or PBS buffer were injected subcutaneously at the same injection site at the

ear of C57BL/6J mice every other day for two weeks. An immunoneutralizing anti-VEGF mouse monoclonal IgG antibody (clone AVA, Genentech) or isotype control was given intra-peritoneally to the TGF- $\beta$ 1 treated mice once per week at a dose of 5 mg/kg.

In the AMD3100 in vivo experiment, Alzet #1002 osmotic minipumps (Alza) were implanted subcutaneously in the dorsolateral area of wt C57BL/6J mice. The mice were treated with either AMD3100 (Sigma-Aldrich; delivery of the drug at a dose of 120  $\mu$ g/day corresponding to a dose of 5 mg/kg/d and a rate of 2.5  $\mu$ l/h) or equal volumes of PBS.

In experiments where tumor growth rate was studied,  $2 \times 10^6$  B16 cells were suspended in 200 µl of growth factor reduced Matrigel and then injected subcutaneously. The tumors were measured every other day using a vernier caliper. Tumor volume was calculated using the Pi/6 x L x W x W formula with L as the longest diameter and W the diameter at the position perpendicular to L.

#### Syngeneic bone marrow transplantations

Unselected BM cells (7 x  $10^6$ ) from C57BL/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice , C57BL/6J mice or C57bl/6J-KitW-sh/BsmJ mice were transplanted into corresponding syngeneic wild type mice via tail vein injection. One day before the BM transplantation, the recipient mice received a total myeloablation by irradiating at a lethal dosage of 9.1 Gy. The mice were subjected to TGF- $\beta$ 1 induced in vivo angiogenesis assay or tumor implantation 5-8 weeks after the BM reconstitution. All animal experiments were approved by the Provincial State Office of Southern Finland.

#### Immunohistochemistry, immunofluorescence and whole mounts

For whole mounts, all samples were first fixed in 4% PFA, blocked with PBS buffer containing 5% normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories), 0.2% BSA, 0.09% Na-Azide, and 0.3% Triton-X (Sigma–Aldrich). Cartilage was removed from the ears before fixing. Fat tissue and connective tissue were removed from the plugs before fixation. The samples were carefully washed after fixation and incubated with the primary antibodies for 2 days at room temperature. Subsequently, samples were washed and incubated with fluorochrome conjugated secondary antibodies overnight at room temperature. Finally, the samples were mounted with antifading medium (Vectashield; Vector Laboratories).

For cryosections, samples were fixed with 2% PFA for 1 hour at room temperature and incubated in PBS contacting 20% sucrose overnight at 4°C for cryopreservation. Samples were later embedded in OCT compound (Tissue-Tek) and frozen at -70°C. 8–80 µm sections were stained with the primary antibodies overnight at 4°C and subsequently incubated with fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies for 30 min at room temperature in dark. The sections were then mounted with antifading medium.

For colonies in colony assays, methylcellulose medium was carefully removed by washing with PBS. Cells were then fixed in 4% PFA. Subsequently, the cells were washed, blocked with PBS buffer containing 5% normal goat serum, 0.2% BSA, 0.09% Na-Azide, and 0.3% Triton-X, and incubated with the primary antibodies for overnight at 4°C followed by 1-hour fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody incubation at room temperature.

For immunohistochemistry of cryosections, 7- $\mu$ m cryosections were air-dried and fixed in cold acetone for 10 minutes. For blocking endogenous peroxidase, the sections were treated with 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in methanol for 30 minutes. The sections were then rehydrated in PBS for 5 minutes, blocked with 5% normal serum in PBS at room

temperature for 30 minutes, and incubated with primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight. Subsequently, the sections were treated with Vectastain Elite ABC anti-rabbit or anti-rat kits (Vector Laboratories) for primary antibody detection according to manufacturers' instructions followed by 10-minute incubation with Chromogen Immpact DAB or AEC kit (Vector Laboratories). Finally, the slides were mounted using VectaMount AQ medium (Vector Laboratories).

For immunohistochemistry of paraffin sections, the sample sections were first deparaffinized and rehydrated by incubating with xylene, graded washes of ethanol and finally distilled water. After deparaffinizing and rehydrating, the sections were treated using the heat-induced epitope retrieval method with a buffered citric acid solution (Dako). The sections were then incubated for 30 minutes in 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in methanol at room temperature to reduce endogenous peroxidase and blocked with 5% normal serum for 30 minutes at room temperature. Subsequently, the sections were incubated with primary antibodies at 4°C overnight followed by using Vectastain Elite ABC kits for primary antibody detection according to manufacturers' instructions. The peroxidase activity was detected by 10-minute incubation with Chromogen Immpact DAB or AEC. Finally, the slides were mounted using VectaMount AQ medium.

Endochondral ossification was analyzed using Russel-Movat's Pentachrome Stain Kit (American MasterTech) or Safranin-O (Merkck KGaA) according to manufacturers' instruction.

Samples were analyzed and photographed with an Axioplan 2 upright epifluorescence microscope, a Zeiss LSM510 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss; LSM 5 Software version 3.2), Zeiss LSM780 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss; Zen Software) or a Leica DM LB microscope (Leica Microsystems GmbH).

#### Human tumor tissue samples

Paraffin-embedded human tumor samples from patients with histologically diagnosed malignant melanoma and malignant breast cancer were from the archives of the Department of Pathology, University of Helsinki.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

The main results of the study are summarized and are referred to the original publications by using Roman numerals.

## **1. IDENTIFICATION OF VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL STEM CELLS ON THE BLOOD VESSEL WALL (I)**

#### 1.1 RARE ENDOTHELIAL COLONY FORMING CELLS WITH HIGH PROLIFERATIVE ABILITY IN VITRO EXIST WITHIN ADULT ECS

Theoretically, there are two possible ways in the creation of new ECs. It is possible that all differentiated ECs may have the similar ability to produce daughter cells, as pancreatic beta cells do (Dor, 2006; Dor et al., 2004). On the other hand, unidentified resident tissue stem cells may differentiate to de novo ECs, as is the case of the epithelial stem cells in skin (Tumbar et al., 2004). HUVECs and HAECs are differentiated mature ECs with high proliferative ability in vitro (Bompais et al., 2004). Ingram et al. (2005) have identified a subset of cultured vessel wall derived ECs with highly proliferative ability in vitro and vessel formation capability in vivo. Furthermore, in human proepicardium, vascular progenitor cells (VPC) expressing VEGFR-2 and c-kit have been identified in the vascular niches and distributed through the coronary circulation (Bearzi et al., 2009). Additionally, the genetic fate mapping and clonal analysis suggest that it should be local tissue resident cells that contribute to de novo ECs in adult angiogenesis (Rinkevich et al., 2011). However, cells that give rise to vascular endothelium in adult are still not known.

We first assessed if all adult endothelial cells had the similar ability to produce progeny. Thus we isolated lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs from adult mouse lung tissues and examined endothelial colony forming ability of these isolated ECs. Colony-forming cells (CFC) were consistently detected at approximately 1.5 colony-forming units per every thousand lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs (Fig.1A in I). These EC colonies adhered to the culture dish in the methylcellulose medium (Fig.1A in I). Later we confirmed that these formed colonies were EC colonies with the phenotypic expression of various EC markers CD31, VE-cadherin, CD105 and vWF (Fig.1C in I).

Subsequently, we isolated CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs from transgenic C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/6J and wt C57BL/6J mouse lung tissues respectively. The isolated CD31+CD105+ ECs from transgenic C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/6J mouse are GFP-positive and ECs from wt mice are GFP-negative. We mixed one colony-forming unit of the GFP<sup>+</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs with twenty colony-forming units of wt CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs and plated on a 2-D culture. A clonal growth pattern of the GFP<sup>+</sup> ECs was observed after 12-day culture (Fig.1B in I). These results indicated that isolated adult lung lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs contains rare endothelial CFCs.

To further study the proliferative potential of these endothelial CFCs, individual colonies were picked up and expanded in EC growth medium in vitro. Five colonies out of 148 separate colonies were found to have a high proliferative ability to produce tens of millions descendants (Fig.2A in I). These long-term expanded ECs express endothelial markers CD105 and VEGFR-2 (Fig.2B in I). Furthermore, these long-term cultured ECs also expressed stem cell marker c-kit (Fig.2B, Table S1 in I), indicating a potential role of

c-kit in these highly proliferative CFCs. Thus, a subpopulation of ECs with a high proliferation ability and clonal growth pattern in vitro must exist.

#### **1.2 CFCs ARE ENRICHED WITHIN C-KIT<sup>+</sup> POPULATION**

Next, we analyzed the frequency of CFCs in various subpopulations in lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>ECs from mouse lung using CD105, Sca-1 and c-kit by FACS sorting. C-kit and Sca-1 are surface marker molecules expressed by many adult stem cells (Broudy, 1997; Matsui et al., 2004; Shinde Patil et al., 2005). We observed that CD105 and Sca-1 were largely expressed by lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup> ECs from the adult lung vasculature, while about 39% of the population was c-kit-expressing cells (Fig.3A in I). Therefore, we compared the colony forming ability of c-kit-enriched and c-kit-depleted subpopulations of isolated lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>ECs. CFCs were enriched in c-kit-expressing ECs whereas c-kit-depleted ECs hardly formed any EC colonies. A 10-folder higher colony forming frequency was observed in c-kit-enriched ECs compared to c-kit-depleted ECs (Fig.3B in I).

Moreover, a similar CFC frequency of c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs was observed using a different method. A single GFP<sup>+</sup> lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> cell from transgenic C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/6J mice was sorted into individual wells containing 2500 GFP-negative lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup> ECs from wt C57BL/6J mice of 96-well plates using FACS. After a 7-day culture, 0.6% of all 960 wells contained a GFP<sup>+</sup> clonal area (Fig.3C in I).

#### 1.3 EC COLONIES ARE NOT FORMED BY HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS

Further cell-surface antigen expression of c-kit-expressing EC population was analyzed using flow cytometry. Isolated adult lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs also expressed various endothelial-lineage cell markers, such as VE-cadherin, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), VEGFR-2, VEGFR-1, integrin beta 4 and CD34 (Fig.3D in I). Meanwhile, hematopoietic lineage markers including CD45, CD11b, CD115, CXCR4, and F4/80 were not expressed by adult lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs (Fig.3D in I). Moreover, mRNA levels of hematopoietic lineage markers including CD45, CD14, CD16, F4/80 and CD115 were not detected from c-kit expressing ECs (Fig.S2 in I).

To further exclude the possibility that hematopoietic lineage cells might be responsible for the EC colony formation in vitro, we compared the colony forming capacity of lin<sup>-</sup>BM or CD45<sup>+</sup> BM cells with isolated adult lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs. The BM cells produced typical hematopoietic colonies in standard murine hematopoietic colony forming assays, while c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs from adult mouse lung tissues generated only endothelial cell colonies with the same assay settings. Importantly, in endothelial colony assay system, neither lin<sup>-</sup>BM nor CD45<sup>+</sup> BM cells form any colonies (Fig.4D in I).

In addition, lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs from C57bl/6J-Kdrtm1Jrt;lacZ mice and FVB/N-Tg(Tie2-lacZ)182Sato/J mice were isolated and studied in endothelial colony assays in vitro respectively. A lacZ-beta-gal reporter is inserted under Tie-2 promoter or VEGFR-2 promoter, which are expressed primarily by vascular ECs. The positive expression of lacZ in these colonies further confirmed that these colonies were EC colonies (Fig.4E and S4C in I).

Taken together, the EC colonies are not derived from hematopoietic cells. There is a rare population of c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs that has high proliferative ability in vitro while other ECs have limited expansion capacity.

#### 1.4 C-KIT<sup>+</sup> ECs RESIDE ON QUIESCENT AND NEO-ANGIOGENIC VASCULAR VESSEL WALL

Quiescent vasculature from other mouse tissues, such as subcutaneous tissues, liver and kidney, was studied to verify the existence of c-kit-expressing ECs. Lin<sup>-</sup> CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs were observed in all these tissues but its frequency varied among tissues. 18% of lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup> ECs in the liver was c-kit<sup>+</sup> while 2% in the kidney was c-kit expressing ECs. C-kit-expressing ECs were observed on the capillary walls as well as on the arterial walls and in veins (Fig.4A and S3 in I).

In addition, plentiful c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs were observed in subcutaneous B16 melanoma tumor vasculature, as well as in the blood vessels in subcutaneous Matrigel plugs (Fig.4B in I). C-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs were also found in the blood vessels of human malignant melanoma and in invasive breast cancer samples (Fig.4C in I).

It has been reported that juvenile nasopharyngeal angiofibroma and a subset of angiosarcoma express c-kit and resemble fetal ECs (Invernici et al., 2005; Miettinen et al., 2000). C-kit expression is also identified on other tumor endothelium, including glioblastoma, renal clear cell carcinoma and Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpes virus (Miettinen and Lasota, 2005; Miettinen et al., 2000; Moses et al., 2002a, b; Sihto et al., 2009). C-kit expression on the quiescent blood vasculature was quite low whereas neo-angiogenic blood vessels contained various c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs (Fig.4 in I). This indicated a possible role of c-kit in regulating endothelial proliferation. End differentiated ECs have very limited proliferation rate during homeostatic turnover. During angiogenesis processes such as tumor angiogenesis, mature vascular ECs might also acquire more stem-ness characteristics in vivo and turn into a transient state, for instance, by turning on c-kit expression.

#### 1.5 C-KIT<sup>+</sup> ECs ENCLOSE VESCs

## 1.5.1 FUNCTIONAL BLOOD VESSELS GENERATED FROM A SINGLE C-KIT EXPRESSING CELL IN VIVO

The ability to generate descendants is one of the properties possessed by stem/progenitor cells. Thus,  $GFP^+$  ECs originating from a single  $GFP^+$  lin<sup>-</sup> CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> CFC were transplanted with Matrigel subcutaneously into syngeneic wt C57bl/6J mice. First,  $GFP^+$  lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs from the lung tissues of adult C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice were isolated and seeded at a density of one CFC per plate in endothelial colony assays. After 12 to 14 days, individual colonies were picked up and transplanted with Matrigel to wt mice. GFP-positive tube formations were observed in these Matrigel after 2 weeks (Fig. 5). Furthermore, to learn if these GFP+ tubes are functional blood vessels and connected to the host circulation, we performed blood perfusion on the host mice with red fluorescein-labeled microspheres (Fig.5B in I). GFP<sup>+</sup> vessels were labeled with these microspheres indicating the functionality of the vasculature formed by descendants of a single lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> CFC.



Fig. 5 A single c-kit expressing colony forming cell generates functional blood vessels in Matrigel. This is a macroscopic graph of the whole Matrigel illustrating  $GFP^+$  blood vessels formed from one single GFP-tagged c-kit<sup>+</sup> VESC. Scale bar: 200  $\mu$ m

#### 1.5.2 IN VIVO SELF-RENEWAL

The other functional characteristic of adult stem cells is the self-renewal ability. This means that they are capable of generating numerous proliferative progenitors repeatedly under stimulation. Thus we designed a serial transplantation experiment using subcutaneous B16 melanoma models with adult GFP<sup>+</sup> CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>ECs isolated from C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice (Fig. 6). GFP<sup>+</sup> vessels were identified in tumor vasculature from the primary transplants to the tertiary transplants (Fig.5C in I). These results proved that transplanted GFP+ ECs contained VESCs with self-renewal ability.

#### 1.5.3 IN VIVO BLOOD VESSEL FORMATION OF C-KIT<sup>+</sup> ECs

To confirm in vivo whether  $lin^{C}D31^{+}CD105^{+}Sca-1^{+}c-kit^{+}$  ECs are enriched for VESCs with the ability to form blood vessels, we transplanted freshly isolated adult  $lin^{-}CD31^{+}CD105^{+}Sca-1^{+}c-kit^{-}$  ECs isolated from C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice with Matrigel subcutaneously into syngeneic wt C57bl/6J mice. After 14 days, only occasional GFP+ ECs, not GFP<sup>+</sup> vessels, from c-kit-depleted transplants containing high numbers of c-kit-depleted ECs were observed. In contrast, abundant GFP<sup>+</sup> vessels were found in all twelve c-kit-enriched transplants (Fig.6 in I). Thus, we confirmed that c-kit<sup>+</sup> ECs were enriched with VESCs capable of generating new blood vessels in vivo.



**Fig. 6: Schematic illustration of serial transplantation.** This is an illustration of a serial transplantation flow chart.  $GFP^+$  ECs isolated from the transgenic mice were co-transplanted with B16 melanoma to a syngeneic wt mouse. After 14 days, the tumor was collected and  $lin^+$  cells were depleted. Lin<sup>-</sup> fraction containing  $GFP^+$  ECs and B16 melanoma cells were then transplanted to a secondary recipient.

#### 1.6 THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF C-KIT IN ECs

C-kit, a tyrosine kinase growth factor receptor, is important in stem cell survival and proliferation (Fleming et al., 1993; Ikuta et al., 1991; Ikuta and Weissman, 1992). The KIT null mutation leads to an embryonic death in mice (Russell, 1979). Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> mutation is an inversion in 5' regulatory sequences of the c-kit gene resulting in defective c-kit expression (Grimbaldeston et al., 2005). The Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> homozygote mice are healthy and fertile but have tissue-specific defects in c-kit expression and a deficiency in mast cells (Duttlinger et al., 1993; Grimbaldeston et al., 2005). Immunohistological and RNA expression studies on the Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> homozygotes have shown that c-kit expression is normal in the testis and brain, while absent in mast cells and lung (Duttlinger et al., 1993; Grimbaldeston et al., 2005). Accordingly, we found that c-kit expression in Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> homozygotes was low or undetectable in lung tissues including lung vasculature (Fig.7A in I). In the isolated adult ECs from Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> homozygote mice, significantly fewer endothelial CFCs were found (Fig.7B in I), indicating a possible role of c-kit in endothelial colony forming and endothelial proliferation. Impaired tumor angiogenesis and retardation of tumor growth were observed in Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> homozygote mice (Fig.7C and 7D in I). It has been shown that SCF stimulates the survival and the ability of capillary formation in HUVECs (Matsui et al., 2004). Together with our results, SCF/c-kit signaling is important for proliferative capacity of ECs. Moreover, there were a significantly decreased number of proliferating ECs in the tumors from Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> homozygote mice. Taking into account the possible effect of c-kit deficient hematopoietic system on tumor growth, we also did a total myeloablation to wt C57bl/6J mice. We then reconstituted these mice with BM from Kit<sup>W-sh</sup> mutant and from healthy wt C57bl/6J mice. No difference in tumor growth was observed between these two groups (Fig.S5 in I). Thus we concluded that the retardation in tumor angiogenesis and growth was an effect of endothelial c-kit deficiency and did not result from hematopoietic c-kit deficiency.

The current results provide solid evidence on adult endothelial lineage hierarchy (Fig.8 in I). Considering the role of VESCs in cellular turnover and angiogenesis, these cells may

be useful in cellular therapies to restore blood vessels in ischemic diseases. Thus, more detailed phenotypic characterization on these cells is required in order to identify and isolate VESCs more efficiently. Solely depending on cell surface antigen characterization on VESCs is not enough since side populations/other cells expressing the same markers may be still included. Clonal analysis and cell lineage tracking are needed for a further understating of these cells.

#### 2. MECHANISMS OF TGF- $\beta$ IN INDUCING ANGIOGENESIS (II)

The role of TGF- $\beta$  in regulating vascular endothelium is complicated. It has been shown that TGF- $\beta$  may promote angiogenesis in vivo (Madri et al., 1988; Roberts et al., 1986; Yang and Moses, 1990). On the other hand, TGF- $\beta$  induces EC apoptosis in vitro and potentially inhibits vascular growth (reviewed in Pardali et al., 2010).

#### 2.1 ANGIOGENIC EFFECT OF TGF-β IN VIVO

In our studies, in line with other reports (Madri et al., 1988; Roberts et al., 1986; Yang and Moses, 1990), we confirmed that TGF-\u00b31 induced angiogenesis. Mice that received TGF- $\beta$ 1 or VEGF<sub>164</sub> injections subcutaneously in the ear showed elevated vascular density (Fig.1 in II). Notably, the ears of mice injected with TGF- $\beta$ 1 were also thicker than mice treated with PBS buffer or VEGF<sub>164</sub> (Fig. 1B in II). In the ears of TGF- $\beta$  treated mice, some vascular mural cells were loosely associated to the blood vessels (Fig.2 in II). The irregular pattern of pericytes in these TGF- $\beta$  treated mice is in agreement with earlier findings on the effect of TGF-B on mural cells (Carvalho et al., 2007). In addition, the vasculature in TGF-B treated mice displayed an abnormal and disorganized pattern including the enlargement of vascular lumen (Fig.2 in II). In chronic inflammation, enlarged vascular lumen is one parameter in the vascular remodeling, which is similar to the TGF- $\beta$  induced angiogenesis (Alagappan et al., 2013; Siafakas et al., 2007). It has been long known that TGF- $\beta$  has a chemotactic effect. Many immune effective cells such as macrophages are responsive to TGF- $\beta$ . Similarly, in vivo TGF- $\beta$  deficiency leads to an inhibited inflammatory response (Wang et al., 2010b). It is possible that TGF- $\beta$  may recruit hematopoietic cells to the microenvironment and induce angiogenesis.

#### 2.2 ANGIOGENIC HEMATOPOIETIC EFFECTORs IN ANGIOGENESIS (II & III)

To test our hypothesis, we transplanted GFP-tagged BM from C57bl/6-Tg(ACTB-EGFP)1Osb/J mice to wt C57BL/6J mice in order to trace the hematopoietic cells. When treated with TGF- $\beta$  in the ears of these GFP-BM reconstituted mice, a massive recruitment of GFP<sup>+</sup> BMDCs was observed (Fig.3A in II). Furthermore, we confirmed this observation by detecting CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in the TGF- $\beta$  treated ears of wt C57BL/6J mice. CD45 is a pan hematopoietic cell marker. Concurrently, VEGF secretion in the TGF- $\beta$  treated mice was also increased when comparing to mice treated with buffer (Fig.3B in II). Many of these infiltrated hematopoietic cells were in close contact to the vasculature (Fig.3D in II). Besides the close spatial association with vasculature, abundant evidence have shown that hematopoietic cells contribute to angiogenesis mostly by secreting angiogenic factors (reviewed in Fang and Salven, 2011). It is highly possible that the recruited hematopoietic cells were subsequently shown by immunostaining (Fig.3C in II). These VEGF-expressing hematopoietic effectors recruited by TGF- $\beta$ 1 may play a central role in the in vivo

angiogenic effect of TGF- $\beta$ 1. It is possible that TGF- $\beta$ 1 acts as a chemotactic molecule to recruit VEGF-expressing hematopoietic cells to induce angiogenesis. The other scenario is that TGF- $\beta$ 1 acts as a chemotactic molecule to recruit hematopoietic effectors and also directly induces the expression of VEGF in these hematopoietic effectors.

Considering the massive recruitment of BM-derived cells, many inflammatory cells may constitute a major population in those cells. Moreover, in tumorigenesis, where angiogenesis is active, chronic inflammation is also evoked (Balkwill and Mantovani, 2012; Candido and Hagemann, 2013). More and more attention has been drawn to the complicated interactions among inflammation, angiogenesis and tumorigenesis.

#### 2.3 TGF-β INDUCED ANGIOGENESIS IS MODULATED VIA VEGF

To further elucidate the mechanism of TGF- $\beta$  in regulating angiogenesis, we first treated mice with TGF- $\beta$  in combination with immune-neutralizing anti-mouse VEGF antibodies or control IgG. The recruitment of infiltrating hematopoietic cells was not affected (Fig.4 in II) in mice that received VEGF neutralizing antibodies, but angiogenesis in these mice was strongly inhibited (Fig.4C in II). This indicated that the VEGF-expressing hematopoietic effector cells could regulate TGF- $\beta$  induced angiogenesis.

To understand the mechanisms of action of TGF- $\beta$ , we then treated human PBMNCs in vitro with TGF- $\beta$ . mRNA levels of VEGF in human PBMNCs were increased by TGF- $\beta$  stimulation on a dose dependent manner (Fig.5A in II). TGF- $\beta$  also affected VEGF protein secretion. Stimulating PBMNCs with 2 ng/ml of TGF- $\beta$  in serum free medium resulted in a significant increase in VEGF secretion dependent on time course (Fig.5C in II). Furthermore, VEGF secretion of PBMNCs was blocked when PBMNCs were treated with 2 ng/ml of TGF- $\beta$  and 1 mmol/L of cycloheximide (Fig.5C in II). Taken together, the VEGF protein production and its mRNA synthesis were induced by TGF- $\beta$  in PBMNCs in vitro. These in vitro results indicated that TGF- $\beta$ 1 not only acted as a chemotactic molecule to recruit hematopoietic effectors but also a direct inducer of VEGF production in these hematopoietic effectors.

#### 2.4 TGF-β INDUCED HEMATOPOIETIC VEGF SECRETION IS REGULATED BY p38 AND p44/p42 MAPK PATHWAYs

Next, we studied the signaling pathways involved in TGF- $\beta$  induced hematopoietic VEGF secretion. p38 and p44/p42 MAPK pathways were found to be involved in the TGF- $\beta$  induced VEGF secretion. Blocking these pathways with inhibitors resulted in the suppression of VEGF secretion by the human PBMNCs and also prevented the secretion of VEGF induced by TGF- $\beta$  (Fig. 6 in II). In vivo, in line with our in vitro findings, activated p38 or p44/42 was observed in infiltrating hematopoietic cells in TGF- $\beta$  treated mice (Fig. 6 in II).

#### 2.5 DUAL ACTION MECHANISMs OF TGF-β IN INDUCING ANGIOGENESIS

Bone marrow derived cells have been shown to be involved in many angiogenic situations, including tumor angiogenesis. These infiltrating cells contribute to angiogenesis in a paracrine manner and function as a rich source of angiogenic factors (Fang and Salven, 2011). Although the in vitro models in some studies show an inhibitory effect of TGF- $\beta$  on EC growth (Pepper et al., 1993), TGF- $\beta$  induces angiogenesis in vivo. The balance between ALK1 and ALK5 signaling pathway in ECs may be one mechanism elucidating the actions of TGF- $\beta$  (Oh et al., 2000). Interactions of infiltrating cells and

stromal cells in the microenvironment provide an alternative mechanism of TGF- $\beta$  induced angiogenesis. We found that TGF- $\beta$ 1 had a chemotactic effect on hematopoietic cells and directly induced the VEGF production of these hematopoietic effectors. In general, TGF- $\beta$  recruits a massive amount of hematopoietic cells to infiltrate to the local environment and directly induce infiltrating hematopoietic cells to secrete VEGF. The dual actions of TGF- $\beta$  then lead to induced angiogenesis and vascular remodeling.

## **3. ECTOPIC HEMATOPOIETIC MICROENVIRONMENT IN TUMORs (III)**

#### 3.1 PROLIFERATING HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS IN TUMOR

Hematopoietic infiltration is important for tumorigenesis (Murdoch et al., 2008; Shojaei et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2007). Many others have observed a massive recruitment of hematopoietic cells in the tumor microenvironment (Coffelt et al., 2010; De Palma et al., 2005; De Palma et al., 2003; Nozawa et al., 2006). Accordingly, we quantified the amount of mature hematopoietic cells and their committed progenitors residing in the tumor environment ( $0.86 \pm 0.21$  cm<sup>3</sup>, mean  $\pm$  SE) to that of hematopoietic stem cell niche in the bone. The lineage markers are an antibody cocktail (including Ter-119, CD5, B220, CD11b and Gr-1) that is targeted to mature hematopoietic cells, such as B cells, T cells, monocytes/macrophages, granulocytes, erythrocytes and their committed precursors. A comparable number of lin<sup>+</sup> cells (mature hematopoietic cells and their committed precursors) were enclosed in the tumor microenvironment as in the BM of one tibia (Fig.1A in III). We also found that B16 melanoma tumor microenvironment enclosed large numbers of proliferating hematopoietic cells (ki-67<sup>+</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup>) as well as human primary tumors (Fig.1 in III). Additionally, histone H3 is one of the histone proteins in the core chromatin in eukaryotic cells. Serine 10 and 28 on histone H3 are only phosphorylated during mitosis and histones are not phosphorylated during apoptosis (Goto et al., 1999; Gurley et al., 1978; Paulson and Taylor, 1982; Wei et al., 1998). By using an antibody against phosphorylated histone H3 (Ser10), we also observed tumor infiltrating hematopoietic cells undergoing mitoses (Fig.1A in III). These proliferating hematopoietic cells in murine melanomas were heterogeneous populations expressing common progenitor markers and also myeloid markers, Sca-1, F4/80 and CD11b (Supplemental Fig.1 in III). Importantly, the proliferating hematopoietic cells in situ were able to secrete angiogenic factors such as VEGF and MMP-9, indicating their paracrine roles in supporting tumor angiogenesis (Fig.1A in III). Hematopoietic cells have been found to induce tumor angiogenesis by secreting angiogenic factors such as VEGF and MMP-9 (Bergers et al., 2000; Fang and Salven, 2011; Murdoch et al., 2008; Nozawa et al., 2006). Monocytes and MDSCs have been found to contribute to tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis (De Palma et al., 2005; Dolcetti et al., 2008; Squadrito and De Palma, 2011; Venneri et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2004). Local proliferation of macrophages has been found during inflammation and atherosclerosis (Jenkins et al., 2011; Robbins et al., 2013). The prominent proliferating hematopoietic cells we observed may constitute largely by these proliferating myeloid cells. However, extramedullary hematopoiesis has been found in yolk sac, fetal liver and spleen (Kim, 2010). It would be interesting to investigate whether a more primitive hematopoietic progenitor population capable of producing progeny exists inside tumors.

#### 3.2 HEMATOPOIETIC PROGENITORS RESIDE IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

In adult mouse bone marrow, lin<sup>-/low</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> (LSK) cells are a heterogeneous population of multipotent cells (Manz et al., 2002; Morrison et al., 1997; Uchida et al., 1994). Later, SLAM families (CD48, CD150, CD229, and CD41) are applied to distinguish HSCs, HPCs and MPPs (Kiel et al., 2005; Oguro et al., 2013). To further study these amplifying hematopoietic cells, we analyzed the heterogeneity of lin<sup>-/low</sup> CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in tumors using FACS and investigated progenitor numbers in these cells. CFU-GM, CFU-GEMM and BFU-E were identified in the assay (Fig.2A in III), indicating lin-/low CD45<sup>+</sup> tumor associated hematopoietic cells enclosed progenitors with the capacity to produce multiple linages. We found LSK cells were  $4.9\% \pm 1.3\%$  (mean  $\pm$  SE) of tumor associated lin<sup>-/low</sup> hematopoietic cells. HSPC composition of LSK cells using CD48 and CD150 from tumor had a similar rate in MPPs as from BM while HSCs and HPCs are derivate (Fig.2B in III). However, much fewer progenitors were enclosed in 500 of lintumor associated hematopoietic cells compared 500 of lin<sup>-</sup>BM hematopoietic cells (3.4± 1.3 vs 37.2  $\pm$ 6.2, total CFUs, mean  $\pm$  SE, Fig. 7A). HSCs have been found in BM and other tissues including adult liver (Taniguchi et al., 1996). However, they are considered to have very little function outside specific anatomic locations (Scadden, 2006). It was possible that tumor-associated primitive hematopoietic progenitors might express progenitor markers but lack HSPC activity. This may possibly explain that tumor associated lin hematopoietic cells contains much fewer progenitors than BM hematopoietic cells whereas phenotypic composition were similar. Phenotypic marker expressions of HSPCs in tumors may also be affected by the tumor microenvironment. This is another possible explanation. Considering the limited amount of these populations in the BM and possibly even less amount in tumors, it is very challenging to identify their existence in a solid and repeatable manner using current detection method such as FACS as tumor cells represent the major population of the tumor mass. Thus, lineage depletion and CD45 enrichment using MACS of tumor samples are very important to exclude as many melanoma cells as possible. Lin<sup>-/low</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> cells from tumor may be then further purified using FACS. However, the contamination of tumor cells is inevitable. In colony assays where tumor associated lin<sup>-/low</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> cells are assessed, contaminating tumor cells also grow and form tumor spheroids. Thus, to avoid or to eliminate the effect of the inevitable contaminating tumor cells as much as possible, it is very essential to optimize the seeding density in the assay. This also may result in an underestimated low progenitor numbers from colony assays as tumor cells compete with HSPCs for nutrients. It will be very interesting to know whether other progenitor populations, such as CLPs, CMPs, MEP and GMPs (using lineage, Sca-1, c-Kit, CD16/32 and CD34) (Akashi et al., 2000), can be identified in the tumor mass. Whether functional HSCs truly exist inside tumors also need to be further investigated, for instance by isolating highly-purified HSCs (e.g. LSK, CD48<sup>-</sup>  $CD150^+$ ) from tumor and analyzing their repopulation ability by transplanting into syngeneic irradiated mice in vivo and colony-forming ability in vitro in a single-cell culture.



Fig.7. Hematopoietic Progenitors in Tumors. (A) Hematopoietic colony assays showed that tumor microenvironment encloses hematopoietic progenitors whereas the frequency was much lower than in the BM. Total colony units were counted under an inverted microscope after 8 days. (B) Lin<sup>-</sup> hematopoietic cells (lin<sup>-</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup>) were found in proximity to tumor vasculature (vWF). Cells that were in proximity to the vessels (white arrow) were found. A representative confocal scan shows their spatial relation. CD45: green, Lineage: Magneta, vWF: Cyan. Scale bar: 50  $\mu$ m

In preliminary studies, we studied lin<sup>-</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in tumors. Lin<sup>-</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in close contact to vasculature were identified. However,  $\lim CD45^+$  cells near but not in close contact to the vasculature were also identified (Fig. 7B). This result is still quite circumstantial, since lin CD45<sup>+</sup> cells only enclosed a small number of progenitors. In the bone, quiescent HSCs are found to be close to osteoblast while activated HSCs are located near sinusoid vessels (Ding et al., 2012). Lin<sup>-</sup>CD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup> cells have been used to detect HSCs in immunofluorescence. In fact, it has been found that 38% of HSCs in spleen and 26% of HSCs in the bone marrow are not visibly in close contact to endothelium (Kiel et al., 2005). More recently, it has been identified that 36.8% and 67% of HSCs were located near arterioles and sinusoids while 14.9% and 32.9% are found to be adjacent (Kunisaki et al., 2013). On the other hand, HSCs have been found in liver and spleen and extramedullary hematopoiesis is observed in these tissues with the absence of osteoblastic niche (Kim, 2010). In tumors, we found that lin<sup>-</sup>CD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup> cells locate in proximity to tumor vasculature (Fig.2C in III). However, unlike in the BM where lin<sup>-</sup>CD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup> cells are exclusively CD45<sup>+</sup> (Kiel et.al, 2005), tumor blood vessels express also CD150. To be sure that the detected cells are of hematopoietic origin, in additional to markers, such as CD45 or fluorescence-tagged BM, a cocktail of lineage markers are required to trace tumor associated hematopoietic cells are required in order to identify genuine HSPCs in tumors. Lin<sup>-</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic cells (CD45<sup>+</sup> or GFP-tagged) in tumors were studied in our preliminary experiments to examine their spatial interaction between tumor vasculature (using CD31, vWF or VE-Cadherin). Combinations of Alexa 405, Alexa 488, Alexa 594 and Alexa 647 were used. However, at least in our hands, such fluorescent combination and detection of surface markers were not stable and provided good signals on the blue fluorescent. A few conjugated antibodies were also tested in order to optimize the detection in a stable and repeatable manner. Unfortunately and similarly, those combinations neither were detected in a repeatable manner nor provided good signals. It remains unclear, even in the BM HSC niches, whether these HSCs and progenitors were migrating or whether they locate in other possible niches that remain unrecognized. Whether HSPCs in tumors are associated with tumor vasculature in a similar pattern as in the bone is not known yet. To further study HSPCs (e.g. LSK or HSCs) enclosed in tumor and elucidate the possible niche structure, a more powerful and repeatable four-five-color immunofluorescence detection method is needed to elucidate the possible niche structure in tumors. HSCs and progenitors circulate freely in the circulation system. Tumors are

highly vascularized and a vascular niche has been recently described in the bone marrow (Ding et al., 2012). Whether there is a possible existence of an extramedullary vascular niche in tumors needs further detailed investigation.

#### 3.3 HEMATOPOIETIC MICROENVIRONMENT IN TUMOR

We also studied whether tumor microenvironment had some common features of the BM HSC niches. Adhesion molecules, paracrine signaling molecules of osteoblastic and vascular niche and signs of endochondral ossification were identified in all murine melanomas and human tumors samples we examined (Fig.3 in III). Since our immunohistological studies showed a potential for osteoblast or osteoblast development, it would be interesting to find out in future if maturation of a specific cell type could be possible in tumors and further determine the cellular origin of the potential osteoblast or osteoblast development. However, current studies have shown controversial issues on the function molecules that defines HSC niche. For instance, in the osteoblastic HSC niche in the osteoblastic niche (Zhang et al., 2003; Kiel et al., 2009). Moreover, although quiescent HSCs locate near osteoblasts and osteopontin is expressed by these osteoblasts, study has shown that osteopontin may negatively control the HSC pool size (Stier et al., 2005). These results may indicate, on the other hand, the importance of the vascular niche.

Genomic profiling on melanoma has shown that melanoma cells express osteopontin, N-cadherin, Angiopoietin-1, Jagged-1, SDF-1 and β-catenin (Alonso et al., 2007; Blackburn et al., 2009; Chien et al., 2009; Haqq et al., 2005; Harlin et al., 2009; Kashani-Sabet, 2004; Kashani-Sabet et al., 2009; Ramgolam et al., 2011; Shoo et al., 2010). RNAseq data (level 3) for 375 skin cutaneous melanoma samples were downloaded from the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database (Network, 2008). Duplicated and metastasis samples were then removed from the sample set. Analysis to samples were limited to samples with less than 100% of tumor cell content in order to capture as much as possible from the gene expression of normal and stromal cells within the tumor. By this criterion, 54 primary tumor melanoma samples were yielded from the 375-sample set. We then analyzed these eight gene expressions (ANGPT1, CDH2, CTNNB1, CXCL12, JAG1, SPP1, VCAM1 and VEGFA) in 54 human primary melanomas samples. According to their logarithmic RSEM expression level in the primary melanomas, the values were classified into high (>10), intermediate (5-10) and low (<5) (Fig.3 in III). The cutoff value of 5 is a conservative estimate representing about the lowest 40% of expression values over the entire 375-sample set. We considered that low expression values (<5) to be insubstantially expressed in the tumor samples. In accordance with our immunohistochemistry analysis, all these eight genes were expressed in these 54 samples. Six of these eight genes were simultaneously expressed in 96% of the sample set, while 30% of the primary melanoma samples concurrently express all eight genes. In addition, 93% of the primary melanoma samples expressed PTPRC (also known as CD45, a hematopoietic cell surface marker) and 89% of them expressed ITGAM (also known as CD11b, expressed by monocytes, granulocytes, macrophages and nature killer cells (Solovjov et al., 2005)). In addition, all 54 melanoma samples concurrently expressed CXCR4, receptor for SDF-1 (CXCL12), at a high or intermediate level.

## 3.4 IN VIVO EVACUATION OF HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS FROM TUMORS BY AMD3100

AMD 3100, a non-peptide antagonist of CXCR4, is used in clinics to mobilize hematopoietic stem/progenitors from HSC niches to peripheral circulation (Broxmeyer et al., 2005; De Clercq, 2003; De Clercq, 2009; Liles et al., 2003). AMD3100 specifically antagonizes the interaction between SDF-1 and CXCR4 and thus HSCs, instead of homing to BM, are mobilized into circulation (De Clercq, 2009). Earlier studies have shown that AMD3100 mobilizes HSCs to the circulation in ischemia and inhibit BMDCs recruitment (especially CXCR4<sup>+</sup> hemangiocytes) in brain tumor (Capoccia et al., 2006; Kioi et al., 2010). In agreement, we showed that the both hematopoietic cell density and vascular density were decreased by AMD3100 blocking in murine melanomas in vivo whereas AMD3100 does not affect the proliferation of melanoma tumor cells in vitro (Fig.4 in III). Moreover, proliferating hematopoietic cells in tumors was also decreased by AMD3100 blocking, while the colony forming ability of BM cells was not affected by AMD3100 (Fig.4 in III). Thus this indicated that AMD3100 not only inhibited total hematopoietic cell recruitment but also proliferating hematopoietic cells and thus resulted in inhibited tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis. Future studies on analysis of HSPC compartment changes in tumors, BM, and peripheral blood caused by AMD3100 is needed to clearly elucidate the mechanism of AMD3100 on HSPC in tumors.

Nevertheless, the effect of AMD3100 on inhibiting tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis may not be elucidated as a single mechanism of action on one cell type. Tumors interact with the stromal microenvironment during growth and development. It has been shown that tumor cells preferably metastasize to CXCL12-rich niches in several mouse models and also are able to compete with HSCs for endosteal niche when homing to BM through CXCR4/CXCL12 axis (Hassan et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2010; Shiozawa et al., 2011). It is possible that AMD3100 not only affect the recruitment of hematopoietic cells including HSPCs but also affect their secretion of angiogenic factors. It is also possible that AMD3100 treated tumor cells exert a trophic effect on infiltrated hematopoietic cells and subsequently affect the whole tumor microenvironment leading to inhibited tumor growth. Genomic profiling or proteomic analysis of the effect of AMD3100 on tumor cells and BMDCs will be helpful to understand the mechanism of action of AMD3100 on tumor growth.

In conclusion, during tumorigenesis, the malignant tumors initiated an ectopic microenvironment that shares the common features possessed by osteoblastic and vascular niche in the bone (Fig.5 in III). The tumor environment enclosed hematopoietic progenitors with multilineage potential. Phenotypic HSPC compartment analysis of tumor associated hematopoietic cells showed deviated expression from that of BM. The therapeutic ablation of proliferating hematopoietic cells from the ectopic niche would lead to an inhibition on tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis. These hematopoietic effectors support angiogenesis in a paracrine manner.

It is very attempting to hypothesize that tumor cells, together with tumor ECs, initiate a niche environment that mimics the HSC niches to support HSPCs in the tumor microenvironment. The idea of the possible existence that an extramedullary vascular niche may contribute to the initiation and creation of HSC niche in these tissues and many other cell types may also be capable to create a HSC niche environment is also very interesting. Additional work will be required to fully prove this hypothesis. Whether these

adhesive and secretive molecules that we observed in the tumor microenvironment are indispensable for the HSPCs in the tumor also needs further specific signaling studies on each of these axes. Future studies demonstrating local inhibition of niche signals that affect niche functions in tumors shall be conducted to fully understand the interactions among tumor growth, HSPCs and niche functions.

### **CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTIVES**

Most tissues contain tissue-specific stem cells that allow them to undergo tissue maintenance and regeneration. Various tissue-specific stem cells and progenitors are actively participating in angiogenesis by generating daughter cells composing blood vessels or by secreting various angiogenic factors.

The cellular origin of de novo endothelial cells during adult vascular growth is a fundamental question in vascular biology. A rare VESC population with high proliferative potential is present somewhere, for example, in existing blood vessel in situ, and responds to neo-vascularization by generating endothelial cells (Rinkevich et al., 2011). Notably, during early embryonic development, aorta-gonad-mesonephric region (AGM) contains HSCs that arise from aortic endothelium, which indicates an embryonic endothelial-hematopoietic transition (Kissa and Herbomel, 2010). The vascular wall is also considered to harbor various progenitor cells including MSCs, HSCs, and smooth muscle progenitor cells (Hu et al., 2004). Taken together, the vascular wall may serve as a reservoir of progenitors of many lineages. Our results showed that rare self-renewing c-kit<sup>+</sup> adult VESCs residing on the vascular wall were involved in adult angiogenesis by generating functional blood vessels in vivo. With an endothelial c-kit defect, the colony-forming ability of VESCs and in vivo tumor growth and angiogenesis were abolished.

C-kit may regulate the stem cell-like characteristics and proliferative potential in ECs. By targeting c-kit/SCF axis in ECs may result in potential therapeutic benefits in patients. Additionally, c-kit expression is identified along the endothelial tubes within the endometrium assigned to pericytes. Similarly, c-kit positive pericytary networks have been identified along the endothelial tubes within the uterine tube wall (Rusu et al., 2013). The capability of these c-kit<sup>+</sup> VESCs to differentiate/transdifferentiate into mural cells needs to be further studied.

In many clinical trials, chemotherapies are frequently combined with anti-angiogenic drugs to treat cancer. It would also be interesting and potentially therapeutically useful to know how VESCs react to chemotherapies and anti-angiogenesis drugs and subsequently affect angiogenesis. VESCs, responsible for the generation of de novo blood vessels, would be a more ideal and precise therapeutic target to inhibit angiogenesis.

On the other hand, abundant hematopoietic cells are recruited to local microenvironment in angiogenesis, especially during tumor angiogenesis (De Palma and Naldini, 2006; De Palma et al., 2005; De Palma et al., 2003; Rajantie et al., 2004). Similarly, in TGF- $\beta$  induced angiogenesis, we also observed a massive recruitment of infiltrating hematopoietic cells. These infiltrating hematopoietic cells were in close connection to the blood vessels (Fig. 3D in II). TGF- $\beta$  caused a prominent hematopoietic cell infiltration in mice and induced them to secrete VEGF through p44/p42 and p38 MAPK signaling pathway in vivo. The results elucidated the dual action mechanism by which TGF- $\beta$  induces angiogenesis in vivo.

We also found an abnormal morphology of the vasculature, including an irregular pericyte pattern and enlarged vascular lumen. The enlarged vascular lumen indicated that an inflammation might be induced by TGF- $\beta$ . Angiogenesis and inflammation are connected in many pathological conditions, such as tumorigenesis (reviewed in Balkwill and Mantovani, 2012; Candido and Hagemann, 2013; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000, 2011). Inflammation may contribute to the microenvironment by supplying proangiogenic

factors and extracellular matrix-modifying enzymes (DeNardo et al., 2010; Grivennikov and Karin, 2010a, b; Karnoub and Weinberg, 2006). Further studies on the interactions among hematopoietic cells, blood vessels and local microenvironment will provide more information on the complexity of tumorigenesis.

In the thesis work, we also showed that it is possible that malignant tumor initiated an ectopic hematopoietic microenvironment by possessing common signatures of osteoblastic and vascular HSC niches. We found that tumor microenvironment contained hematopoietic progenitors with the ability to produce BFU-E, CFU-GM and CFU-GEMM in vitro. The frequencies on phenotypic expression detected of HSPCs using SLAM family (HSC, MPP and HPC) were deviated from HSPCs in the BM. Multipotent hematopoietic progenitors resided within the tumor and generated hematopoietic cells and secreted angiogenic factors to support tumor growth and angiogenesis. Lin<sup>-</sup>CD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup> cells were found in proximity to tumor vasculature. Whether the identified HSCs are functional still need further investigation. Our immunohistochemical and RNAseq analysis showed that tumor microenvironment shared common features of the microenvironment in the bone marrow. However, whether an extramedullary perivascular niche exists inside tumor is not fully elucidated. Enlightening from the evolving definition on BM niche components and their regulatory mechanisms on hematopoiesis are needed to further clarify the possible extramedullary perivascular niche. Evacuation of hematopoietic cells using AMD3100 in tumor-bearing mice resulted in a decreased level of proliferating hematopoietic cells in tumors accompanied by inhibited tumor growth and angiogenesis (Fig.4 in III). The newly discovered tumor hematopoietic progenitors and their residing microenvironment in our results provided evidence on the new components of tumor microenvironment. Tumor, considering as a developing organ entity, encloses a heterogeneous population of cells and requires crosstalk between the tumor entity and the tumor vasculature. Tumor vasculature may also provide angiocrine signals that affect cell differentiation in the developing tumors as it is in other developing organ such as liver and bone (Ding et al., 2014; Ding et al., 2011). Understanding how HSPCs and their progeny, tumor cells, blood vessels and other cells in the microenvironment work in concert to regulate tumor growth and development will provide opportunities to improve current cancer therapy.

As such, the identification and characterization of c-kit-expressing VESCs by phenotype lin<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>c-kit<sup>+</sup> on the vascular wall in this thesis work provided important evidence on the cellular origin of de novo ECs in adult vascular growth. Further identification of additional and more powerful cell-surface markers is needed for more efficient isolation of VESCs. With a more detailed understanding of VESCs, potential cellular therapeutics using these cells may be applied to patients. On the other hand, in various angiogenic conditions, proliferating hematopoietic progenitors and infiltrating hematopoietic cells secrete angiogenic factors such as VEGF to support angiogenesis. Further studies on the interactions among hematopoietic progenitors, hematopoietic effector cells, blood vessels and other cellular components of the local microenvironment would provide more potential therapeutic targets to affect tumor growth.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was carried out in Molecular Cancer Biology Program, University of Helsinki, in addition to Department of Pathology, Haartman Institute during the years 2007-2013. I express my gratitude to Professor Olli Jänne, Eero Saksela, Pekka Häyry, Seppo Meri, Tom Böhling, and Kalle Saksela for excellent facilities. I also want to thank the staff at Biomedicum and Haartman Institute for a pleasant working atmosphere. I would also like to thank Graduate Program in Molecular Biology and Biotechnology for the financial support as well as for arranging interesting and useful courses and providing me the opportunities to arranging other extracurricular events.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my thesis supervisor Petri Salven for providing me the opportunity to work in his group. Your dedication to science and great enthusiasm to pursue challenging questions are very inspiring. Also I want to thank you for your brilliant guidance and inspiration. Most of all, I am really grateful for your guidance on independence thinking and your critical advice. I also thank for your support and understanding especially when I had to work under extreme stress.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my thesis follow-up committee, Professor Jorma Keski-Oja and Pentti Tienari. Thank you for your critical comments, encouragement and help on both my thesis work, problems I encountered during the years, and my future career planning. I would like to thank Klaus Elenius and Juha Partanen for their prompt acceptance to review my thesis work and their kind and constructive comments. I would like to thank Erkki Raulo for his help and encouragement during my time in GPBM program.

I also want to thank all of co-authors without whom this work would not have been possible. Particular thanks go to Jing and Nalle. Thank you for your enthusiasm and the hard work on the projects. I am also very grateful for Susanna who adopted me right from the start and her kindness and help in the very beginning. I would like to thank Hannele for contributions in the projects. Thank Virolainen S., Heikkila P. for their collaborations in the manuscript. I would also like to Tiina and Karen for their help and friendship over the years. My thanks also go to Tang Yurui, Sheng H Wang and Desmond Yao for their help and contributions for reading my thesis and providing great comments when I was writing the thesis.

I would like to thank all of my friends for their support and understanding, and most importantly, for every support when I was stressful. Thanks to Zheng Wei for poker parties in the early years, every favor I asked and his brilliant discussion about research ideas. Thank Yang Ying and Chen Fang for your help, passions friendship, and my very first European trip. Thank Wang Wei, Jiang Ping, Tang Yurui, Liu Chengyu, Gao Yajing, Chen Ping and Hu Yizhou for the great fun we had together. Thank Li Songping, Wei hong and Wei gonghong for your great advice and help in both my career path and some life difficulties. Special thanks also go to Ma Li and Shi Jin. Thank you for support me going through some dark time in my life. Without you girls, I would not rise on my feet that fast. I would like to thank all the Chinese friends in Finland, though I could not fit all your names here, for the great fun and activities we had together.

I would also want to express my thanks to my long-term friends, Duan Yang, Ren He and Zhou Jie, for your long-last support and our friendship even we are now in different countries. Special thanks also go to Zhang Fan, Liu Haoan, Ye letian and Yu Jiyuan. Thank you guys for your accompany over the Internet, international phone calls and your support/cheer-up during the years. Life has much more fun after knowing you guys. Thank you for your lightening up of my days.

At last, I want to dedicate this thesis to my family for being there for me and encouraging me on the journey.

Thank you! 千言万语化一句:谢谢!

> Tong, Helsinki 2013

### REFERENCES

https://tcga-data.nci.nih.gov/tcga/, accessed on 3 Feb 2014.

Adamo, L., and García-Cardeña, G. (2012). The vascular origin of hematopoietic cells. Dev Biol 362, 1-10.

Adams, R.H., and Alitalo, K. (2007). Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *8*, 464-478. Ahn, G.O., and Brown, J.M. (2008). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 is required for tumor vasculogenesis but not for angiogenesis: role of bone marrow-derived myelomonocytic cells. Cancer Cell *13*, 193-205.

Aird, W.C. (2007a). Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. Circ Res 100, 158-173.

Aird, W.C. (2007b). Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: II. Representative vascular beds. Circ Res 100, 174-190.

Aird, W.C. (2012). Endothelial cell heterogeneity. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 2, a006429.

Akashi, K., Traver, D., Miyamoto, T., and Weissman, I.L. (2000). A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature 404, 193-197.

Akhurst, R.J., and Hata, A. (2012). Targeting the TGFβ signalling pathway in disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11, 790-811.

Akino, T., Hida, K., Hida, Y., Tsuchiya, K., Freedman, D., Muraki, C., Ohga, N., Matsuda, K., Akiyama, K., Harabayashi, T., et al.

(2009). Cytogenetic abnormalities of tumor-associated endothelial cells in human malignant tumors. Am J Pathol 175, 2657-2667. Alagappan, V.K., de Boer, W.I., Misra, V.K., Mooi, W.J., and Sharma, H.S. (2013). Angiogenesis and Vascular Remodeling in Chronic Airway Diseases. Cell Biochem Biophys 67, 219-234.

Alonso, S.R., Tracey, L., Ortiz, P., Pérez-Gómez, B., Palacios, J., Pollán, M., Linares, J., Serrano, S., Sáez-Castillo, A.I., Sánchez, L., *et al.* (2007). A high-throughput study in melanoma identifies epithelial-mesenchymal transition as a major determinant of metastasis. Cancer Res 67, 3450-3460.

Antonelli-Orlidge, A., Saunders, K.B., Smith, S.R., and D'Amore, P.A. (1989). An activated form of transforming growth factor beta is produced by cocultures of endothelial cells and pericytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *86*, 4544-4548.

Arai, F., Hirao, A., Ohmura, M., Sato, H., Matsuoka, S., Takubo, K., Ito, K., Koh, G.Y., and Suda, T. (2004). Tie2/angiopoietin-1 signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence in the bone marrow niche. Cell *118*, 149-161.

Ardi, V.C., Kupriyanova, T.A., Deryugina, E.I., and Quigley, J.P. (2007). Human neutrophils uniquely release TIMP-free MMP-9 to provide a potent catalytic stimulator of angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 20262-20267.

Armulik, A., Abramsson, A., and Betsholtz, C. (2005). Endothelial/pericyte interactions. Circ Res 97, 512-523.

Asahara, T., Murohara, T., Sullivan, A., Silver, M., van der Zee, R., Li, T., Witzenbichler, B., Schatteman, G., and Cannon, R.O., 3rd (1997). Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 275, 964-967.

Ashman, L.K. (1999). The biology of stem cell factor and its receptor C-kit. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31, 1037-1051.

Auerbach, R., Gilligan, B., Lu, L.S., and Wang, S.J. (1997). Cell interactions in the mouse yolk sac: vasculogenesis and hematopoiesis. J Cell Physiol 173, 202-205.

Baer, C., Squadrito, M.L., Iruela-Arispe, M.L., and De Palma, M. (2013). Reciprocal interactions between endothelial cells and macrophages in angiogenic vascular niches. Exp Cell Res 319, 1626-1634.

Bagri, A., Berry, L., Gunter, B., Singh, M., Kasman, I., Damico, L.A., Xiang, H., Schmidt, M., Fuh, G., Hollister, B., *et al.* (2010). Effects of anti-VEGF treatment duration on tumor growth, tumor regrowth, and treatment efficacy. Clin Cancer Res *16*, 3887-3900.

Baird, A., and Durkin, T. (1986). Inhibition of endothelial cell proliferation by type beta-transforming growth factor: interactions with acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *138*, 476-482.

Balkwill, F.R., and Mantovani, A. (2012). Cancer-related inflammation: common themes and therapeutic opportunities. Seminars in cancer biology 22, 33-40.

Barbara, N.P., Wrana, J.L., and Letarte, M. (1999). Endoglin is an accessory protein that interacts with the signaling receptor complex of multiple members of the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily. J Biol Chem 274, 584-594.

Barber, C.L., and Iruela-Arispe, M.L. (2006). The ever-elusive endothelial progenitor cell: identities, functions and clinical implications. Pediatr Res 59, 26R-32R.

Barrientos, G., Tirado-González, I., Freitag, N., Kobelt, P., Moschansky, P., Klapp, B.F., Thijssen, V.L., and Blois, S.M. (2013). CXCR4(+) dendritic cells promote angiogenesis during embryo implantation in mice. Angiogenesis *16*, 417-427.

Bearzi, C., Leri, A., Lo Monaco, F., Rota, M., Gonzalez, A., Hosoda, T., Pepe, M., Qanud, K., Ojaimi, C., Bardelli, S., *et al.* (2009). Identification of a coronary vascular progenitor cell in the human heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *106*, 15885-15890.

Beck, H., Voswinckel, R., Wagner, S., Ziegelhoeffer, T., Heil, M., Helisch, A., Schaper, W., Acker, T., Hatzopoulos, A.K., and Plate, K.H. (2003). Participation of bone marrow-derived cells in long-term repair processes after experimental stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *23*, 709-717.

Beltrami, A.P., Urbanek, K., Kajstura, J., Yan, S.M., Finato, N., Bussani, R., Nadal-Ginard, B., Silvestri, F., Leri, A., Beltrami, C.A., *et al.* (2001). Evidence that human cardiac myocytes divide after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med *344*, 1750-1757.

Benelli, R., Morini, M., Carrozzino, F., Ferrari, N., Minghelli, S., Santi, L., Cassatella, M., Noonan, D.M., and Albini, A. (2002). Neutrophils as a key cellular target for angiostatin: implications for regulation of angiogenesis and inflammation. Faseb J *16*, 267-269. Bentley, K., Gerhardt, H., and Bates, P.A. (2008). Agent-based simulation of notch-mediated tip cell selection in angiogenic sprout

initialisation. Journal of theoretical biology 250, 25-36. Bentley, K., Mariggi, G., Gerhardt, H., and Bates, P.A. (2009). Tipping the balance: robustness of tip cell selection, migration and

fusion in angiogenesis. PLoS computational biology *5*, e1000549. Bergers, G., Brekken, R., McMahon, G., Vu, T.H., Itoh, T., Tamaki, K., Tanzawa, K., Thorpe, P., Itohara, S., Werb, Z., *et al.* (2000).

Matrix metalloproteinase-9 triggers the angiogenic switch during carcinogenesis. Nat Cell Biol 2, 737-744.

Bergers, G., and Hanahan, D. (2008). Modes of resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 8, 592-603.

Bernex, F., De Sepulveda, P., Kress, C., Elbaz, C., Delouis, C., and Panthier, J.J. (1996). Spatial and temporal patterns of c-kit-expressing cells in WlacZ/+ and WlacZ/WlacZ mouse embryos. Development *122*, 3023-3033.

Bertolini, F., Shaked, Y., Mancuso, P., and Kerbel, R.S. (2006). The multifaceted circulating endothelial cell in cancer: towards marker and target identification. Nat Rev Cancer *6*, 835-845.

Bertrand, J.Y., Chi, N.C., Santoso, B., Teng, S., Stainier, D.Y., and Traver, D. (2010). Haematopoietic stem cells derive directly from aortic endothelium during development. Nature 464, 108-111.

Blackburn, J.S., Liu, I., Coon, C.L., and Brinckerhoff, C.E. (2009). A matrix metalloproteinase-1/protease activated receptor-1 signaling axis promotes melanoma invasion and metastasis. Oncogene 28, 4237-4248.

Blanco, R., and Gerhardt, H. (2013). VEGF and Notch in tip and stalk cell selection. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 3, a006569.

Boelte, K.C., Gordy, L.E., Joyce, S., Thompson, M.A., Yang, L., and Lin, P.C. (2011). Rgs2 mediates pro-angiogenic function of myeloid derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment via upregulation of MCP-1. PLoS One *6*, e18534.

Boisset, J.C., van Cappellen, W., Andrieu-Soler, C., Galjart, N., Dzierzak, E., and Robin, C. (2010). In vivo imaging of haematopoietic cells emerging from the mouse aortic endothelium. Nature 464, 116-120.

Bompais, H., Chagraoui, J., Canron, X., Crisan, M., Liu, X.H., Anjo, A., Tolla-Le Port, C., Leboeuf, M., Charbord, P., Bikfalvi, A., *et al.* (2004). Human endothelial cells derived from circulating progenitors display specific functional properties compared with mature vessel wall endothelial cells. Blood *103*, 2577-2584.

Broudy, V.C. (1997). Stem cell factor and hematopoiesis. Blood 90, 1345-1364.

Broudy, V.C., Kovach, N.L., Bennett, L.G., Lin, N., Jacobsen, F.W., and Kidd, P.G. (1994). Human umbilical vein endothelial cells display high-affinity c-kit receptors and produce a soluble form of the c-kit receptor. Blood *83*, 2145-2152.

Broxmeyer, H.E., Orschell, C.M., Clapp, D.W., Hangoc, G., Cooper, S., Plett, P.A., Liles, W.C., Li, X., Graham-Evans, B., Campbell, T.B., *et al.* (2005). Rapid mobilization of murine and human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells with AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. J Exp Med *201*, 1307-1318.

Burri, P.H., Hlushchuk, R., and Djonov, V. (2004). Intussusceptive angiogenesis: its emergence, its characteristics, and its significance. Dev Dyn 231, 474-488.

Butler, J.M., Nolan, D.J., Vertes, E.L., Varnum-Finney, B., Kobayashi, H., Hooper, A.T., Seandel, M., Shido, K., White, I.A., Kobayashi, M., *et al.* (2010). Endothelial cells are essential for the self-renewal and repopulation of Notch-dependent hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *6*, 251-264.

Calvi, L.M., Adams, G.B., Weibrecht, K.W., Weber, J.M., Olson, D.P., Knight, M.C., Martin, R.P., Schipani, E., Divieti, P., Bringhurst, F.R., et al. (2003). Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature 425, 841-846.

Candido, J., and Hagemann, T. (2013). Cancer-related inflammation. Journal of clinical immunology 33 Suppl 1, S79-84.

Capoccia, B.J., Shepherd, R.M., and Link, D.C. (2006). G-CSF and AMD3100 mobilize monocytes into the blood that stimulate angiogenesis in vivo through a paracrine mechanism. Blood *108*, 2438-2445.

Carlier, A., Geris, L., Bentley, K., Carmeliet, G., Carmeliet, P., and Van Oosterwyck, H. (2012). MOSAIC: a multiscale model of osteogenesis and sprouting angiogenesis with lateral inhibition of endothelial cells. PLoS computational biology 8, e1002724.

Carmeliet, P., and Collen, D. (1999). Role of vascular endothelial growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor receptors in vascular development. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237, 133-158.

Carmeliet, P., De Smet, F., Loges, S., and Mazzone, M. (2009). Branching morphogenesis and antiangiogenesis candidates: tip cells lead the way. Nat Rev Clin Oncol *6*, 315-326.

Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Eberhardt, C., *et al.* (1996). Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. Nature *380*, 435-439.

Carmeliet, P., and Jain, R.K. (2011). Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. Nature 473, 298-307.

Carmeliet, P., Ng, Y.S., Nuyens, D., Theilmeier, G., Brusselmans, K., Cornelissen, I., Ehler, E., Kakkar, V.V., Stalmans, I., Mattot, V., *et al.* (1999). Impaired myocardial angiogenesis and ischemic cardiomyopathy in mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor isoforms VEGF164 and VEGF188. Nat Med *5*, 495-502.

Carmi, Y., Voronov, E., Dotan, S., Lahat, N., Rahat, M.A., Fogel, M., Huszar, M., White, M.R., Dinarello, C.A., and Apte, R.N. (2009). The role of macrophage-derived IL-1 in induction and maintenance of angiogenesis. J Immunol *183*, 4705-4714.

Carvalho, R.L., Itoh, F., Goumans, M.J., Lebrin, F., Kato, M., Takahashi, S., Ema, M., Itoh, S., van Rooijen, M., Bertolino, P., *et al.* (2007). Compensatory signalling induced in the yolk sac vasculature by deletion of TGFbeta receptors in mice. J Cell Sci *120*, 4269-4277.

Case, J., Mead, L.E., Bessler, W.K., Prater, D., White, H.A., Saadatzadeh, M.R., Bhavsar, J.R., Yoder, M.C., Haneline, L.S., and Ingram, D.A. (2007). Human CD34+AC133+VEGFR-2+ cells are not endothelial progenitor cells but distinct, primitive hematopoietic progenitors. Exp Hematol *35*, 1109-1118.

Chabot, B., Stephenson, D.A., Chapman, V.M., Besmer, P., and Bernstein, A. (1988). The proto-oncogene c-kit encoding a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor maps to the mouse W locus. Nature *335*, 88-89.

Chen, Y.G., Hata, A., Lo, R.S., Wotton, D., Shi, Y., Pavletich, N., and Massagué, J. (1998). Determinants of specificity in TGF-beta signal transduction. Genes Dev 12, 2144-2152.

Chien, A.J., Moore, E.C., Lonsdorf, A.S., Kulikauskas, R.M., Rothberg, B.G., Berger, A.J., Major, M.B., Hwang, S.T., Rimm, D.L., and Moon, R.T. (2009). Activated Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in melanoma is associated with decreased proliferation in patient tumors and a murine melanoma model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *106*, 1193-1198.

Choi, M.E., and Ballermann, B.J. (1995). Inhibition of capillary morphogenesis and associated apoptosis by dominant negative mutant transforming growth factor-beta receptors. J Biol Chem 270, 21144-21150.

Chung, A.S., and Ferrara, N. (2011). Developmental and pathological angiogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 27, 563-584.

Coffelt, S.B., Hughes, R., and Lewis, C.E. (2009). Tumor-associated macrophages: effectors of angiogenesis and tumor progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1796, 11-18.

Coffelt, S.B., Lewis, C.E., Naldini, L., Brown, J.M., Ferrara, N., and De Palma, M. (2010). Elusive identities and overlapping phenotypes of proangiogenic myeloid cells in tumors. Am J Pathol *176*, 1564-1576.

Colonna, M., Trinchieri, G., and Liu, Y.J. (2004). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in immunity. Nature immunology 5, 1219-1226.

Conejo-Garcia, J.R., Benencia, F., Courreges, M.C., Kang, E., Mohamed-Hadley, A., Buckanovich, R.J., Holtz, D.O., Jenkins, A., Na, H., Zhang, L., *et al.* (2004). Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cell precursors recruited by a beta-defensin contribute to vasculogenesis under the influence of Vegf-A. Nat Med *10*, 950-958.

Conti, P., Castellani, M.L., Kempuraj, D., Salini, V., Vecchiet, J., Tetè, S., Mastrangelo, F., Perrella, A., De Lutiis, M.A., Tagen, M., et al. (2007). Role of mast cells in tumor growth. Ann Clin Lab Sci 37, 315-322.

Coussens, L.M., Raymond, W.W., Bergers, G., Laig-Webster, M., Behrendtsen, O., Werb, Z., Caughey, G.H., and Hanahan, D. (1999). Inflammatory mast cells up-regulate angiogenesis during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis. Genes Dev 13, 1382-1397.

Coussens, L.M., Tinkle, C.L., Hanahan, D., and Werb, Z. (2000). MMP-9 supplied by bone marrow-derived cells contributes to skin carcinogenesis. Cell 103, 481-490.

Crittenden, S.L., Bernstein, D.S., Bachorik, J.L., Thompson, B.E., Gallegos, M., Petcherski, A.G., Moulder, G., Barstead, R., Wickens, M., and Kimble, J. (2002). A conserved RNA-binding protein controls germline stem cells in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature *417*, 660-663.

Curiel, T.J., Cheng, P., Mottram, P., Alvarez, X., Moons, L., Evdemon-Hogan, M., Wei, S., Zou, L., Kryczek, I., Hoyle, G., *et al.* (2004). Dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate angiogenesis in human ovarian cancer. Cancer Res *64*, 5535-5538.

Davis, S., and Yancopoulos, G.D. (1999). The angiopoietins: Yin and Yang in angiogenesis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237, 173-185.

De Bock, K., De Smet, F., Leite De Oliveira, R., Anthonis, K., and Carmeliet, P. (2009). Endothelial oxygen sensors regulate tumor vessel abnormalization by instructing phalanx endothelial cells. J Mol Med (Berl) *87*, 561-569.

De Clercq, E. (2003). The bicyclam AMD3100 story. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2, 581-587.

De Clercq, E. (2009). The AMD3100 story: the path to the discovery of a stem cell mobilizer (Mozobil). Biochemical pharmacology 77, 1655-1664.

De Palma, M., and Naldini, L. (2006). Role of haematopoietic cells and endothelial progenitors in tumour angiogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1766, 159-166.

De Palma, M., Venneri, M.A., Galli, R., Sergi Sergi, L., Politi, L.S., Sampaolesi, M., and Naldini, L. (2005). Tie2 identifies a hematopoietic lineage of proangiogenic monocytes required for tumor vessel formation and a mesenchymal population of pericyte progenitors. Cancer Cell 8, 211-226.

De Palma, M., Venneri, M.A., Roca, C., and Naldini, L. (2003). Targeting exogenous genes to tumor angiogenesis by transplantation of genetically modified hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 9, 789-795.

De Smet, F., Segura, I., De Bock, K., Hohensinner, P.J., and Carmeliet, P. (2009). Mechanisms of vessel branching: filopodia on endothelial tip cells lead the way. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29, 639-649.

Demetri, G.D., van Oosterom, A.T., Garrett, C.R., Blackstein, M.E., Shah, M.H., Verweij, J., McArthur, G., Judson, I.R., Heinrich, M.C., Morgan, J.A., *et al.* (2006). Efficacy and safety of sunitinib in patients with advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumour after failure of imatinib: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet *368*, 1329-1338.

DeNardo, D.G., Andreu, P., and Coussens, L.M. (2010). Interactions between lymphocytes and myeloid cells regulate pro- versus antitumor immunity. Cancer metastasis reviews 29, 309-316.

Dernbach, E., Urbich, C., Brandes, R.P., Hofmann, W.K., Zeiher, A.M., and Dimmeler, S. (2004). Antioxidative stress-associated genes in circulating progenitor cells: evidence for enhanced resistance against oxidative stress. Blood *104*, 3591-3597.

Desai, A., Glaser, A., Liu, D., Raghavachari, N., Blum, A., Zalos, G., Lippincott, M., McCoy, J.P., Munson, P.J., Solomon, M.A., *et al.* (2009). Microarray-based characterization of a colony assay used to investigate endothelial progenitor cells and relevance to endothelial function in humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *29*, 121-127.

Dieterlen-Lievre, F. (1975). On the origin of haemopoietic stem cells in the avian embryo: an experimental approach. J Embryol Exp Morphol 33, 607-619.

Ding, B.S., Cao, Z., Lis, R., Nolan, D.J., Guo, P., Simons, M., Penfold, M.E., Shido, K., Rabbany, S.Y., and Rafii, S. (2014). Divergent angiocrine signals from vascular niche balance liver regeneration and fibrosis. Nature 505, 97-102.

Ding, B.S., Nolan, D.J., Guo, P., Babazadeh, A.O., Cao, Z., Rosenwaks, Z., Crystal, R.G., Simons, M., Sato, T.N., Worgall, S., *et al.* (2011). Endothelial-derived angiocrine signals induce and sustain regenerative lung alveolarization. Cell *147*, 539-553.

Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G., and Morrison, S.J. (2012). Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 481, 457-462.

Djonov, V., Schmid, M., Tschanz, S.A., and Burri, P.H. (2000). Intussusceptive angiogenesis: its role in embryonic vascular network formation. Circ Res *86*, 286-292.

Dolcetti, L., Marigo, I., Mantelli, B., Peranzoni, E., Zanovello, P., and Bronte, V. (2008). Myeloid-derived suppressor cell role in tumor-related inflammation. Cancer Lett 267, 216-225.

Dor, Y. (2006). beta-Cell proliferation is the major source of new pancreatic beta cells. Nature clinical practice Endocrinology & metabolism 2, 242-243.

Dor, Y., Brown, J., Martinez, O.I., and Melton, D.A. (2004). Adult pancreatic beta-cells are formed by self-duplication rather than stem-cell differentiation. Nature 429, 41-46.

Dudley, A.C., Udagawa, T., Melero-Martin, J.M., Shih, S.C., Curatolo, A., Moses, M.A., and Klagsbrun, M. (2010). Bone marrow is a reservoir for pro-angiogenic myelomonocytic cells but not endothelial cells in spontaneous tumors. Blood *116*, 3367-3361.

Dumont, D.J., Fong, G.H., Puri, M.C., Gradwohl, G., Alitalo, K., and Breitman, M.L. (1995). Vascularization of the mouse embryo: a study of flk-1, tek, tie, and vascular endothelial growth factor expression during development. Dev Dyn 203, 80-92.

Dunker, N., and Krieglstein, K. (2000). Targeted mutations of transforming growth factor-beta genes reveal important roles in mouse development and adult homeostasis. Eur J Biochem 267, 6982-6988.

Duttlinger, R., Manova, K., Chu, T.Y., Gyssler, C., Zelenetz, A.D., Bachvarova, R.F., and Besmer, P. (1993). W-sash affects positive and negative elements controlling c-kit expression: ectopic c-kit expression at sites of kit-ligand expression affects melanogenesis. Development *118*, 705-717.

Ebos, J.M., and Kerbel, R.S. (2011). Antiangiogenic therapy: impact on invasion, disease progression, and metastasis. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 8, 210-221.

Ebos, J.M., Tran, J., Master, Z., Dumont, D., Melo, J.V., Buchdunger, E., and Kerbel, R.S. (2002). Imatinib mesylate (STI-571) reduces Bcr-Abl-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor secretion in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Mol Cancer Res *1*, 89-95.

Eck, M., Schmausser, B., Scheller, K., Brandlein, S., and Muller-Hermelink, H.K. (2003). Pleiotropic effects of CXC chemokines in gastric carcinoma: differences in CXCL8 and CXCL1 expression between diffuse and intestinal types of gastric carcinoma. Clinical and experimental immunology *134*, 508-515.

Eklund, L., Bry, M., and Alitalo, K. (2013). Mouse models for studying angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in cancer. Mol Oncol 7, 259-282.

Engerman, R.L., Pfaffenbach, D., and Davis, M.D. (1967). Cell turnover of capillaries. Lab Invest 17, 738-743.

Escudier, B., Eisen, T., Stadler, W.M., Szczylik, C., Oudard, S., Siebels, M., Negrier, S., Chevreau, C., Solska, E., Desai, A.A., *et al.* (2007). Sorafenib in advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med *356*, 125-134.

Fainaru, O., Almog, N., Yung, C.W., Nakai, K., Montoya-Zavala, M., Abdollahi, A., D'Amato, R., and Ingber, D.E. (2010). Tumor growth and angiogenesis are dependent on the presence of immature dendritic cells. Faseb J *24*, 1411-1418.

Fang, S., and Salven, P. (2011). Stem cells in tumor angiogenesis. J Mol Cell Cardiol 50, 290-295.

Fantin, A., Vieira, J.M., Gestri, G., Denti, L., Schwarz, Q., Prykhozhij, S., Peri, F., Wilson, S.W., and Ruhrberg, C. (2010). Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood *116*, 829-840.

Feinberg, M.W., Shimizu, K., Lebedeva, M., Haspel, R., Takayama, K., Chen, Z., Frederick, J.P., Wang, X.F., Simon, D.I., Libby, P., et al. (2004a). Essential role for Smad3 in regulating MCP-1 expression and vascular inflammation. Circ Res 94, 601-608.

Feinberg, M.W., Watanabe, M., Lebedeva, M.A., Depina, A.S., Hanai, J., Mammoto, T., Frederick, J.P., Wang, X.F., Sukhatme, V.P., and Jain, M.K. (2004b). Transforming growth factor-beta1 inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell activation is mediated via Smad3. J Biol Chem 279, 16388-16393.

Feng, W., Madajka, M., Kerr, B.A., Mahabeleshwar, G.H., Whiteheart, S.W., and Byzova, T.V. (2011). A novel role for platelet secretion in angiogenesis: mediating bone marrow-derived cell mobilization and homing. Blood *117*, 3893-3902.

Ferrara, N. (2010). Role of myeloid cells in vascular endothelial growth factor-independent tumor angiogenesis. Curr Opin Hematol 17, 219-224.

Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K.S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K.J., and Moore, M.W. (1996). Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature *380*, 439-442.

Ferrara, N., Gerber, H.P., and LeCouter, J. (2003). The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med 9, 669-676.

Fierlbeck, W., Liu, A., Coyle, R., and Ballermann, B.J. (2003). Endothelial cell apoptosis during glomerular capillary lumen formation in vivo. J Am Soc Nephrol 14, 1349-1354.

Finke, J., Ko, J., Rini, B., Rayman, P., Ireland, J., and Cohen, P. (2011). MDSC as a mechanism of tumor escape from sunitinib mediated anti-angiogenic therapy. Int Immunopharmacol 11, 856-861.

Fisher, E.R., Sass, R., Watkins, G., Johal, J., and Fisher, B. (1985). Tissue mast cells in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 5, 285-291.

Fleming, W.H., Alpern, E.J., Uchida, N., Ikuta, K., and Weissman, I.L. (1993). Steel factor influences the distribution and activity of murine hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 3760-3764.

Folkman, J. (1971). Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N Engl J Med 285, 1182-1186.

Folkman, J. (1997a). Addressing tumor blood vessels. Nature biotechnology 15, 510.

Folkman, J. (1997b). Angiogenesis and angiogenesis inhibition: an overview. Exs 79, 1-8.

Fraisl, P., Mazzone, M., Schmidt, T., and Carmeliet, P. (2009). Regulation of angiogenesis by oxygen and metabolism. Dev Cell 16, 167-179.

Franzén, P., ten Dijke, P., Ichijo, H., Yamashita, H., Schulz, P., Heldin, C.H., and Miyazono, K. (1993). Cloning of a TGF beta type I receptor that forms a heteromeric complex with the TGF beta type II receptor. Cell *75*, 681-692.

Fråter-Schröder, M., Müller, G., Birchmeier, W., and Böhlen, P. (1986). Transforming growth factor-beta inhibits endothelial cell proliferation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 137, 295-302.

Fridlender, Z.G., Sun, J., Kim, S., Kapoor, V., Cheng, G., Ling, L., Worthen, G.S., and Albelda, S.M. (2009). Polarization of tumorassociated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. Cancer Cell *16*, 183-194.

Fridlender, Z.G., Sun, J., Mishalian, I., Singhal, S., Cheng, G., Kapoor, V., Horng, W., Fridlender, G., Bayuh, R., Worthen, G.S., *et al.* (2012). Transcriptomic analysis comparing tumor-associated neutrophils with granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells and normal neutrophils. PLoS One 7, e31524.

Gajdusek, C.M., Luo, Z., and Mayberg, M.R. (1993). Basic fibroblast growth factor and transforming growth factor beta-1: synergistic mediators of angiogenesis in vitro. J Cell Physiol 157, 133-144.

Garcia-Barros, M., Paris, F., Cordon-Cardo, C., Lyden, D., Rafii, S., Haimovitz-Friedman, A., Fuks, Z., and Kolesnick, R. (2003). Tumor response to radiotherapy regulated by endothelial cell apoptosis. Science *300*, 1155-1159.

Gelati, M., Aplin, A.C., Fogel, E., Smith, K.D., and Nicosia, R.F. (2008). The angiogenic response of the aorta to injury and inflammatory cytokines requires macrophages. J Immunol *181*, 5711-5719.

Gerber, H.P., and Ferrara, N. (2005). Pharmacology and pharmacodynamics of bevacizumab as monotherapy or in combination with cytotoxic therapy in preclinical studies. Cancer Res 65, 671-680.

Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Fruttiger, M., Ruhrberg, C., Lundkvist, A., Abramsson, A., Jeltsch, M., Mitchell, C., Alitalo, K., Shima, D., et al. (2003). VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J Cell Biol *161*, 1163-1177.

Giraudo, E., Inoue, M., and Hanahan, D. (2004). An amino-bisphosphonate targets MMP-9-expressing macrophages and angiogenesis to impair cervical carcinogenesis. J Clin Invest *114*, 623-633.

Godin, I.E., Garcia-Porrero, J.A., Coutinho, A., Dieterlen-Lièvre, F., and Marcos, M.A. (1993). Para-aortic splanchnopleura from early mouse embryos contains B1a cell progenitors. Nature *364*, 67-70.

Goede, V., Schmidt, T., Kimmina, S., Kozian, D., and Augustin, H.G. (1998). Analysis of blood vessel maturation processes during cyclic ovarian angiogenesis. Lab Invest 78, 1385-1394.

Goligorsky, M.S., and Salven, P. (2013). Concise review: endothelial stem and progenitor cells and their habitats. Stem Cells Transl Med 2, 499-504.

Gorden, D.L., Mandriota, S.J., Montesano, R., Orci, L., and Pepper, M.S. (1997). Vascular endothelial growth factor is increased in devascularized rat islets of Langerhans in vitro. Transplantation *63*, 436-443.

Gothert, J.R., Gustin, S.E., van Eekelen, J.A., Schmidt, U., Hall, M.A., Jane, S.M., Green, A.R., Gottgens, B., Izon, D.J., and Begley, C.G. (2004). Genetically tagging endothelial cells in vivo: bone marrow-derived cells do not contribute to tumor endothelium. Blood *104*, 1769-1777.

Goto, H., Tomono, Y., Ajiro, K., Kosako, H., Fujita, M., Sakurai, M., Okawa, K., Iwamatsu, A., Okigaki, T., Takahashi, T., *et al.* (1999). Identification of a novel phosphorylation site on histone H3 coupled with mitotic chromosome condensation. J Biol Chem 274, 25543-25549.

Goumans, M.J., Valdimarsdottir, G., Itoh, S., Lebrin, F., Larsson, J., Mummery, C., Karlsson, S., and ten Dijke, P. (2003). Activin receptor-like kinase (ALK)1 is an antagonistic mediator of lateral TGFbeta/ALK5 signaling. Molecular cell *12*, 817-828.

Grimbaldeston, M.A., Chen, C.C., Piliponsky, A.M., Tsai, M., Tam, S.Y., and Galli, S.J. (2005). Mast cell-deficient W-sash c-kit mutant Kit W-sh/W-sh mice as a model for investigating mast cell biology in vivo. Am J Pathol *167*, 835-848.

Grivennikov, S.I., and Karin, M. (2010a). Dangerous liaisons: STAT3 and NF-kappaB collaboration and crosstalk in cancer. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21, 11-19.

Grivennikov, S.I., and Karin, M. (2010b). Inflammation and oncogenesis: a vicious connection. Current opinion in genetics & development 20, 65-71.

Grützkau, A., Krüger-Krasagakes, S., Baumeister, H., Schwarz, C., Kögel, H., Welker, P., Lippert, U., Henz, B.M., and Möller, A. (1998). Synthesis, storage, and release of vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor (VEGF/VPF) by human mast cells: implications for the biological significance of VEGF206. Mol Biol Cell *9*, 875-884.

Gu, C., Rodriguez, E.R., Reimert, D.V., Shu, T., Fritzsch, B., Richards, L.J., Kolodkin, A.L., and Ginty, D.D. (2003). Neuropilin-1 conveys semaphorin and VEGF signaling during neural and cardiovascular development. Dev Cell *5*, 45-57.

Guedez, L., Jensen-Taubman, S., Bourboulia, D., Kwityn, C.J., Wei, B., Caterina, J., and Stetler-Stevenson, W.G. (2012). TIMP-2 targets tumor-associated myeloid suppressor cells with effects in cancer immune dysfunction and angiogenesis. J Immunother *35*, 502-512.

Gurley, L.R., D'Anna, J.A., Barham, S.S., Deaven, L.L., and Tobey, R.A. (1978). Histone phosphorylation and chromatin structure during mitosis in Chinese hamster cells. Eur J Biochem 84, 1-15.

Hagedorn, M., Balke, M., Schmidt, A., Bloch, W., Kurz, H., Javerzat, S., Rousseau, B., Wilting, J., and Bikfalvi, A. (2004). VEGF coordinates interaction of pericytes and endothelial cells during vasculogenesis and experimental angiogenesis. Dev Dyn 230, 23-33.

Hagensen, M.K., Shim, J., Thim, T., Falk, E., and Bentzon, J.F. (2010). Circulating endothelial progenitor cells do not contribute to plaque endothelium in murine atherosclerosis. Circulation 121, 898-905.

Halova, I., Draberova, L., and Draber, P. (2012). Mast cell chemotaxis - chemoattractants and signaling pathways. Front Immunol 3, 119.

Hamaguchi, I., Huang, X.L., Takakura, N., Tada, J., Yamaguchi, Y., Kodama, H., and Suda, T. (1999). In vitro hematopoietic and endothelial cell development from cells expressing TEK receptor in murine aorta-gonad-mesonephros region. Blood *93*, 1549-1556.

Hanahan, D., and Folkman, J. (1996). Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell 86, 353-364.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57-70.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144, 646-674.

Haqq, C., Nosrati, M., Sudilovsky, D., Crothers, J., Khodabakhsh, D., Pulliam, B.L., Federman, S., Miller, J.R., Allen, R.E., Singer, M.I., *et al.* (2005). The gene expression signatures of melanoma progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 6092-6097.

Harlin, H., Meng, Y., Peterson, A.C., Zha, Y., Tretiakova, M., Slingluff, C., McKee, M., and Gajewski, T.F. (2009). Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment. Cancer Res *69*, 3077-3085.

Hassan, S., Buchanan, M., Jahan, K., Aguilar-Mahecha, A., Gaboury, L., Muller, W.J., Alsawafi, Y., Mourskaia, A.A., Siegel, P.M., Salvucci, O., *et al.* (2011). CXCR4 peptide antagonist inhibits primary breast tumor growth, metastasis and enhances the efficacy of anti-VEGF treatment or docetaxel in a transgenic mouse model. Int J Cancer *129*, 225-232.

Heinke, J., Patterson, C., and Moser, M. (2012). Life is a pattern: vascular assembly within the embryo. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 4, 2269-2288.

Heissig, B., Hattori, K., Dias, S., Friedrich, M., Ferris, B., Hackett, N.R., Crystal, R.G., Besmer, P., Lyden, D., Moore, M.A.S., *et al.* (2002). Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of Kit-ligand. Cell *109*, 625-637.

Hellstrom, M., Phng, L.K., Hofmann, J.J., Wallgard, E., Coultas, L., Lindblom, P., Alva, J., Nilsson, A.K., Karlsson, L., Gaiano, N., *et al.* (2007). Dll4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis. Nature *445*, 776-780.

Henry, T.D., Grines, C.L., Watkins, M.W., Dib, N., Barbeau, G., Moreadith, R., Andrasfay, T., and Engler, R.L. (2007). Effects of Ad5FGF-4 in patients with angina: an analysis of pooled data from the AGENT-3 and AGENT-4 trials. Journal of the American College of Cardiology *50*, 1038-1046.

Hobson, B., and Denekamp, J. (1984). Endothelial proliferation in tumours and normal tissues: continuous labelling studies. Br J Cancer 49, 405-413.

Hocevar, B.A., Prunier, C., and Howe, P.H. (2005). Disabled-2 (Dab2) mediates transforming growth factor beta (TGFbeta)-stimulated fibronectin synthesis through TGFbeta-activated kinase 1 and activation of the JNK pathway. J Biol Chem 280, 25920-25927.

Horiuchi, T., and Weller, P.F. (1997). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by human eosinophils: upregulation by granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor and interleukin-5. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol *17*, 70-77.

Hu, Y., Zhang, Z., Torsney, E., Afzal, A.R., Davison, F., Metzler, B., and Xu, Q. (2004). Abundant progenitor cells in the adventitia contribute to atherosclerosis of vein grafts in ApoE-deficient mice. J Clin Invest 113, 1258-1265.

Hur, J., Yoon, C.H., Kim, H.S., Choi, J.H., Kang, H.J., Hwang, K.K., Oh, B.H., Lee, M.M., and Park, Y.B. (2004). Characterization of two types of endothelial progenitor cells and their different contributions to neovasculogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24, 288-293.

Iamaroon, A., Pongsiriwet, S., Jittidecharaks, S., Pattanaporn, K., Prapayasatok, S., and Wanachantararak, S. (2003). Increase of mast cells and tumor angiogenesis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. J Oral Pathol Med *32*, 195-199.

Ikushima, Y.M., Arai, F., Nakamura, Y., Hosokawa, K., Kubota, Y., Hirashima, M., Toyama, H., and Suda, T. (2013). Enhanced Angpt1/Tie2 signaling affects the differentiation and long-term repopulation ability of hematopoietic stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *430*, 20-25.

Ikuta, K., Ingolia, D.E., Friedman, J., Heimfeld, S., and Weissman, I.L. (1991). Mouse hematopoietic stem cells and the interaction of c-kit receptor and steel factor. Int J Cell Cloning *9*, 451-460.

Ikuta, K., and Weissman, I.L. (1992). Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 1502-1506.

Ingram, D.A., Mead, L.E., Moore, D.B., Woodard, W., Fenoglio, A., and Yoder, M.C. (2005). Vessel wall-derived endothelial cells rapidly proliferate because they contain a complete hierarchy of endothelial progenitor cells. Blood *105*, 2783-2786.

Ingram, D.A., Mead, L.E., Tanaka, H., Meade, V., Fenoglio, A., Mortell, K., Pollok, K., Ferkowicz, M.J., Gilley, D., and Yoder, M.C. (2004). Identification of a novel hierarchy of endothelial progenitor cells using human peripheral and umbilical cord blood. Blood *104*, 2752-2760.

Inman, K.E., and Downs, K.M. (2007). The murine allantois: emerging paradigms in development of the mammalian umbilical cord and its relation to the fetus. Genesis 45, 237-258.

Invernici, G., Ponti, D., Corsini, E., Cristini, S., Frigerio, S., Colombo, A., Parati, E., and Alessandri, G. (2005). Human microvascular endothelial cells from different fetal organs demonstrate organ-specific CAM expression. Exp Cell Res *308*, 273-282.

Iruela-Arispe, M.L., and Sage, E.H. (1993). Endothelial cells exhibiting angiogenesis in vitro proliferate in response to TGF-beta 1. J Cell Biochem 52, 414-430.

Italiano, J.E., Mairuhu, A.T.A., and Flaumenhaft, R. (2010). Clinical relevance of microparticles from platelets and megakaryocytes. Curr Opin Hematol 17, 578-584.

Iwasaki, H., Mizuno, S., Mayfield, R., Shigematsu, H., Arinobu, Y., Seed, B., Gurish, M.F., Takatsu, K., and Akashi, K. (2005). Identification of eosinophil lineage-committed progenitors in the murine bone marrow. J Exp Med 201, 1891-1897.

Jain, R.K. (2003). Molecular regulation of vessel maturation. Nat Med 9, 685-693.

Jain, R.K. (2005a). Antiangiogenic therapy for cancer: current and emerging concepts. Oncology (Williston Park) 19, 7-16.

Jain, R.K. (2005b). Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science 307, 58-62.

Jain, R.K., and Duda, D.G. (2003). Role of bone marrow-derived cells in tumor angiogenesis and treatment. Cancer Cell 3, 515-516. Jakobsson, L., and van Meeteren, L.A. (2013). Transforming growth factor  $\beta$  family members in regulation of vascular function: in the

light of vascular conditional knockouts. Exp Cell Res *319*, 1264-1270. Janowska-Wieczorek, A., Marquez-Curtis, L.A., Wysoczynski, M., and Ratajczak, M.Z. (2006). Enhancing effect of platelet-derived microvesicles on the invasive potential of breast cancer cells. Transfusion *46*, 1199-1209.

Jenkins, S.J., Ruckerl, D., Cook, P.C., Jones, L.H., Finkelman, F.D., van Rooijen, N., MacDonald, A.S., and Allen, J.E. (2011). Local macrophage proliferation, rather than recruitment from the blood, is a signature of TH2 inflammation. Science *332*, 1284-1288.

Joseph-Silverstein, J., and Rifkin, D.B. (1987). Endothelial cell growth factors and the vessel wall. Semin Thromb Hemost *13*, 504-513. Karlan, B.Y., Oza, A.M., Richardson, G.E., Provencher, D.M., Hansen, V.L., Buck, M., Chambers, S.K., Ghatage, P., Pippitt, C.H., Jr., Brown, J.V., 3rd, *et al.* (2012). Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II study of AMG 386 combined with weekly paclitaxel in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology *30*, 362-371.

Karnoub, A.E., and Weinberg, R.A. (2006). Chemokine networks and breast cancer metastasis. Breast disease 26, 75-85.

Kashani-Sabet, M. (2004). Melanoma genomics. Curr Oncol Rep 6, 401-405.

Kashani-Sabet, M., Venna, S., Nosrati, M., Rangel, J., Sucker, A., Egberts, F., Baehner, F.L., Simko, J., Leong, S.P., Haqq, C., et al. (2009). A multimarker prognostic assay for primary cutaneous melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 15, 6987-6992.

Keck, P.J., Hauser, S.D., Krivi, G., Sanzo, K., Warren, T., Feder, J., and Connolly, D.T. (1989). Vascular permeability factor, an endothelial cell mitogen related to PDGF. Science 246, 1309-1312.

Kerbel, R., and Folkman, J. (2002). Clinical translation of angiogenesis inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 727-739.

Keshet, E., Lyman, S.D., Williams, D.E., Anderson, D.M., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., and Parada, L.F. (1991). Embryonic RNA expression patterns of the c-kit receptor and its cognate ligand suggest multiple functional roles in mouse development. EMBO J 10, 2425-2435.

Kiel, M.J., Acar, M., Radice, G.L., and Morrison, S.J. (2009). Hematopoietic stem cells do not depend on N-cadherin to regulate their maintenance. Cell Stem Cell 4, 170-179.

Kiel, M.J., Radice, G.L., and Morrison, S.J. (2007). Lack of evidence that hematopoietic stem cells depend on N-cadherin-mediated adhesion to osteoblasts for their maintenance. Cell Stem Cell 1, 204-217.

Kiel, M.J., Yilmaz, O.H., Iwashita, T., Terhorst, C., and Morrison, S.J. (2005). SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 121, 1109-1121.

Kiger, A.A., White-Cooper, H., and Fuller, M.T. (2000). Somatic support cells restrict germline stem cell self-renewal and promote differentiation. Nature 407, 750-754.

Kilarski, W.W., Samolov, B., Petersson, L., Kvanta, A., and Gerwins, P. (2009). Biomechanical regulation of blood vessel growth during tissue vascularization. Nat Med 15, 657-664.

Kim, C.H. (2010). Homeostatic and pathogenic extramedullary hematopoiesis. J Blood Med 1, 13-19.

Kim, M., Koh, Y.J., Kim, K.E., Koh, B.I., Nam, D.H., Alitalo, K., Kim, I., and Koh, G.Y. (2010). CXCR4 signaling regulates metastasis of chemoresistant melanoma cells by a lymphatic metastatic niche. Cancer Res 70, 10411-10421.

Kim, S.J., Kim, J.S., Papadopoulos, J., Wook Kim, S., Maya, M., Zhang, F., He, J., Fan, D., Langley, R., and Fidler, I.J. (2009). Circulating monocytes expressing CD31: implications for acute and chronic angiogenesis. Am J Pathol 174, 1972-1980.

Kimura, Y., Ding, B., Imai, N., Nolan, D.J., Butler, J.M., and Rafii, S. (2011). c-Kit-mediated functional positioning of stem cells to their niches is essential for maintenance and regeneration of adult hematopoiesis. PLoS One *6*, e26918.

Kioi, M., Vogel, H., Schultz, G., Hoffman, R.M., Harsh, G.R., and Brown, J.M. (2010). Inhibition of vasculogenesis, but not angiogenesis, prevents the recurrence of glioblastoma after irradiation in mice. J Clin Invest *120*, 694-705.

Kissa, K., and Herbomel, P. (2010). Blood stem cells emerge from aortic endothelium by a novel type of cell transition. Nature 464, 112-115.

Klement, G., Kikuchi, L., Kieran, M., Almog, N., Yip, T.T., and Folkman, J. (2004). Early tumor detection using platelet uptake of angiogenesis regulators. Blood 104, 239a-240a.

Klement, G.L., Yip, T.T., Cassiola, F., Kikuchi, L., Cervi, D., Podust, V., Italiano, J.E., Wheatley, E., Abou-Slaybi, A., Bender, E., *et al.* (2009). Platelets actively sequester angiogenesis regulators. Blood *113*, 2835-2842.

Koshimizu, U., Sawada, K., Tajima, Y., Watanabe, D., and Nishimune, Y. (1991). White-spotting mutations affect the regenerative differentiation of testicular germ cells: demonstration by experimental cryptorchidism and its surgical reversal. Biol Reprod 45, 642-648.

Kulkarni, A.B., Huh, C.G., Becker, D., Geiser, A., Lyght, M., Flanders, K.C., Roberts, A.B., Sporn, M.B., Ward, J.M., and Karlsson, S. (1993). Transforming growth factor beta 1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 770-774.

Kunisaki, Y., Bruns, I., Scheiermann, C., Ahmed, J., Pinho, S., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Wei, Q., Lucas, D., Ito, K., *et al.* (2013). Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nature *502*, 637-643.

Kuzuya, M., and Kinsella, J.L. (1994). Reorganization of endothelial cord-like structures on basement membrane complex (Matrigel): involvement of transforming growth factor beta 1. J Cell Physiol *161*, 267-276.

Ladomery, M.R., Harper, S.J., and Bates, D.O. (2007). Alternative splicing in angiogenesis: the vascular endothelial growth factor paradigm. Cancer Lett 249, 133-142.

Lammie, A., Drobnjak, M., Gerald, W., Saad, A., Cote, R., and Cordon-Cardo, C. (1994). Expression of c-kit and kit ligand proteins in normal human tissues. J Histochem Cytochem 42, 1417-1425.

Lancrin, C., Sroczynska, P., Stephenson, C., Allen, T., Kouskoff, V., and Lacaud, G. (2009). The haemangioblast generates haematopoietic cells through a haemogenic endothelium stage. Nature 457, 892-895.

Lapidot, T., and Kollet, O. (2002). The essential roles of the chemokine SDF-1 and its receptor CXCR4 in human stem cell homing and repopulation of transplanted immune-deficient NOD/SCID and NOD/SCID/B2m(null) mice. Leukemia 16, 1992-2003.

Lawall, H., Bramlage, P., and Amann, B. (2010). Stem cell and progenitor cell therapy in peripheral artery disease. A critical appraisal. Thrombosis and haemostasis 103, 696-709.

Lawall, H., Bramlage, P., and Amann, B. (2011). Treatment of peripheral arterial disease using stem and progenitor cell therapy. Journal of vascular surgery 53, 445-453.

Lebrin, F., Deckers, M., Bertolino, P., and Ten Dijke, P. (2005). TGF-beta receptor function in the endothelium. Cardiovascular research 65, 599-608.

Lee, R.J., Springer, M.L., Blanco-Bose, W.E., Shaw, R., Ursell, P.C., and Blau, H.M. (2000). VEGF gene delivery to myocardium: deleterious effects of unregulated expression. Circulation *102*, 898-901.

Legrand, F., Woerly, G., Driss, V., and Capron, M. (2008). Innate immune function of eosinophils: from antiparasite to antitumor cells. Methods Mol Biol *415*, 215-240.

Leite de Oliveira, R., Hamm, A., and Mazzone, M. (2011). Growing tumor vessels: more than one way to skin a cat - implications for angiogenesis targeted cancer therapies. Mol Aspects Med *32*, 71-87.

Lennartsson, J., and Rönnstrand, L. (2012). Stem cell factor receptor/c-Kit: from basic science to clinical implications. Physiol Rev 92, 1619-1649.

Letamendía, A., Lastres, P., Botella, L.M., Raab, U., Langa, C., Velasco, B., Attisano, L., and Bernabeu, C. (1998). Role of endoglin in cellular responses to transforming growth factor-beta. A comparative study with betaglycan. J Biol Chem 273, 33011-33019.

Leung, D.W., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W.J., Goeddel, D.V., and Ferrara, N. (1989). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science 246, 1306-1309.

Lev, S., Blechman, J.M., Givol, D., and Yarden, Y. (1994). Steel factor and c-kit protooncogene: genetic lessons in signal transduction. Crit Rev Oncog 5, 141-168.

Levesque, J.P., Helwani, F.M., and Winkler, I.G. (2010). The endosteal 'osteoblastic' niche and its role in hematopoietic stem cell homing and mobilization. Leukemia 24, 1979-1992.

Lewis, J.S., Landers, R.J., Underwood, J.C., Harris, A.L., and Lewis, C.E. (2000). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by macrophages is up-regulated in poorly vascularized areas of breast carcinomas. J Pathol *192*, 150-158.

Li, B., Ruotti, V., Stewart, R.M., Thomson, J.A., and Dewey, C.N. (2010). RNA-Seq gene expression estimation with read mapping uncertainty. Bioinformatics 26, 493-500.

Li, L., and Xie, T. (2005). Stem cell niche: structure and function. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21, 605-631.

Li, M., Naqvi, N., Yahiro, E., Liu, K., Powell, P.C., Bradley, W.E., Martin, D.I., Graham, R.M., Dell'Italia, L.J., and Husain, A. (2008). c-kit is required for cardiomyocyte terminal differentiation. Circ Res *102*, 677-685.

Liles, W.C., Broxmeyer, H.E., Rodger, E., Wood, B., Hubel, K., Cooper, S., Hangoc, G., Bridger, G.J., Henson, G.W., Calandra, G., *et al.* (2003). Mobilization of hematopoietic progenitor cells in healthy volunteers by AMD3100, a CXCR4 antagonist. Blood *102*, 2728-2730.

Lin, E.Y., Li, J.F., Gnatovskiy, L., Deng, Y., Zhu, L., Grzesik, D.A., Qian, H., Xue, X.N., and Pollard, J.W. (2006). Macrophages regulate the angiogenic switch in a mouse model of breast cancer. Cancer Res *66*, 11238-11246.

Lin, Y., Weisdorf, D.J., Solovey, A., and Hebbel, R.P. (2000). Origins of circulating endothelial cells and endothelial outgrowth from blood. J Clin Invest 105, 71-77.

Lindsey, J.Y., Ganguly, K., Brass, D.M., Li, Z., Potts, E.N., Degan, S., Chen, H., Brockway, B., Abraham, S.N., Berndt, A., *et al.* (2011). c-Kit is essential for alveolar maintenance and protection from emphysema-like disease in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med *183*, 1644-1652.

Litz, J., and Krystal, G.W. (2006). Imatinib inhibits c-Kit-induced hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha activity and vascular endothelial growth factor expression in small cell lung cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 5, 1415-1422.

Lo Celso, C., Fleming, H.E., Wu, J.W., Zhao, C.X., Miake-Lye, S., Fujisaki, J., Côté, D., Rowe, D.W., Lin, C.P., and Scadden, D.T. (2009). Live-animal tracking of individual haematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in their niche. Nature 457, 92-96.

Lobov, I.B., Rao, S., Carroll, T.J., Vallance, J.E., Ito, M., Ondr, J.K., Kurup, S., Glass, D.A., Patel, M.S., Shu, W., *et al.* (2005). WNT7b mediates macrophage-induced programmed cell death in patterning of the vasculature. Nature *437*, 417-421.

Losordo, D.W., and Dimmeler, S. (2004). Therapeutic angiogenesis and vasculogenesis for ischemic disease: part II: cell-based therapies. Circulation 109, 2692-2697.

Loughna, S., and Sato, T.N. (2001). Angiopoietin and Tie signaling pathways in vascular development. Matrix Biol 20, 319-325.

Lu, Q., Patel, B., Harrington, E.O., and Rounds, S. (2009). Transforming growth factor-betal causes pulmonary microvascular endothelial cell apoptosis via ALK5. American journal of physiology *296*, L825-838.

Machein, M.R., Renninger, S., de Lima-Hahn, E., and Plate, K.H. (2003). Minor contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitors to the vascularization of murine gliomas. Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland) *13*, 582-597.

Madri, J.A., Pratt, B.M., and Tucker, A.M. (1988). Phenotypic modulation of endothelial cells by transforming growth factor-beta depends upon the composition and organization of the extracellular matrix. J Cell Biol *106*, 1375-1384.

Majumder, S., Brown, K., Qiu, F.H., and Besmer, P. (1988). c-kit protein, a transmembrane kinase: identification in tissues and characterization. Mol Cell Biol *8*, 4896-4903.

Maltby, S., Khazaie, K., and McNagny, K.M. (2009). Mast cells in tumor growth: angiogenesis, tissue remodelling and immune-modulation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1796, 19-26.

Mandriota, S.J., and Pepper, M.S. (1997). Vascular endothelial growth factor-induced in vitro angiogenesis and plasminogen activator expression are dependent on endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Sci 110 (Pt 18), 2293-2302.

Manz, M.G., Miyamoto, T., Akashi, K., and Weissman, I.L. (2002). Prospective isolation of human clonogenic common myeloid progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 11872-11877.

Massagué, J. (2012). TGFβ signalling in context. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13, 616-630.

Matsui, J., Wakabayashi, T., Asada, M., Yoshimatsu, K., and Okada, M. (2004). Stem cell factor/c-kit signaling promotes the survival, migration, and capillary tube formation of human umbilical vein endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 279, 18600-18607.

Matsui, Y., Toksoz, D., Nishikawa, S., Williams, D., Zsebo, K., and Hogan, B.L. (1991). Effect of Steel factor and leukaemia inhibitory factor on murine primordial germ cells in culture. Nature *353*, 750-752.

Medvinsky, A.L., Samoylina, N.L., Müller, A.M., and Dzierzak, E.A. (1993). An early pre-liver intraembryonic source of CFU-S in the developing mouse. Nature *364*, 64-67.

Messina, E., De Angelis, L., Frati, G., Morrone, S., Chimenti, S., Fiordaliso, F., Salio, M., Battaglia, M., Latronico, M.V., Coletta, M., et al. (2004). Isolation and expansion of adult cardiac stem cells from human and murine heart. Circ Res 95, 911-921.

Mhawech-Fauceglia, P., Kaya, G., Sauter, G., McKee, T., Donze, O., Schwaller, J., and Huard, B. (2006). The source of APRIL upregulation in human solid tumor lesions. J Leukoc Biol 80, 697-704.

Miettinen, M., and Lasota, J. (2005). KIT (CD117): a review on expression in normal and neoplastic tissues, and mutations and their clinicopathologic correlation. Applied immunohistochemistry & molecular morphology : AIMM / official publication of the Society for Applied Immunohistochemistry 13, 205-220.

Miettinen, M., Sarlomo-Rikala, M., and Lasota, J. (2000). KIT expression in angiosarcomas and fetal endothelial cells: lack of mutations of exon 11 and exon 17 of C-kit. Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc 13, 536-541.

Möller, A., Henz, B.M., Grützkau, A., Lippert, U., Aragane, Y., Schwarz, T., and Krüger-Krasagakes, S. (1998). Comparative cytokine gene expression: regulation and release by human mast cells. Immunology *93*, 289-295.

Moore, K.A. (2004). Recent advances in defining the hematopoietic stem cell niche. Curr Opin Hematol 11, 107-111.

Moore, K.A., and Lemischka, I.R. (2004). "Tie-ing" down the hematopoietic niche. Cell 118, 139-140.

Moore, K.A., and Lemischka, I.R. (2006). Stem cells and their niches. Science 311, 1880-1885.

Moosbauer, C., Morgenstern, E., Cuvelier, S.L., Manukyan, D., Bidzhekov, K., Albrecht, S., Lohse, P., Patel, K.D., and Engelmann, B. (2007). Eosinophils are a major intravascular location for tissue factor storage and exposure. Blood *109*, 995-1002.

Morrison, S.J., and Scadden, D.T. (2014). The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 505, 327-334.

Morrison, S.J., Wandycz, A.M., Hemmati, H.D., Wright, D.E., and Weissman, I.L. (1997). Identification of a lineage of multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. Development 124, 1929-1939.

Moses, A.V., Jarvis, M.A., Raggo, C., Bell, Y.C., Ruhl, R., Luukkonen, B.G., Griffith, D.J., Wait, C.L., Druker, B.J., Heinrich, M.C., et al. (2002a). A functional genomics approach to Kaposi's sarcoma. Ann N Y Acad Sci 975, 180-191.

Moses, A.V., Jarvis, M.A., Raggo, C., Bell, Y.C., Ruhl, R., Luukkonen, B.G., Griffith, D.J., Wait, C.L., Druker, B.J., Heinrich, M.C., *et al.* (2002b). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-induced upregulation of the c-kit proto-oncogene, as identified by gene expression profiling, is essential for the transformation of endothelial cells. Journal of virology *76*, 8383-8399.

Motzer, R.J., Michaelson, M.D., Rosenberg, J., Bukowski, R.M., Curti, B.D., George, D.J., Hudes, G.R., Redman, B.G., Margolin, K.A., and Wilding, G. (2007). Sunitinib efficacy against advanced renal cell carcinoma. The Journal of urology *178*, 1883-1887.

Mueller, M.D., Lebovic, D.I., Garrett, E., and Taylor, R.N. (2000). Neutrophils infiltrating the endometrium express vascular endothelial growth factor: potential role in endometrial angiogenesis. Fertility and sterility 74, 107-112.

Mukouyama, Y.S., Gerber, H.P., Ferrara, N., Gu, C., and Anderson, D.J. (2005). Peripheral nerve-derived VEGF promotes arterial differentiation via neuropilin 1-mediated positive feedback. Development *132*, 941-952.

Murdoch, C., Muthana, M., Coffelt, S.B., and Lewis, C.E. (2008). The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 8, 618-631.

Natali, P.G., Nicotra, M.R., Sures, I., Santoro, E., Bigotti, A., and Ullrich, A. (1992). Expression of c-kit receptor in normal and transformed human nonlymphoid tissues. Cancer Res 52, 6139-6143.

Nelson, T.J., Martinez-Fernandez, A., Yamada, S., Perez-Terzic, C., Ikeda, Y., and Terzic, A. (2009). Repair of acute myocardial infarction by human stemness factors induced pluripotent stem cells. Circulation 120, 408-416.

Network, C.G.A.R. (2008). Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. Nature 455, 1061-1068.

Nicosia, R.F. (2009). The aortic ring model of angiogenesis: a quarter century of search and discovery. J Cell Mol Med 13, 4113-4136. Nicosia, R.F., Zorzi, P., Ligresti, G., Morishita, A., and Aplin, A.C. (2011). Paracrine regulation of angiogenesis by different cell types in the aorta ring model. Int J Dev Biol 55, 447-453.

Nielsen, B.S., Timshel, S., Kjeldsen, L., Sehested, M., Pyke, C., Borregaard, N., and Dano, K. (1996). 92 kDa type IV collagenase (MMP-9) is expressed in neutrophils and macrophages but not in malignant epithelial cells in human colon cancer. Int J Cancer 65, 57-62.

Nilsson, S.K., Dooner, M.S., Tiarks, C.Y., Weier, H.U., and Quesenberry, P.J. (1997). Potential and distribution of transplanted hematopoietic stem cells in a nonablated mouse model. Blood *89*, 4013-4020.

Nocka, K., Majumder, S., Chabot, B., Ray, P., Cervone, M., Bernstein, A., and Besmer, P. (1989). Expression of c-kit gene products in known cellular targets of W mutations in normal and W mutant mice--evidence for an impaired c-kit kinase in mutant mice. Genes Dev *3*, 816-826.

Nolan, D.J., Ginsberg, M., Israely, E., Palikuqi, B., Poulos, M.G., James, D., Ding, B.S., Schachterle, W., Liu, Y., Rosenwaks, Z., *et al.* (2013). Molecular signatures of tissue-specific microvascular endothelial cell heterogeneity in organ maintenance and regeneration. Dev Cell *26*, 204-219.

Nombela-Arrieta, C., Pivarnik, G., Winkel, B., Canty, K.J., Harley, B., Mahoney, J.E., Park, S.Y., Lu, J., Protopopov, A., and Silberstein, L.E. (2013). Quantitative imaging of haematopoietic stem and progenitor cell localization and hypoxic status in the bone marrow microenvironment. Nat Cell Biol *15*, 533-543.

Norrby, K. (2006). In vivo models of angiogenesis. J Cell Mol Med 10, 588-612.

Nozawa, H., Chiu, C., and Hanahan, D. (2006). Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 12493-12498.

O'Reilly, M.S., Holmgren, L., Shing, Y., Chen, C., Rosenthal, R.A., Cao, Y., Moses, M., Lane, W.S., Sage, E.H., and Folkman, J. (1994a). Angiostatin: a circulating endothelial cell inhibitor that suppresses angiogenesis and tumor growth. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *59*, 471-482.

O'Reilly, M.S., Holmgren, L., Shing, Y., Chen, C., Rosenthal, R.A., Moses, M., Lane, W.S., Cao, Y., Sage, E.H., and Folkman, J. (1994b). Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma. Cell 79, 315-328.

Oguro, H., Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). SLAM family markers resolve functionally distinct subpopulations of hematopoietic stem cells and multipotent progenitors. Cell Stem Cell *13*, 102-116.

Oh, S.P., Seki, T., Goss, K.A., Imamura, T., Yi, Y., Donahoe, P.K., Li, L., Miyazono, K., ten Dijke, P., Kim, S., *et al.* (2000). Activin receptor-like kinase 1 modulates transforming growth factor-beta 1 signaling in the regulation of angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 2626-2631.

Okuno, Y., Nakamura-Ishizu, A., Kishi, K., Suda, T., and Kubota, Y. (2011). Bone marrow-derived cells serve as proangiogenic macrophages but not endothelial cells in wound healing. Blood *117*, 5264-5272.

Orkin, S.H., and Zon, L.I. (2008). Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell 132, 631-644.

Orlikowsky, T., Dannecker, G.E., Wang, Z., Horowitz, H., Niethammer, D., and Hoffmann, M.K. (1999). Activation or destruction of T cells via macrophages. Pathobiology : journal of immunopathology, molecular and cellular biology *67*, 298-301.

Orr-Urtreger, A., Avivi, A., Zimmer, Y., Givol, D., Yarden, Y., and Lonai, P. (1990). Developmental expression of c-kit, a protooncogene encoded by the W locus. Development 109, 911-923.

Ovaska, K., Laakso, M., Haapa-Paananen, S., Louhimo, R., Chen, P., Aittomäki, V., Valo, E., Núñez-Fontarnau, J., Rantanen, V., Karinen, S., *et al.* (2010). Large-scale data integration framework provides a comprehensive view on glioblastoma multiforme. Genome Med 2, 65.

Panchenko, M.P., Williams, M.C., Brody, J.S., and Yu, Q. (1996). Type I receptor serine-threonine kinase preferentially expressed in pulmonary blood vessels. Am J Physiol 270, L547-558.

Pardali, E., Goumans, M.J., and ten Dijke, P. (2010). Signaling by members of the TGF-beta family in vascular morphogenesis and disease. Trends in cell biology 20, 556-567.

Park, C., Kim, T.M., and Malik, A.B. (2013). Transcriptional regulation of endothelial cell and vascular development. Circ Res 112, 1380-1400.

Parrott, J.A., and Skinner, M.K. (1999). Kit-ligand/stem cell factor induces primordial follicle development and initiates folliculogenesis. Endocrinology 140, 4262-4271.

Paulson, J.R., and Taylor, S.S. (1982). Phosphorylation of histones 1 and 3 and nonhistone high mobility group 14 by an endogenous kinase in HeLa metaphase chromosomes. J Biol Chem 257, 6064-6072.

Peichev, M., Naiyer, A.J., Pereira, D., Zhu, Z., Lane, W.J., Williams, M., Oz, M.C., Hicklin, D.J., Witte, L., Moore, M.A., *et al.* (2000). Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating human CD34(+) cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors. Blood *95*, 952-958.

Pepper, M.S. (1997). Transforming growth factor-beta: vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and vessel wall integrity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 8, 21-43.

Pepper, M.S., Vassalli, J.D., Orci, L., and Montesano, R. (1993). Biphasic effect of transforming growth factor-beta 1 on in vitro angiogenesis. Exp Cell Res 204, 356-363.

Perry, T.E., Song, M., Despres, D.J., Kim, S.M., San, H., Yu, Z.X., Raghavachari, N., Schnermann, J., Cannon, R.O., 3rd, and Orlic, D. (2009). Bone marrow-derived cells do not repair endothelium in a mouse model of chronic endothelial cell dysfunction. Cardiovascular research *84*, 317-325.

Piek, E., Heldin, C.H., and Ten Dijke, P. (1999). Specificity, diversity, and regulation in TGF-beta superfamily signaling. FASEB J 13, 2105-2124.

Postlethwaite, A.E., Keski-Oja, J., Moses, H.L., and Kang, A.H. (1987). Stimulation of the chemotactic migration of human fibroblasts by transforming growth factor beta. J Exp Med 165, 251-256.

Potente, M., Gerhardt, H., and Carmeliet, P. (2011). Basic and therapeutic aspects of angiogenesis. Cell 146, 873-887.

Presta, L.G., Chen, H., O'Connor, S.J., Chisholm, V., Meng, Y.G., Krummen, L., Winkler, M., and Ferrara, N. (1997). Humanization of an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor monoclonal antibody for the therapy of solid tumors and other disorders. Cancer Res *57*, 4593-4599.

Pula, G., Mayr, U., Evans, C., Prokopi, M., Vara, D.S., Yin, X., Astroulakis, Z., Xiao, Q., Hill, J., Xu, Q., *et al.* (2009). Proteomics identifies thymidine phosphorylase as a key regulator of the angiogenic potential of colony-forming units and endothelial progenitor cell cultures. Circ Res *104*, 32-40.

Purhonen, S., Palm, J., Rossi, D., Kaskenpaa, N., Rajantie, I., Yla-Herttuala, S., Alitalo, K., Weissman, I.L., and Salven, P. (2008). Bone marrow-derived circulating endothelial precursors do not contribute to vascular endothelium and are not needed for tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 6620-6625.

Qiu, F.H., Ray, P., Brown, K., Barker, P.E., Jhanwar, S., Ruddle, F.H., and Besmer, P. (1988). Primary structure of c-kit: relationship with the CSF-1/PDGF receptor kinase family--oncogenic activation of v-kit involves deletion of extracellular domain and C terminus. EMBO J 7, 1003-1011.

Qu, Z., Huang, X., Ahmadi, P., Stenberg, P., Liebler, J.M., Le, A.C., Planck, S.R., and Rosenbaum, J.T. (1998). Synthesis of basic fibroblast growth factor by murine mast cells. Regulation by transforming growth factor beta, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and stem cell factor. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 115, 47-54.

Raaijmakers, M.H., Mukherjee, S., Guo, S., Zhang, S., Kobayashi, T., Schoonmaker, J.A., Ebert, B.L., Al-Shahrour, F., Hasserjian, R.P., Scadden, E.O., *et al.* (2010). Bone progenitor dysfunction induces myelodysplasia and secondary leukaemia. Nature *464*, 852-857. Rajantie, I., Ilmonen, M., Alminaite, A., Ozerdem, U., Alitalo, K., and Salven, P. (2004). Adult bone marrow-derived cells recruited during angiogenesis comprise precursors for periendothelial vascular mural cells. Blood *104*, 2084-2086.

Ramgolam, K., Lauriol, J., Lalou, C., Lauden, L., Michel, L., de la Grange, P., Khatib, A.M., Aoudjit, F., Charron, D., Alcaide-Loridan, C., *et al.* (2011). Melanoma spheroids grown under neural crest cell conditions are highly plastic migratory/invasive tumor cells endowed with immunomodulator function. PLoS One *6*, e18784.

Rangappa, S., Makkar, R., and Forrester, J. (2010). Review article: current status of myocardial regeneration: new cell sources and new strategies. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology and therapeutics *15*, 338-343.

RayChaudhury, A., and D'Amore, P.A. (1991). Endothelial cell regulation by transforming growth factor-beta. J Cell Biochem 47, 224-229.

Rehman, J., Li, J., Orschell, C.M., and March, K.L. (2003). Peripheral blood "endothelial progenitor cells" are derived from monocyte/macrophages and secrete angiogenic growth factors. Circulation 107, 1164-1169.

Reinhard, C., Meyer, B., Fuchs, H., Stoeger, T., Eder, G., Rüschendorf, F., Heyder, J., Nürnberg, P., de Angelis, M.H., and Schulz, H. (2005). Genomewide linkage analysis identifies novel genetic Loci for lung function in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med *171*, 880-888. Reith, A.D., Rottapel, R., Giddens, E., Brady, C., Forrester, L., and Bernstein, A. (1990). W mutant mice with mild or severe developmental defects contain distinct point mutations in the kinase domain of the c-kit receptor. Genes Dev *4*, 390-400.

Ribatti, D. (2009). The paracrine role of Tie-2-expressing monocytes in tumor angiogenesis. Stem cells and development 18, 703-706.

Ribatti, D., and Crivellato, E. (2009). Immune cells and angiogenesis. J Cell Mol Med 13, 2822-2833.

Ribatti, D., Nico, B., Crivellato, E., and Vacca, A. (2007). Macrophages and tumor angiogenesis. Leukemia 21, 2085-2089.

Ribatti, D., Vacca, A., Nico, B., Quondamatteo, F., Ria, R., Minischetti, M., Marzullo, A., Herken, R., Roncali, L., and Dammacco, F. (1999). Bone marrow angiogenesis and mast cell density increase simultaneously with progression of human multiple myeloma. Br J Cancer 79, 451-455.

Riboldi, E., Musso, T., Moroni, E., Urbinati, C., Bernasconi, S., Rusnati, M., Adorini, L., Presta, M., and Sozzani, S. (2005). Cutting edge: proangiogenic properties of alternatively activated dendritic cells. J Immunol 175, 2788-2792.

Richardson, M.R., and Yoder, M.C. (2011). Endothelial progenitor cells: quo vadis? J Mol Cell Cardiol 50, 266-272.

Rinkevich, Y., Lindau, P., Ueno, H., Longaker, M.T., and Weissman, I.L. (2011). Germ-layer and lineage-restricted stem/progenitors regenerate the mouse digit tip. Nature 476, 409-413.

Risau, W., and Flamme, I. (1995). Vasculogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 11, 73-91.

Robbins, C.S., Hilgendorf, I., Weber, G.F., Theurl, I., Iwamoto, Y., Figueiredo, J.L., Gorbatov, R., Sukhova, G.K., Gerhardt, L.M., Smyth, D., *et al.* (2013). Local proliferation dominates lesional macrophage accumulation in atherosclerosis. Nat Med *19*, 1166-1172.

Roberts, A.B., Sporn, M.B., Assoian, R.K., Smith, J.M., Roche, N.S., Wakefield, L.M., Heine, U.I., Liotta, L.A., Falanga, V., and Kehrl, J.H. (1986). Transforming growth factor type beta: rapid induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis in vivo and stimulation of collagen formation in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 4167-4171.

Roelen, B.A., van Rooijen, M.A., and Mummery, C.L. (1997). Expression of ALK-1, a type 1 serine/threonine kinase receptor, coincides with sites of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in early mouse development. Dev Dyn 209, 418-430.

Rohde, E., Bartmann, C., Schallmoser, K., Reinisch, A., Lanzer, G., Linkesch, W., Guelly, C., and Strunk, D. (2007). Immune cells mimic the morphology of endothelial progenitor colonies in vitro. Stem Cells 25, 1746-1752.

Rohde, E., Malischnik, C., Thaler, D., Maierhofer, T., Linkesch, W., Lanzer, G., Guelly, C., and Strunk, D. (2006). Blood monocytes mimic endothelial progenitor cells. Stem Cells 24, 357-367.

Rossant, J., and Howard, L. (2002). Signaling pathways in vascular development. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 18, 541-573.

Rothenberg, M.E., and Hogan, S.P. (2006). The eosinophil. Annu Rev Immunol 24, 147-174.

Ruan, J., Luo, M., Wang, C., Fan, L., Yang, S.N., Cardenas, M., Geng, H., Leonard, J.P., Melnick, A., Cerchietti, L., *et al.* (2013). Imatinib disrupts lymphoma angiogenesis by targeting vascular pericytes. Blood.

Russell, E.S. (1979). Hereditary anemias of the mouse: a review for geneticists. Adv Genet 20, 357-459.

Rusu, M.C., Motoc, A.G., Pop, F., and Folescu, R. (2013). Sprouting angiogenesis in human midterm uterus and fallopian tube is guided by endothelial tip cells. Anat Sci Int 88, 25-30.

Saharinen, P., Eklund, L., Pulkki, K., Bono, P., and Alitalo, K. (2011). VEGF and angiopoietin signaling in tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. Trends Mol Med 17, 347-362.

Scadden, D.T. (2006). The stem-cell niche as an entity of action. Nature 441, 1075-1079.

Scapini, P., Nesi, L., Morini, M., Tanghetti, E., Belleri, M., Noonan, D., Presta, M., Albini, A., and Cassatella, M.A. (2002). Generation of biologically active angiostatin kringle 1-3 by activated human neutrophils. J Immunol *168*, 5798-5804.

Schniedermann, J., Rennecke, M., Buttler, K., Richter, G., Städtler, A.M., Norgall, S., Badar, M., Barleon, B., May, T., Wilting, J., *et al.* (2010). Mouse lung contains endothelial progenitors with high capacity to form blood and lymphatic vessels. BMC Cell Biol *11*, 50.

Schofield, R. (1978). The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell. Blood Cells 4, 7-25. Seay, U., Sedding, D., Krick, S., Hecker, M., Seeger, W., and Eickelberg, O. (2005). Transforming growth factor-beta-dependent growth inhibition in primary vascular smooth muscle cells is p38-dependent. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics *315*, 1005-1012.

Sennino, B., and McDonald, D.M. (2012). Controlling escape from angiogenesis inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer 12, 699-709.

Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T.P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X.F., Breitman, M.L., and Schuh, A.C. (1995). Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. Nature *376*, 62-66.

Shinde Patil, V.R., Friedrich, E.B., Wolley, A.E., Gerszten, R.E., Allport, J.R., and Weissleder, R. (2005). Bone marrow-derived lin(-)c-kit(+)Sca-1+ stem cells do not contribute to vasculogenesis in Lewis lung carcinoma. Neoplasia 7, 234-240.

Shiozawa, Y., Pedersen, E.A., Havens, A.M., Jung, Y., Mishra, A., Joseph, J., Kim, J.K., Patel, L.R., Ying, C., Ziegler, A.M., *et al.* (2011). Human prostate cancer metastases target the hematopoietic stem cell niche to establish footholds in mouse bone marrow. J Clin Invest *121*, 1298-1312.

Shojaei, F., Zhong, C., Wu, X., Yu, L., and Ferrara, N. (2008). Role of myeloid cells in tumor angiogenesis and growth. Trends in cell biology *18*, 372-378.

Shoo, B.A., Sagebiel, R.W., and Kashani-Sabet, M. (2010). Discordance in the histopathologic diagnosis of melanoma at a melanoma referral center. J Am Acad Dermatol *62*, 751-756.

Shull, M.M., Ormsby, I., Kier, A.B., Pawlowski, S., Diebold, R.J., Yin, M., Allen, R., Sidman, C., Proetzel, G., Calvin, D., *et al.* (1992). Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. Nature *359*, 693-699.

Siafakas, N.M., Antoniou, K.M., and Tzortzaki, E.G. (2007). Role of angiogenesis and vascular remodeling in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis *2*, 453-462.

Sica, A., Larghi, P., Mancino, A., Rubino, L., Porta, C., Totaro, M.G., Rimoldi, M., Biswas, S.K., Allavena, P., and Mantovani, A. (2008). Macrophage polarization in tumour progression. Seminars in cancer biology *18*, 349-355.

Sierra, J.R., Corso, S., Caione, L., Cepero, V., Conrotto, P., Cignetti, A., Piacibello, W., Kumanogoh, A., Kikutani, H., Comoglio, P.M., *et al.* (2008). Tumor angiogenesis and progression are enhanced by Sema4D produced by tumor-associated macrophages. J Exp Med 205, 1673-1685.

Sihto, H., Tynninen, O., Halonen, M., Puputti, M., Karjalainen-Lindsberg, M.L., Kukko, H., and Joensuu, H. (2009). Tumour microvessel endothelial cell KIT and stem cell factor expression in human solid tumours. Histopathology *55*, 544-553.

Simons, M., and Raposo, G. (2009). Exosomes--vesicular carriers for intercellular communication. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21, 575-581. Solovjov, D.A., Pluskota, E., and Plow, E.F. (2005). Distinct roles for the alpha and beta subunits in the functions of integrin

alphaMbeta2. J Biol Chem 280, 1336-1345.

Squadrito, M.L., and De Palma, M. (2011). Macrophage regulation of tumor angiogenesis: implications for cancer therapy. Mol Aspects Med 32, 123-145.

Stenzel, D., Franco, C.A., Estrach, S., Mettouchi, A., Sauvaget, D., Rosewell, I., Schertel, A., Armer, H., Domogatskaya, A., Rodin, S., *et al.* (2011). Endothelial basement membrane limits tip cell formation by inducing Dll4/Notch signalling in vivo. EMBO reports *12*, 1135-1143.

Stier, S., Ko, Y., Forkert, R., Lutz, C., Neuhaus, T., Grunewald, E., Cheng, T., Dombkowski, D., Calvi, L.M., Rittling, S.R., *et al.* (2005). Osteopontin is a hematopoietic stem cell niche component that negatively regulates stem cell pool size. J Exp Med 201, 1781-1791.

Stone, J., Itin, A., Alon, T., Pe'er, J., Gnessin, H., Chan-Ling, T., and Keshet, E. (1995). Development of retinal vasculature is mediated by hypoxia-induced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression by neuroglia. J Neurosci 15, 4738-4747.

Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Noda, M., and Nagasawa, T. (2006). Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. Immunity 25, 977-988.

Sutton, A.B., Canfield, A.E., Schor, S.L., Grant, M.E., and Schor, A.M. (1991). The response of endothelial cells to TGF beta-1 is dependent upon cell shape, proliferative state and the nature of the substratum. J Cell Sci *99 (Pt 4)*, 777-787.

Swift, M.R., and Weinstein, B.M. (2009). Arterial-venous specification during development. Circ Res 104, 576-588.

Taichman, R.S. (2005). Blood and bone: two tissues whose fates are intertwined to create the hematopoietic stem-cell niche. Blood 105, 2631-2639.

Takashima, S., Kitakaze, M., Asakura, M., Asanuma, H., Sanada, S., Tashiro, F., Niwa, H., Miyazaki Ji, J., Hirota, S., Kitamura, Y., *et al.* (2002). Targeting of both mouse neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 genes severely impairs developmental yolk sac and embryonic angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *99*, 3657-3662.

Taniguchi, H., Toyoshima, T., Fukao, K., and Nakauchi, H. (1996). Presence of hematopoietic stem cells in the adult liver. Nat Med 2, 198-203.

Tazzyman, S., Lewis, C.E., and Murdoch, C. (2009). Neutrophils: key mediators of tumour angiogenesis. International journal of experimental pathology 90, 222-231.

ten Dijke, P., and Arthur, H.M. (2007). Extracellular control of TGFbeta signalling in vascular development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *8*, 857-869.

Theoharides, T.C., and Conti, P. (2004). Mast cells: the Jekyll and Hyde of tumor growth. Trends Immunol 25, 235-241.

Tolsma, S.S., Volpert, O.V., Good, D.J., Frazier, W.A., Polverini, P.J., and Bouck, N. (1993). Peptides derived from two separate domains of the matrix protein thrombospondin-1 have anti-angiogenic activity. J Cell Biol *122*, 497-511.

Torres-Vazquez, J., Kamei, M., and Weinstein, B.M. (2003). Molecular distinction between arteries and veins. Cell and tissue research 314, 43-59.

Tumbar, T., Guasch, G., Greco, V., Blanpain, C., Lowry, W.E., Rendl, M., and Fuchs, E. (2004). Defining the epithelial stem cell niche in skin. Science 303, 359-363.

Uchida, N., Aguila, H.L., Fleming, W.H., Jerabek, L., and Weissman, I.L. (1994). Rapid and sustained hematopoietic recovery in lethally irradiated mice transplanted with purified Thy-1.1lo Lin-Sca-1+ hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *83*, 3758-3779.

Ueno, H., and Weissman, I.L. (2006). Clonal analysis of mouse development reveals a polyclonal origin for yolk sac blood islands. Dev Cell 11, 519-533.

Urbanek, K., Torella, D., Sheikh, F., De Angelis, A., Nurzynska, D., Silvestri, F., Beltrami, C.A., Bussani, R., Beltrami, A.P., Quaini, F., *et al.* (2005). Myocardial regeneration by activation of multipotent cardiac stem cells in ischemic heart failure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 8692-8697.

Venneri, M.A., De Palma, M., Ponzoni, M., Pucci, F., Scielzo, C., Zonari, E., Mazzieri, R., Doglioni, C., and Naldini, L. (2007). Identification of proangiogenic TIE2-expressing monocytes (TEMs) in human peripheral blood and cancer. Blood *109*, 5276-5285.

Visnjic, D., Kalajzic, Z., Rowe, D.W., Katavic, V., Lorenzo, J., and Aguila, H.L. (2004). Hematopoiesis is severely altered in mice with an induced osteoblast deficiency. Blood *103*, 3258-3264.

von Tell, D., Armulik, A., and Betsholtz, C. (2006). Pericytes and vascular stability. Exp Cell Res 312, 623-629.

Voswinckel, R., Ziegelhoeffer, T., Heil, M., Kostin, S., Breier, G., Mehling, T., Haberberger, R., Clauss, M., Gaumann, A., Schaper, W., et al. (2003). Circulating vascular progenitor cells do not contribute to compensatory lung growth. Circ Res 93, 372-379.

Walsh, L.J., Trinchieri, G., Waldorf, H.A., Whitaker, D., and Murphy, G.F. (1991). Human dermal mast cells contain and release tumor necrosis factor alpha, which induces endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 4220-4224.

Walshe, T.E. (2010). TGF-beta and microvessel homeostasis. Microvasc Res 80, 166-173.

Walshe, T.E., Dole, V.S., Maharaj, A.S., Patten, I.S., Wagner, D.D., and D'Amore, P.A. (2009a). Inhibition of VEGF or TGF-{beta} signaling activates endothelium and increases leukocyte rolling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29, 1185-1192.

Walshe, T.E., Saint-Geniez, M., Maharaj, A.S., Sekiyama, E., Maldonado, A.E., and D'Amore, P.A. (2009b). TGF-beta is required for vascular barrier function, endothelial survival and homeostasis of the adult microvasculature. PLoS One 4, e5149.

Wang, K., Singh, D., Zeng, Z., Coleman, S.J., Huang, Y., Savich, G.L., He, X., Mieczkowski, P., Grimm, S.A., Perou, C.M., *et al.* (2010a). MapSplice: accurate mapping of RNA-seq reads for splice junction discovery. Nucleic Acids Res *38*, e178.

Wang, X.J., Dong, Z., Zhong, X.H., Shi, R.Z., Huang, S.H., Lou, Y., and Li, Q.P. (2008). Transforming growth factor-beta1 enhanced vascular endothelial growth factor synthesis in mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *365*, 548-554.

Wang, Y., Ait-Oufella, H., Herbin, O., Bonnin, P., Ramkhelawon, B., Taleb, S., Huang, J., Offenstadt, G., Combadière, C., Rénia, L., *et al.* (2010b). TGF-beta activity protects against inflammatory aortic aneurysm progression and complications in angiotensin II-infused mice. J Clin Invest *120*, 422-432.

Warren, R.S., Yuan, H., Matli, M.R., Gillett, N.A., and Ferrara, N. (1995). Regulation by vascular endothelial growth factor of human colon cancer tumorigenesis in a mouse model of experimental liver metastasis. J Clin Invest 95, 1789-1797.

Wei, Y., Mizzen, C.A., Cook, R.G., Gorovsky, M.A., and Allis, C.D. (1998). Phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10 is correlated with chromosome condensation during mitosis and meiosis in Tetrahymena. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 7480-7484.

Weis, S.M., and Cheresh, D.A. (2011). Tumor angiogenesis: molecular pathways and therapeutic targets. Nat Med 17, 1359-1370.

Wickersheim, A., Kerber, M., de Miguel, L.S., Plate, K.H., and Machein, M.R. (2009). Endothelial progenitor cells do not contribute to tumor endothelium in primary and metastatic tumors. Int J Cancer 125, 1771-1777.

Wildiers, H., Guetens, G., De Boeck, G., Verbeken, E., Landuyt, B., Landuyt, W., de Bruijn, E.A., and van Oosterom, A.T. (2003). Effect of antivascular endothelial growth factor treatment on the intratumoral uptake of CPT-11. Br J Cancer *88*, 1979-1986.

Williams, C.K., Li, J.L., Murga, M., Harris, A.L., and Tosato, G. (2006). Up-regulation of the Notch ligand Delta-like 4 inhibits VEGFinduced endothelial cell function. Blood 107, 931-939.

Wu, X.Z., Chen, D., and Xie, G.R. (2007). Bone marrow-derived cells: roles in solid tumor. Minireview. Neoplasma 54, 1-6.

Xie, T., and Spradling, A.C. (2000). A niche maintaining germ line stem cells in the Drosophila ovary. Science 290, 328-330.

Xie, Y., Yin, T., Wiegraebe, W., He, X.C., Miller, D., Stark, D., Perko, K., Alexander, R., Schwartz, J., Grindley, J.C., et al. (2009). Detection of functional haematopoietic stem cell niche using real-time imaging. Nature 457, 97-101.

Yamaguchi, T.P., Dumont, D.J., Conlon, R.A., Breitman, M.L., and Rossant, J. (1993). flk-1, an flt-related receptor tyrosine kinase is an early marker for endothelial cell precursors. Development 118, 489-498.

Yang, E.Y., and Moses, H.L. (1990). Transforming growth factor beta 1-induced changes in cell migration, proliferation, and angiogenesis in the chicken chorioallantoic membrane. J Cell Biol 111, 731-741.

Yang, L., DeBusk, L.M., Fukuda, K., Fingleton, B., Green-Jarvis, B., Shyr, Y., Matrisian, L.M., Carbone, D.P., and Lin, P.C. (2004). Expansion of myeloid immune suppressor Gr+CD11b+ cells in tumor-bearing host directly promotes tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Cell *6*, 409-421.

Yin, T., and Li, L. (2006). The stem cell niches in bone. J Clin Invest 116, 1195-1201.

Yoder, M.C., Mead, L.E., Prater, D., Krier, T.R., Mroueh, K.N., Li, F., Krasich, R., Temm, C.J., Prchal, J.T., and Ingram, D.A. (2007). Redefining endothelial progenitor cells via clonal analysis and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell principals. Blood *109*, 1801-1809.

Yuan, L., Moyon, D., Pardanaud, L., Bréant, C., Karkkainen, M.J., Alitalo, K., and Eichmann, A. (2002). Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. Development 129, 4797-4806.

Zhai, Y., Ni, J., Jiang, G.W., Lu, J., Xing, L., Lincoln, C., Carter, K.C., Janat, F., Kozak, D., Xu, S., *et al.* (1999a). VEGI, a novel cytokine of the tumor necrosis factor family, is an angiogenesis inhibitor that suppresses the growth of colon carcinomas in vivo. FASEB J *13*, 181-189.

Zhai, Y., Yu, J., Iruela-Arispe, L., Huang, W.Q., Wang, Z., Hayes, A.J., Lu, J., Jiang, G., Rojas, L., Lippman, M.E., *et al.* (1999b). Inhibition of angiogenesis and breast cancer xenograft tumor growth by VEGI, a novel cytokine of the TNF superfamily. Int J Cancer *82*, 131-136.

Zhang, J.W., Niu, C., Ye, L., Huang, H.Y., He, X., Tong, W.G., Ross, J., Haug, J., Johnson, T., Feng, J.Q., et al. (2003). Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. Nature 425, 836-841.

Ziegelhoeffer, T., Fernandez, B., Kostin, S., Heil, M., Voswinckel, R., Helisch, A., and Schaper, W. (2004). Bone marrow-derived cells do not incorporate into the adult growing vasculature. Circ Res *94*, 230-238.

Zovein, A.C., Hofmann, J.J., Lynch, M., French, W.J., Turlo, K.A., Yang, Y., Becker, M.S., Zanetta, L., Dejana, E., Gasson, J.C., *et al.* (2008). Fate tracing reveals the endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell *3*, 625-636.